

DOT HS 808 320

August 1995

**Interim Report** 

# Human Factors Aspects of Using Head Up Displays in Automobiles: A Review of the Literature

This document is available to the public from the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Virginia 22161.



This publication is distributed by the U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, in the interest of information exchange. The opinions, findings and conclusions expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the Department of Transportation or the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. The United States Government assumes no liability for its contents or use thereof. If trade or manufacturers' name or products are mentioned, it is because they are considered essential to the object of the publication and should not be construed as an endorsement. The United States Government does not endorse products or manufacturers.

**Technical Report Documentation Page** 

1. Report No. DOT HS 808 320	2. Government Access	sion No. 3. Recipient's Catalog No.
4. Title and Subtitle Human Factors Aspects of Using Head UP Displays		5. Report Date August 1995
in Automobiles: A Review of the I	Literature-	6. Performing Organization Code 1454-02
7. Author(s) Kenneth W. Gish and Loren Staplin		6. Performing Organization Report No. 145402-LR
9. Performing Organization Name and Address The Scientex Corporation		10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS)
Human Factors Division 1250 South Broad Street, Suite 3000 Lansdale, PA 19446		11. Contract or Grant No. P50 AGI 168401
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address		13. Type of Report and Period Covered
Office of Crash Avoidance Research		Interim
National Highway Traffic Safety Administration U.S. Department of Transportation		14. Sponsoring Agency Code
Roybal Center for Enhancement of Mol 16. Abstract This document provides on evention	bility for the Elderly a	t Western Kentucky University.
This document provides an overview drivers, including a summary of HUD r predicted performance advantages of au reduced reaccommodation time, partic provide robust evidence for operatio However, conclusions are equivocal workload, display complexity and age. HUDs include contrast <i>interference</i> , wh forward driving scene, and <i>cognitive c</i> to the processing of information from a earlier findings that HUD information information. Countermeasures reviewed auditory HUDs. The review identifies a r reliable measures of the effect of HUI obtained, under realistic operating co adaptability to a range of driver eye he vehicle fleet in the U.S. is to become r performance differences which are cor account during product design, develop	of studies investigat esearch variables, te itomotive HUDs includ sularly for the older of nally significant per due to the interaction Studies indicate that here HUD symbology <i>capture,</i> or degradation a HUD image. In gene cannot be processed in this paper include humber of implement D use on responses conditions; (2) praction eights figure promine outine; and (3) driver monly linked to safe ment, and testing.	ing the use of HUDs by aviators and st procedures and study results. The le increased eyes-on-the-road time and driver. To date, the research does not formance advantages due to HUDs. on of independent variables such as key operator performance issues with y masks safety-critical targets in the on of responses to external targets due eral, the review supports and extends ed separately from external roadway a the use of conformal symbology, and tation issues for automotive HUDs: (1) to priority external targets must be cal considerations of cost, size, and ently if the use of HUDs in the private r age and associated visual/cognitive e vehicle operation must be taken into
17. Key Words Head-up displays Conformal symbology Response time Accommodation Contrast interference Visibility t		16. Dirtribution Statement This document is available to the U.S. public through the National Technical Information Service Springfield Virginia 22161
19. Security Classif. (of this report) 20. Se   Unclassified 20. Se	ecurity Clessif. (of this pa Unclassified	age) 21. No. of Pages 22. Price

Form DOT F 1700.7 (B-72)

a

٠

٠

۵

Reproduction of completed page authorized

# **Table of Contents**

Glossary
Executive Summary , , ,
Introduction
Aviation Versus Automotive HUDs   1     Information content of external scenes   1     Visual clutter intolerance   2     Age differences   2     Workload and task differences   3     Standardization and training issues   3
Expected Performance Advantages of Automotive HUDs   4     Increased eyes-on-the-road time   4     Reduced reaccommodation demands   5     Considerations for older drivers   6
Current HUD Design Issues7Display variability7Design of display symbology7Field-of-view limitations8Display luminance contrast8
<b>Operator Performance Issues</b> 10Contrast interference and visual clutter10Virtual image distance13Misaccommodation/misconvergenceeffectsBinocular misalignment15Luminance contrast requirements15HUD contrast and cognitive capture16Spatial location17Cognitive capture and HUDs18Attention, mental workload, and cognitive capture22
Effect of HUDs on Driving Speed
Implementation Issues for Automotive HUDs
Summary and Critique of Current Findings and Recommendations   28     Rationale for performance measurement   31     Critique of laboratory studies using experimental-use-only HUDs   32
Methodological Issues in Future HUD Research   34     Signal detection analysis and forced-choice paradigms   36     Assessing dual-task resource allocation   36     Objective measures of gaze direction   37
Bibliography 39
Appendix A: Summary Table of HUD Research Findings 47
Appendix B: Current and Proposed Automotive HUD Designs

#### Glossary

The following terms are used throughout this literature review. The definitions reflect common usage where possible. In some instances, distinctions are made between terms that are not typically made in the literature (for example, between attentional tunneling and cognitive capture). In these instances, the rationale/justification for a definition is provided.

Accommodation: Adjustment of the thickness of the crystalline lens in the eye to bring the images of objects into focus at the retina.

Accommodative convergence: Convergence response of extraocular muscles induced by an accommodative shift to nearer objects in the absence of binocular depth cues (i.e., accommodation-induced convergence).

**Analog symbology:** Symbology format in which information is conveyed by changing the position of an indicator along some scale. For example, a standard analog speedometer moves a dial to point to the current speed (cf. digital symbology).

**Anti-reflection coating:** An optical coating that increases the transmittance at air-substrate interfaces. This coating is used to minimize double images created by reflections off the front and back surfaces of the combiner.

Attentional tunneling: Degradation in peripheral performance attributable to a narrowing of the focus of attention. In the literature, this term is used interchangeably with "cognitive capture" and "cognitive tunneling". Attentional tunneling is only manifested when performance decrements are demonstrated as a function of eccentricity (see Ward & Parkes, 1994 for review).

**Backward masking:** A type of masking in which the masking stimulus is presented after the test stimulus. Thus, the mask interference is retroactive.

**Binocular mirrored** HUD: Similar to a fully-functional HUD except that there are no optics between the image source and the combiner (only a large piece of plate glass). Thus, the virtual image distance is equivalent to the source-to-eye distance. To obtain a minimum virtual image distance of 2.5 m, the image source would **need** to be located outside the simulator cab.

**Binocular misalignment:** This occurs when the images of objects are not aligned vertically or horizontally (or some combination of both) for the two eyes due to optical distortions and improper alignment of optical components.

**Binocular rivalry:** A phenomenon occurring when the two eyes are presented with different stimuli. Under these viewing conditions, the stimuli appear to compete with each other rather than combine. Perceptually, the observer sees a temporal alternation between left and right eye views.

**Cognitive capture:** Typically used to refer to the inefficient attentional switching (from HUD, to primary task) when using HUDs This may result in missing external targets, delayed responses to external events, and/or asymmetrical transition times (longer to switch from HUD-to-external visual processing than vice versa). In effect, the HUD acts as an attentional 'trap' that draws information processing resources to the HUD and slows/degrades processing of external events. Although cognitive capture can also work in the reverse direction (i.e., longer to switch from external-to-HUD visual

processing than vice versa), the safety relevance of this manifestation of cognitive capture is questionable.

**Collimated imagery:** Any optical system that produces images whose rays are parallel (i.e., planar wavefronts). When viewing such a system, the best-focus is obtained when the observer is accommodated to optical infinity (i.e., greater than about 20 feet).

**Conformal (or contact analogue) symbology:** This simulates the visual transformations of external objects to give observers the perception that the symbology is genuinely part of the external scene. For example, the forward driving scene might be overlaid with a perspective outline of the road ahead to guide motorists when driving in fog or at night.

**Contrast interference:** The reduction of luminance contrast in an image resulting **from** optical superimposition and spatial overlap of other images. In particular, if there are large differences in contrast (and/or average luminance) between two or more images, the higher contrast image(s) can reduce the detectability of the lower contrast image(s). The interference can be explained optically in terms of the interaction of light in the image (cf. visual masking).

Contrast masking: The preferred term is contrast interference.

**Convergence accommodation:** Accommodation induced by a convergence response in the absence of retinal image blur (i.e., convergence-induced accommodation).

Convergence eye **movements:** Movement of the visual axes nasally (toward the nose) for viewing near objects.

**Depth-of-focus** (DOF): The dioptric range of focus errors over which performance is not significantly degraded. DOF is dependent on pupil size, target size and target contrast. When specified in terms of the range of object distances over which performance is not significantly degraded, the term depth-of-field should be used

**Digital symbology:** Symbology in which the information is displayed using a digital format. For example, a digital speedometer displays the number corresponding to the speed (cf. analog symbology).

**Diopter** (D): The inverse of the focal length (*f* specified in meters) of a lens: D = 1/f.

**Diplopia:** A disorder that causes objects to appear double. This occurs when the visual axes of the two eyes are not directed toward the same object.

**Divergence eye movements:** Movement of the visual axes temporally (away from **the nose**) for viewing distant objects.

**Divided attention:** An attention allocation strategy in which the observer attends and responds to two or more inputs that are active simultaneously.

Dynamic range: The operating range of a device. For example, the dynamic range of a HUD display is the range of background luminance over which optimal contrast may be obtained. See schematic in Figure 1 for details.

**Eye-box:** The range of vertical and horizontal pupil positions over which HUD symbology is clearly visible (i.e., visible without contrast reduction or distortion). For binocular systems, the eye-box is wider than it is high due to the interpupillary distance. For monocular systems, the horizontal/vertical eye-box dimensions are roughly the same.

**Forward masking:** A type of masking in which the masking stimulus is presented before the test stimulus. Thus, the interference caused by the mask is proactive.

**Graphic** I-IUD: A simulated HUD that electronically superimposes HUD symbology as part of the same signal that generates the image for the background. Therefore, the HUD symbology is a real image and the focus distance is identical to that for the background imagery. Graphic HUDs have been used by some researchers to control for accommodative effects.

**Head-Down Display (HDD):** The conventional displays used in automobiles. This includes any display viewed directly (i.e., no intervening refractive or reflective optics) from a distance of about 3 1 inches (or .8 m), and is located down 15 degrees or more relative to the observer's forward line of sight.

Head-Down Instrument Panel (HDIP): Used interchangeably with HDD.

**Head-Up Diipiay** (HUD): Displays which project a virtual image that is usually optically superimposed on the forward field of view of drivers using either the windshield or a separate optical element as the combiner. The three components common to all fully operational HUDs are: (1) display device (includes a source and fixed/variable display matrix elements), (2) refractive and/or reflective optical elements and (3) combiner. In refractive HUD designs, the focusing is done by a large diameter lens. In diffractive (or reflective) HUDs, the virtual image is collimated and reflected by the curved combiner.

Instrument Flight Rule (IFR): Flying an airplane by instruments during low visibility conditions.

Interpupilary distance (IPD): Distance between the centers of the pupils.

**Luminance contrast:** With respect to HUDs, defined as the luminance of the HUD plus luminance of the background (i.e., area adjacent to HUD symbology), divided by the luminance of the background.

**Mental workload:** The amount of mental effort directed toward the production or accomplishment of a task in a given period of time. Operationally defined in terms of performance on secondary or subsidiary tasks in a dual-task paradigm.

**Monocular mirrored** HUD: A type of experimental-use-only HUD in which the symbology is optically superimposed using a mirror positioned so that only one eye can view the HUD symbology. Combiner can be 100% reflecting (preferably front-surface) mirror placed close to the observer's eye. Due to the differences between the left and right eye images, binocular rivalry can result.

**Partial overlap** mirrored HUD: Similar to the binocular mirrored HUD except that the combiner is too small to allow maximum binocular overlap. Specifically, the right eye views the left half of the HUD symbology and the left eye views the right half of the HUD symbology. The amount of overlap depends on mirror width, interpupillary distance and distance to the mirror.

**Projected HUD:** A type of experimental-use-only HUD in which the symbology is optically superimposed via a direct projection onto the surface displaying the external scene. Similar to the graphic HUD in that the external scene and the HUD symbology are at identical distances.

**Raster display:** Images created by drawing horizontal lines on the display device and turning the light on or off as required to produce segments of images. The collection of horizontal scan lines is called the raster (cf. stroke display).

**Reflective optics**: Light rays are bent via reflection in which the angle of incidence of the light rays is the same as the angle of reflection. One advantage of reflective optics is that transmission losses are reduced since light does not propagate through the mirror substrate (cf. refractive optics).

**Refractive optics:** Light rays are bent via refraction in which the amount of bending depends on the refractive index of the lens, the thickness of the lens and the angle of incidence of the light rays. Not preferred as optical elements in HUDs because of the light losses that result as light propagates through the lens (cf. reflective optics).

**Root mean square error:** The square-root of the mean square deviation of the response from the target. More commonly termed standard deviation.

**Selective attention:** An attention allocation strategy in which the observer attends and responds to some inputs while ignoring others presented simultaneously.

**Spatial Disorientation** (SDO): A breakdown of veridical perception of orientation in space, Orientation perception is subserved by the combined inputs from visual (cortical and subcortical visual modes of processing), proprioceptive and vestibular sensory mechanisms. The cause of SDO is believed to be a mismatch among the sensory signals that can occur during high-G maneuvers or any unusual force vector while flying.

**Stroke display:** Image-s created by drawing continuous lines on the display. When a character/image is completed, the light is turned off, moved to a new location and then turned on to begin drawing another character/image. The term stroke comes from the fact that this type of display is similar to handwritten text (cf. raster display).

**Vergence (or disjunctive) eye movements:** Movement of the visual axes in opposite directions for viewing objects at either nearer (i.e., convergence which is left eye visual axis moving to the right and the right eye visual axis moving left) or farther (i.e., **divergence** involves left eye visual axis moving left and right eye visual axis moving right) distances.

**Version (or conjugate) eye movements:** Movement of the visual axes horizontally or vertically with no change in convergence.

**Virtual image:** Any image for which there is no measurable energy at the **perceived** threedimensional location of the object. For example, when looking at a planar mirror, the **perceived** location of the object (i.e., observer) is behind the mirror but there is no energy at that location (i.e., behind the mirror). Virtual images can also be created using negative lenses, convex mirrors and prisms.

**Vision Enhancement System** (VES): The use of conformal symbology displayed on a HUD to enhance the visual acquisition of safety-critical road features such as road markings, hazards/obstacles, other vehicles and traffic signs. Some systems have been developed that use infrared image intensification to enhance night driving visibility.

**Visual clutter:** An overall assessment (either a subjective or an objective measure) of the extent to which there are features in a visual scene (either on a HUD or in the external scene) that may interfere with some aspect of the primary task (e.g., detecting hazards).

**Vii Flight Rule** (VFR): Flying an airplane using external visual cues under high visibility conditions.

**Visual masking:** Interference that can occur between two stimuli presented *in proximity* (but not overlapping) in space and time. In a typical visual masking study, the mask does not spatially overlap the target. A "masking effect" usually refers to an effect that is attributable to neural interference *rather than* optical (i.e., pre-retinal) interference of light in the image. Although visual masking is often used to describe interference occurring for superimposition of HUD and external scenes, contrast interference is the preferred term in this instance. Although visual masking may result from viewing HUD imagery superimposed on driving scenes, the bulk of the interference can be attributed to the interaction of light from different objects in the image (cf. contrast interference).

#### **Executive Summary**

A review of existing technical literature has indicated that automotive applications of head-up displays (HUDs), using current designs, will yield mixed results. While certain performance advantages may be expected, drivers' responses to some safety-critical events may be slowed significantly. A summary of findings for each of the major topic areas addressed in this document follows. In addition, a comprehensive overview of HUD research variables, test procedures and study results may be found in a set of summary tables presented as an appendix to this report.

To begin, the generalizability of aviation HUD research to automotive applications is limited because of differences along several dimensions. First, the information content of external scenes varies dramatically between the minimal contour (clouds and open sky) for the aviator and the rapid presentation of salient-often life-threatening--targets for the everyday urban/suburban driver. While they may assume primacy for the pilot's attention, HUDs are likely to remain strictly a secondary information source for drivers. Next, HUD use in aviation has often employed conformal symbology, where the displayed information is perceived as part of the external scene (e.g., a runway outline); comparisons to research results where HUDs presenting information to drivers have used non-conformal symbology (text or graphics) are problematic. Workload differences also deserve mention: during takeoff and landing the task demands on pilots-and the associated information content of HUDs--are considerably higher than drivers can be expected to encounter, nor will users of automotive HUDs have to contend with performance degradation due to high G-forces or spatial disorientation. Finally, an important contrast between studies of aviation versus automotive HUDs lies in the relative training and capability levels of the design users. Younger individuals selected for superior vision and cognitive capability, with extensive training, are the norm in aviation HUD performance tests. This restricts the range of data obtained, and produces an inevitable bias in measures of HUD safety and useability compared to, for example, an elderly driver who is inexperienced with HUDs.

The **predicted peformance advantages of automotive HUDs** include a variety hypothesized benefits, particularly for the older driver. Foremost is increased eyes-on-the-road time, which intuitively reduces the probability that a driver will fail to detect a time-critical event. It is not clear the extent to which reported advantages in response time (ranging from .25 to 1.0 s) for head-up versus head-down displays may be conditional upon low workload, simple HUD displays, and/or moderate ambient light levels, however. Reduced reaccommodation demands for drivers to fixate upon external targets are also expected, due to farther virtual image distances for head-up versus head-down displays. This represents a time savings that may or may not have operational significance for the general driving population. Older drivers would be aided the most by this feature of HUDs, and their expected benefits extend to no longer having to look through the near correction (lower part) in their eyeglasses as required to view the instrument panel. At the same time, HUDs present risks of degraded operator performance, as highlighted below.

Key operator performance issues with HUDs derive from both visual and cognitive In the former category, superimposing symbology on the forward driving scene may factors. mask external objects via contrast interference. This effect depends upon the extent to which the HUD symbology fills a given viewing area, and the contrast of the HUD imagery with the visual background. Relative motion of the HUD image and the to-be-detected external targets will improve recognition of external targets, but performance will still be degraded when HUD contrast is high. The safety of nighttime operations with HUDs are called into question by this finding. In addition, the visual 'fill factor' of a head-up display is identified as an important parameter influencing driver response to external targets. The tradeoff between increased eyeson-the-road time and increased visual clutter from HUD symbology, in terms of response effectiveness for safety-critical targets in the forward driving scene, remains to be determined. Other potentially important visual factors include misaccommodation and misconvergence effects ("Mandelbaum effects") which can result from trying to view distant objects through nearer objects or surfaces. Size perception is at issue here, with implications for distance judgments and gap acceptance. Also, binocular misalignment--i.e., when the visual system cannot fuse vertical or horizontal disparities introduced by image distortions--can result in oculomotor fatigue, binocular rivalry, and headaches. HUD designs which use the windshield as the combiner are more susceptible to this problem.

A preeminent cognitive factor in assessing driver performance with HUDs is the phenomenon termed "cognitive capture." This effect describes the degradation of responses to external targets due to the processing of information from a HUD image; as such, it principally involves the cognitive operations of selective attention, divided attention, and attention switching. Existing data suggest that cognitive interference in drivers' responses to external targets is more likely when the number of targets and distracters (in both the HUD and external scene) is large; when the spatial and temporal uncertainty of critical (external) targets is high; when the conspicuity of critical targets is low; and when the relative event rate for salient targets in the forward driving scene (i.e., those requiring "effortful" or controlled, as opposed to automatic, processing) is lower than that for HUD stimuli. A fundamental premise is that visual information conveyed via HUDs and visual information from the external driving scene are not processed on separate channels; in other words, it is impossible to process both sources of visual information simultaneously.

Even earlier processing inefficiencies than those manifested in cognitive capture--i.e., problems at the stage of stimulus transduction and preprocessing--are described by studies of interference at the encoding stage of information processing. Multiple targets, targets near the threshold of detection, and/or targets embedded in "noisy" backgrounds may suffer from such interference. Common examples include HUD symbology that is spatially superimposed on an external target, producing contrast interference, or which is presented adjacent to an external target, producing spatial masking; in either case, it is likely that the efficiency with which the external target is encoded will be reduced. Encoding interference can be mitigated by separating inputs along one or more stimulus dimensions (e.g., spatial separation, use of color) or sensory modalities (e.g., using the auditory channel for selected message elements). However, while auditory HUD elements may reduce interference at the encoding stage, this practice does not preclude interference at the cognitive level of processing, and the potential for encoding interference with other auditory inputs (e.g., collision warning signals) is introduced.

Current **HUD design issues** center on these sources of interference Inefficiencies at the cognitive stage of processing have implications for the amount and format of information displayed on HUDs, while inefficiencies at the earlier, stimulus encoding stage have implications for the spatial location and luminance contrast of HUDs. Often, design choices must take both sources of interference into account. A typical apparent image distance for HUD symbology, roughly two meters, reflects an attempt to reduce cognitive-level interference by linking the HUD information spatially to the end of the hood of the driver's own vehicle, as opposed to farther distances at which the HUD information is embedded in the visual clutter of the external scene. This design choice also reduces the possibility of spatial superimposition or spatial masking of safety-critical targets, and thus improves HUD processing efficiency at the encoding stage as well. Additional design issues which deserve attention in automotive HUD applications include display variability across models, opportunities for the presentation of conformal symbology, field of view limitations, and user adjustability of HUD image attributes.

The *effect* of *HUDs on driving* speed is an area of particular interest. Some studies have demonstrated subjective preferences among drivers for HUD speed indicators versus traditional head-down displays, as well as an increase in glance frequency and a decrease in glance duration with the HUD speed indicator, but multiple investigations have found no significant effect on speed choice across a variety of driving conditions. Also, hypothesized improvements in the efficiency of acquiring speed information remain open to question, because of the low workload conditions which prevail in previous research on this issue.

Finally, a number of *implementation issues for automotive HUDs* must be addressed before widespread acceptance of these devices can be expected, particularly for many applications envisioned in ongoing Intelligent Transportation System (ITS) program initiatives. To move beyond the presentation of vehicle status indicators, such as speed, to the display of navigational instructions, motorist advisories for road conditions, accidents, weather, and other types of information, reliable measures of the effect of HUD use on responses to priority external targets must be obtained, under realistic operating conditions, The appropriate assignment of driver information inputs to continuous, contingent, and "on-demand" categories of displays remains to be determined. Practical considerations of cost, size, and adaptability to a range of driver eye heights also figure prominently if the use of HUDs in the private vehicle fleet in the U.S. is to become routine. And of course, driver age and related differences in visual acuity, contrast sensitivity, and the efficiency of attentional and other cognitive processes strongly implicated in safe vehicle operation define critical parameters for product design, development, and testing.

## Driver Age and Visual Interference Concerns in the Use of Automotive HUDs Part I: Literature Review

## Introduction

This review establishes the framework for the development of a testing protocol for automotive HUDs that generalizes to a broad cross-section of everyday driving conditions. The idea to display instruments as virtual images superimposed on external images was first proposed by Paul Fitts in 1946. It was not until 1960 that head-up displays (HUDs) were first manufactured for military aircraft (Weintraub and Ensing, 1992). Although HUDs are now widely used between military and commercial aviators, they have only been considered for widespread automotive use since approximately 1985 (Enderby and Wood, 1992). Since then, the extent to which HUDs will benefit drivers has been investigated and is still largely unresolved. If research can be directed toward clearly defining the safety and design issues, this could facilitate progress toward mature applications -- and widespread use of -- automotive HUDs.

This document covers the following major topic areas: (1) aviation versus automotive HUDs, comparing and contrasting the two major HUD applications to determine the limits of generalizability of aviation HUD research; (2) expected performance advantages of automotive HUDs, addressing commonly cited and potential advantages of HUDs; (3) current HUD design issues, identifying currently unresolved design issues and limitations for HUDs that impact driver performance; (4) operator performance issues, emphasizing the impact of HUDs on vision and cognition; (5) the effect of HUDs on driving speed; and (6) implementation issues for HUDs in automobiles. An overview of current knowledge in this area and discussion of key methodological issues is then presented. This report concludes with two appendices that contain, respectively, a comprehensive summary table of HUD research findings, and a condensed description of current and proposed automobile HUD design features.

#### **Aviation Versus Automotive HUDs**

This document presents an overview of current findings in human factors research on HUDs. Whenever possible, study results are discussed in terms of implications for the design of automotive HUDs and potential safety benefits. In some instances the researchers have designed the experiment to address aviator HUD design issues. For these studies, there may be limitations in the extent to which the findings generalize to the design and effectiveness of automotive HUDs. This is due to the differences between proximal (i.e., instrument panel) and distal (i.e., external scene) stimuli, characteristics of the tasks, operator skill levels and age ranges. These differences are defined below and are used throughout the review to compare and contrast aviation and automotive HUD applications.

**Information content of external scenes:** Typically, the external scene of aviators consists of minimal contour such as clouds and open sky. Potential external targets include other aircraft and runways. Compared to driving, little information is acquired directly from the external scene. In other words, HUDs and other information sources inside the cockpit are typically primary information sources whereas external information sources are secondary. In contrast,

drivers are exposed to much more contour and the total number of potential targets in the external scene is higher. Also, this information is presented to drivers at much higher information rates (i.e., number of potential targets per minute of driving is higher for drivers than for pilots). In light of these differences between automotive and aviation tasks, it is unlikely that automotive HUDs will replace the external driving scene as the primary information source.

*Visual clutter intolerance:* Because of the high priority given to direct visual information acquisition, drivers typically prefer to locate HUD symbology outside of central vision (Inuzuka, Osumi and Shinkai, 1991; Sojourner and Antin, 1990; Okabayashi, Sakata, Fukano, Daidoji, Hashimoto and Ishikawa, 1989; Weihrauch, Meloeny and Goesch, 1989). In fact, the results of the Inuzuka et al. (1991) study suggest that any symbology placed within a 5 degree radius of the fovea would be "annoying" to drivers. It is possible that these preferences can be attributed to the fact that the HUDs used in these studies displayed speed information. Therefore, the preference for locating symbology in peripheral vision may be due to the lower priority given to speed monitoring. To date, there are no studies that rate the tolerance of drivers for other types of symbology that present high priority information.

One type of symbology that drivers might be more tolerant of is conformal symbology. Conformal symbology simulates the visual transformations of external objects to give observers the perception that the symbology is actually part of the external scene. Although this type of symbology is common among HUDS used by pilots, on-going research is investigating automotive applications of conformal symbology. For example, vision enhancement systems (VES) would help drivers locate external targets when driving at night using symbology that overlays the actual external target. Conformal symbology has been shown to minimize detrimental effects of visual clutter and cognitive workload typical of non-conformal symbology (Naish, 1964; McCann and Foyle, 1994). Even though there are no studies that compare the preferences of drivers for conformal versus non-conformal symbology location, a strong recommendation from previous research is that non-conformal symbology should not be displayed head-up. Any benefit attributable to the display of information head-up is either non-existent or reversed (i.e., HUD worse than HDD) when displaying non-conformal symbology.

An approach that would maximize the overall HUD advantage is to display both conformal and non-conformal symbology using two HUDs: a lower HUD placed below central vision for the display of non-conformal and conformal symbology and an upper HUD superimposed on the forward field of view for the display of conformal symbology only. This display, termed the DUET display, was proposed by Weintraub and Ensing (1992, pp. 150-154) to (1) solve the problem of visual clutter and the negative consequences this can have and **(2)** maximize the benefits of HUDs, particularly the unique advantages of conformal symbology. Two HUDs are required since the typical HUD field-of-view is less than 5 degrees vertically and 7 degrees horizontally.

**Age differences** Demographics show that the average age of the driving population is increasing. In an attempt to take a proactive role in the design of future information displays, human factors researchers typically incorporate age as an independent variable in HUD studies. The "design driver" for automotive HUDs must incorporate the oculomotor, perceptual and cognitive limitations of older drivers. In contrast, HUD studies using pilots typically do not

include age as an independent variable in their analyses. This is one area where automotive HUD designers may be faced with new and more demanding challenges that cannot be anticipated from previous experience with HUD use within aviation settings.

**Workload** and task differences Typically, pilot workload is heaviest during takeoff and landing. During these relatively brief periods, the demands on pilots are higher than during the most demanding driving conditions. For military aviators, task demands can be dangerously high. For example, landing a fighter jet on a carrier deck has been described by pilots as a controlled crash. Military pilots are also susceptible to spatial disorientation (SDO) and are exposed to high G-forces. HUDs may play a role in SDO since there have been some reports that HUDs impair a pilot's ability to cope with SDO (Biberman and Alluisi, 1992). The implication for automotive HUD use is that high task demands may contribute to misinterpretation of HUD information.

If automotive HUDs ever approach the level of information content that currently exists on aviator's HUDs, acceptance among drivers is expected to be low. There are at least two reasons for this: (1) acquiring information directly from external stimuli will always be primary for drivers and (2) drivers are not accustomed to acquiring and processing information from external as well as in-vehicle displays without making head/eye movements. Pilots are trained to fly by instruments alone (instrument flight rule or IFR) under low visibility conditions. Given the high demands for direct visual information processing, it is difficult to imagine safe driving using instruments only (even with significant advances in technology). If it is assumed that the external visual scene will always be the primary information source, secondary information sources must enhance the driver's ability to extract information from external sources.

**Standardization and training issues:** Another potential limitation to the widespread acceptance and safety of automotive HUDs is the extent to which training is required to use This is currently a low-priority issue since automotive HUDs are still under HUDs. development. However, one lesson learned from the use of HUDs among aviators is that training and standardization issues need to be addressed prior to widespread implementation. This is particularly important when familiarity with one HUD does not transfer to the use of other HUDs; for example, when using an unfamiliar HUD in a rental car. Older drivers may find it particularly difficult adapting to this situation. To some extent, problems with transfer of training can be minimized by (1) incorporating the capabilities and limitations of drivers into the design of the HUD and (2) standardization of symbology and hardware. An example of how proper de-sign of HUD symbology impacts training was demonstrated by Naish (1964). In this study, pilots receiving no training in the use of conformal symbology performed as well as pilots receiving training (Naish, 1964). Training will be required for combiner adjustments, contrast and other physical adjustment procedures. As various HUDs reach final adjustment' development stages, HUD evaluation criteria should include training time based on objective performance measures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Most HUDs have a manual brightness control. However, some HUDs have an automatic brightness control that is based on illumination on the dashboard. Even in HUDs with automatic adjustments, there is a manual adjustment to fine-tune the brightness (i.e., contrast).

#### **Expected Performance Advantages of Automotive HUDs**

The following benefits of HUDs are the most commonly-stated advantages of automotive HUDs which underlie predicted performance gains for various dependent measures. In later sections these advantages will be discussed in more detail. Also, the following discussion of the benefits to older drivers presumes that automotive HUDs are designed to incorporate their needs with respect to virtual image distances, minimal visual clutter, minimal distraction, luminance contrast, ease of use and display location.

**Increased eyes-on-the-road time:** Intuitively, the more time a driver spends looking at the road the less likely he or she is to miss time-critical events. Studies attempting to quantify this advantage (HDD vs. HUD response times) have demonstrated more efficient processing. Specifically, the HUD advantage ranges from .25 to 1 second. Although this may not seem like a significant advantage, this represents 22 to 88 feet more stopping distance, respectively, in an emergency situation (traveling 60 mph). Unfortunately, it is likely that HUDs may not always improve the safety of driving. Research suggests that the HUD advantage may only manifest itself under limited circumstances such as low workload (Larish and Wickens, 1991), simple HUD displays (Okabayashi, Sakata and Hatada, 1991) and under moderate ambient light levels (Weintraub and Ensing, 1992).

Shortcomings of previous studies include, first, test situations in which scanning behavior is constrained by the experimental protocol. In other words, subjects initiate a scan after being prompted. Kiefer (1991) assessed scanning behavior under naturalistic conditions. In this study, he measured the time that drivers spent in speedometer scanning cycles (SSC) which included: (1) scanning from roadway to speedometer, (2) speedometer fixation time and (3) scanning from speedometer to roadway. Three dependent measures were reported: (1) mean time in SSC, (2) glance frequency per minute and (3) total time in SSC. Although total time in SSC was higher for the HUD in session 1, successive sessions were no different head-up or head-down. This was attributed to a novelty effect of the HUD speedometer. An alternative explanation that cannot be ruled out is that drivers may have been involuntarily distracted by the head-up speedometer. The only consistent advantage of the head-up speedometer across 4 sessions was in terms of mean time per glance; overall, drivers spent 144 milliseconds less time in SSCs viewing the HUD speedometer. Similar conclusions were reached in a more recent study by Sprenger (1993). The results of this study also showed more frequent sampling of the HUD (143 glances to the HUD versus 88 to the in-dash speedometer) and shorter periods of fixation on the HUD (median fixation time for HUD was 619 msec vs. 711 msec HDD). Unfortunately, the Sprenger study confounded display format and location. In the Sprenger study, the HDD used a conventional analog display whereas the HUD used digital format. Kiefer and Angel1 (1993) recently compared these two formats for HDD display locations and found the analog format to be superior in terms of minimizing eyes-off-road time (obtained by multiplying mean eyes-off-road time per glance by the glances per minute). Thus, it may be the case that the HUD advantage found by Sprenger is actually attenuated via the use of digital speed information. Finally, a limitation of both the Kiefer and Sprenger studies is that they were conducted under low workload conditions. Under high workload conditions, it is likely that the frequency of glances to both displays would be reduced and that the difference between the displays in terms of glance frequency would also be reduced. This suggests that the "novelty" effect may be an artifact of the low demand situation.

Evidence that HUDs reduce the number of head/eye movements under high workload conditions was reported by Haines, Fischer and Price (1980). Using a flight simulator, they demonstrated that pilots make fewer transitions between the external scene and cockpit displays when using HUDs. This is contrary to the findings of Kiefer (1991). However, the results are not directly comparable because of (1) differences in workload and (2) task differences (namely, pilots are trained to fly IFR or VFR). To date, there are no studies of driver eye scanning behavior under high workload conditions. Assuming that the results do generalize to driving tasks, there are some implications of these findings for HUD use. First, if head/eye movements are lower under high task demand conditions, HUDs may have some benefit for alleviating fatigue. Secondly, fewer external targets would be missed. Unfortunately, research suggests that unexpected targets are more likely to be missed when using HUDs This effect has been termed cognitive capture, and will be discussed below.

**Reduced reaccommodation demands:** The benefits here include time to reaccommodate and the amount of accommodation. Since the virtual image is typically located further away than head-down instrument panels (HDIPs), less accommodation is required when switching from external viewing to HUD viewing. Reducing accommodative demands has clear advantages for older drivers due the progressive loss of accommodative range with age. For example, by about age 60 the average amplitude of accommodation is 1 diopter. Thus, for the average 60-year-old, viewing the instrument panel (about .75 meter or 1.33 diopters) may require them to look through the near correction (or lower part) in their eyeglasses.

Reducing the accommodation demands should also increase the HUD advantage by reducing reaccommodation time. For younger subjects (mean age 21.9 years), the savings in reaccommodation time is not pronounced because subjects can make responses prior to completing the accommodative response (Weintraub, Haines and Randle, 1984; 1985). Older observers were not tested in this experiment. However, other researchers have shown that virtual image distances nearer than 2.5 m increase the recognition times of older (50 to 70 years) drivers (Inuzuka, Osumi, Shinkai, 1991). This effect is attributed to diminished accommodative range of older subjects.

The lack of a significant reaccommodation time-saved in the Weintraub et al. studies may be attributable to the depth-of-focus (DOF) in the experiment. The DOF is the range of focus errors over which performance is unaffected. DOF is dependent on pupil size (large pupil size produces low DOF) and the blur criterion (i.e., when does target appear "blurred"). DOF was not assessed in the Weintraub study. However, the target luminances  $(1 \text{ cd/m}^2 \text{ for the runway})$ scene and 2.6 cd/m<sup>2</sup> for the HUD symbology) suggest that DOF would have been low (less than .125 D) due to the large pupil size (roughly 6 mm; maximum pupil size is about 8 mm). However, DOF is also dependent on the target used in determining whether a target is "blurred"; namely, large, coarse targets (low spatial frequencies) are less affected by defocus than small targets (high spatial frequencies). It is estimated that the critical features in the symbology used by Weintraub et al. subtended about 7.5 minutes of arc (or 4 cycles/degree) which is well above a critical gap for 20/20 resolution (Le., 1 minute of arc). Based on data from Westheimer and McKee (1980), it is believed that the targets were at or slightly above threshold in the 1% diopter condition **before** reaccommodation was initiated. In short, the lack of a significant reaccommodation time-saved with HUDs in the Weintraub et al. (1985) study may be attributable to the high DOF for the targets used. If these target sizes (and contrasts)

are representative of targets in actual automotive HUDs, then these results can be generalized to automotive HUDs. If not, further research is needed to assess reaccommodation time-saved under conditions representative of driving (particularly night driving) while using an automotive HUD.

**Considerations for older drivers:** All benefits expected from HUDs (i.e., reduced reaccommodation, fewer eye/head movements, increased eyes-on-the-road time) are expected to be higher for older drivers. However, possible disadvantages of HUDs (such as cognitive capture and visual clutter) are expected to be more problematic for older drivers. The implication is that older subjects should be routinely used in HUD research as they represent a much larger range of visual and cognitive abilities. To obtain widespread acceptance, automotive HUDs should incorporate the limitations of older drivers.

There has been surprisingly little research into aging effects with HUDs The research to date suggests that while there are no clear benefits to older drivers, they do not perform more poorly with HUDs. Kiefer (1990) found no interaction of location (HDD vs. HUD) by age on speedometer scanning or average speed. This lack of an interaction suggests that there is a HUD advantage for the older subjects as well as the younger subjects but that it is not more pronounced for either age group. Using a driving simulator, Marin-Lamellet, Dejeammes and Kerihuel (1994) found significant main effects of age. For both HUD and forward screen presentation, older subjects were slower in reacting to displayed turn arrows and stop signs and they took longer to complete the trial runs. In agreement with Kiefer, the interaction of age with method of display was not statistically significant on any dependent measure. The authors point out that the workload was low in this experiment which would not be expected to generalize to more complex driving tasks. This would also apply to the Kiefer study as subjects drove along a closed 6 mile loop through a park in Washington, Michigan. None of the studies included in this review investigate the effects of HUDs on different age groups when confronted with varying levels of workload.

With respect to cognitive issues, HUDs may be potentially more distracting to older drivers which might lead to an increased propensity for cognitive capture. Research shows that one of the best predictors of accident involvement is the ability to switch attention (Avolio, Kroeck and Panek, 1985). Parasuraman and Nestor (1991) demonstrated that the ability to switch attention is predictive of accident involvement among elderly drivers. Unfortunately, most of the studies investigating cognitive/attentional issues with HUDs have not included older subjects. This may be attributable to the fact that researchers investigating cognitive issues have been primarily in the aviation community where age effects do not take precedence.

Although statistically significant HUD advantages have been repeatedly demonstrated, the small HUD advantages that are typical may be of little operational significance. In fact, it is difficult to reconcile the lack of large measured HUD advantages (and in some situations, HUDs have no effect or can degrade performance) with the fact that HUDs are so widely accepted among aviators. Many researchers believe that the primary advantage of HUDs, which many dependent measures are insensitive to, is the design of the symbology (Weintraub and Ensing, 1992). Research extends this contention to suggest that HUDs are only beneficial for the display of conformal (or partially conformal) symbology. Specifically, non-conformal symbology displayed head-up has been shown to degrade performance. In view of this finding,

displaying head-up speed information would not be expected to enhance driver safety relative to a head-down display because it is a nonconformal information source. Incidentally, head-up speed information is provided on all automotive HUDs and is also the single most widely studied HUD dependent (i.e., speed variability) and independent (i.e., digital speedometer display) variable.

### **Current HUD Design Issues**

The following discussion deals with design issues and technological limitations that directly impact the overall utility of automotive HUDs. The first subtopic deals with a "lesson learned" during the process of widespread deployment of aviator HUDs from which automotive , HUD designers can benefit.

**Display variability:** Cockpit display design/layout is perhaps one of the oldest problems in human factors; namely, how to convey information to pilots that is consistent across aircraft. Instrumentation advances are a continuous, on-going process which leads to differences in the layout and type of displays for the same plane (Biberman and Alluisi, 1992). This leads to variability even within an aircraft type which can, to some extent, be overcome by training. However, routine training in the use of different automotive HUDs (e.g., driving a HUD-equipped rental car) may not be feasible. Automotive HUDs are more likely to be widely accepted if there is a high degree of consistency in the way information is conveyed to drivers. This is due to at least 3 factors: 1) a wider range of skill levels among current driving population, 2) potential for new types of information (i.e., non-redundant information display) to be displayed on automotive HUDs with ITS/ATIS advances and 3) processing information from HUDs may already add to a driver's workload, even where practice on a specific HUD is not required.

*Design of display* symbology: In the absence of demonstrated HUD advantages found by some researchers, it has been asserted that the primary advantage of HUDs is the effective design of the HUD symbology. Even so, there are some aspects of HUD symbology that need improving. For example, one complaint among pilots who use HUDs is that the symbology provides ambiguous information about altitude. In fact, some fatal accidents and near misses have been attributed to the fact that the altitude information on HUDs does not tell the pilot, at a glance, whether he is upright or inverted (Biberman and Alluisi, 1992, p. S-I, A-7). The implication for automotive HUD designers is that carefully designed symbology in itself can determine HUD acceptance among drivers.

As noted earlier, there are data to support the idea that conformal symbology enhances performance with HUDs. Conformal symbology elements overlay and move with outside world elements that they represent. An example of this is a virtual runway displayed via the HUD that moves with the real runway as the plane moves. Although conformal symbology may not be applicable to automotive HUDs (primarily because the virtual image will not be collimated in automotive HUDs), the research suggests that the advantage of HUDs can be maximized by careful design of the symbology. In fact, many researchers believe that the symbology design on HUDs is one of the main reasons for the widespread acceptance of HUDs among pilots. This was stated succinctly in a paper by Long and Wickens (1994) "...when non-conformal symbology is used, the costs of increased scanning head-down are balanced by the benefits of

reduced clutter..." These kinds of tradeoffs can be addressed in the current project for automotive HUD applications.

**Field-of-view limitations:** The typical field-of-view (FOV) of an automotive HUD is only 5 by 5 degrees (see Appendix B for details). This clearly limits the utility of conformal symbology since the external scene onto which the symbology is overlayed must be contained within this small angular window. Furthermore, the small FOV limits the maximum amount of information that can be displayed at one time before visual clutter degrades visibility of external targets. One possible solution to the limited FOV problem was proposed by Swift and Freeman (1986). In their design, multiple displays are placed side-by-side (each with 5 by 5 degree FOV) to increase the horizontal field of view. This display, termed the Instrument Head Level Infinity Display (or IHLID), presents collimated imagery to the driver that is not superimposed on the forward driving scene. Instead, the virtual images are seen just above the dashboard. Thus, the driver still enjoys the benefit of increased eyes-on-the-road time and reduced reaccommodation time while eliminating visual clutter and contrast interference. One potential drawback of this approach is system cost. Although the cost will inevitably be higher than a single HUD system with a 5 by 5 degree FOV, it may be the most feasible way to increase the horizontal FOV of HUDs.

**Display luminance contrast:** One limitation of most HUDs is that they cannot meet the maximum luminance contrast requirements for viewing during bright daylight conditions. Weintraub and Ensing (1992) give an example of viewing symbology against sunlit snow which is roughly 34,000 cd/m<sup>2</sup> (10,000 ftL). To obtain a maximum recommended contrast ratio of 1.5: 1 against a background of 34,000 cd/m<sup>2</sup>, the luminance of the HUD symbology would have to be 17,000 cd/m<sup>2</sup> (or about 170,000 cd/m<sup>2</sup> at the source assuming a typical 10% reflectance by the combiner). Current technology cannot meet this maximum requirement even with stroke symbology which is brighter than raster symbology. Even if such a display could be produced, the heat given off by the source could melt the HUD and surrounding components.

There are a number of possible solutions to the luminance contrast limitation with high background luminances. Lloyd and Reinhart (1993) report that a minimum contrast requirement of 1.15: 1 can be used for tasks involving familiar high-contrast scenes (for example, a familiar road) which is in agreement with previous recommendations (see Weintraub and Ensing, 1992, p. 29). Another possible solution is to use a combiner with a higher reflectance. Although this results in a lower transmittance of the forward driving scene, this loss is more likely to be tolerated if placed outside of the critical viewing area (5 to 10 degrees below driver's line of sight; see Inuzuka et al., 1991 for details).

It has not been demonstrated whether  $34,000 \text{ cd/m}^2$  should be considered a reasonable worst-case for driving. If the HUD symbology is placed low in the visual field (perhaps superimposed on the road surface), anecdotal evidence suggests that the background luminance will rarely approach  $34,000 \text{ cd/m}^2$  At any rate, the average maximum display luminance of existing automotive HUDs (from Appendix B) is  $2842 \text{ cd/m}^2$ . Based on this and a minimum luminance contrast of 1.15, the typical maximum background luminance that HUDs can be viewed against based on currently available automotive HUDs is  $18,947 \text{ cd/m}^2$  (or 56% of the maximum proposed by Weintraub and Ensing above).

The previous discussion deals with viewing HUD imagery against a high background luminance. At low background luminances, there is a potential for HUD luminance contrast to be too *high*. For some HUDs, the luminance simply cannot be adjusted low enough to obtain the maximum acceptable luminance contrast ratio of 4:1 (Rogers, Spiker and Cicinelli, 1986). As a result, there is a high potential for missed and/or delayed detection of external targets. Another potential source of masking and contrast interference of external targets is the background luminance of the HUD (referred to as "CRT glow"; cf. Weintraub and Ensing, 1992). We are unaware of any study that has investigated the potential for missed external targets under viewing conditions that simulate night driving with high contrast (i.e., 1.5:1 to 10:1) HUDs.

The research indicates that there is no single HUD luminance contrast that optimizes performance for all driving conditions. There is a range of HUD luminance contrasts for a given ambient light level within which the actual HUD luminance contrast should be maintained. This range is an optimal tradeoff between contrasts that are too low (i.e., poor visibility of the HUD symbology) and contrasts that are too high (i.e., poor visibility of external targets overlapping the HUD symbology and high potential for cognitive capture via the HUD). HUDs should be designed to provide contrasts in roughly the middle of this luminance contrast range for a particular ambient light level. Figure 1 is a schematic of the contrast operating function. The axes are logarithmic in units of luminance  $(cd/m^2)$  with HUD luminance on the ordinate and background luminance on the abscissa.



Figure 1. Schematic of the dynamic operating range of the DataVision HUD.

The maximum and minimum HUD luminance lines are estimates for the GM Hughes DataVision HUD. The dynamic range is determined by the ambient light levels corresponding to the endpoints of the optimal contrast line. In Figure 1, the dynamic operating range of the HUD is slightly larger than 4 orders of magnitude. This is somewhat less than the desired range of background luminances upon which the driver might view HUD symbology (roughly 6 orders of magnitude).

## **Operator Performance Issues**

Visual and cognitive limitations of drivers need to be incorporated into the design of automotive HUDs. The specific topic areas that follow discuss critical human performance factors that have direct implications for HUD design specifications. In most instances, researchers assess the advantage of a particular HUD design using performance with a HDD as baseline. This is a valid approach; however, there may be limits to the generalizability of the research findings when HDD and HUD display parameters are not controlled. For example, the following variables represent typical differences between HUDs and HDDs:

- <u>Display format</u>: Most automotive HUDs use a digital speedometer whereas HDDs can be either digital or analog. Direct comparisons of HUDs using **digital** symbology versus HDDs using **analog** symbology is not valid due to the well-established performance differences between these two display formats.
- <u>Display contrast/luminance</u>: The contrast of HDDs is fixed whereas the contrast of HUDs is variable and depends on background and display luminance
- <u>Image distance</u>: The viewing distance of HDDs is typically 30 inches (instrument panel distance) whereas HUD virtual image distances range from 1.5 to 6 meters
- <u>Angular size</u>: The angular size of the characters must be equated. Otherwise, differences in angular size alone can produce pronounced differences in RT, threshold contrast and other performance measures.

These are a few of the display control variables that should be considered in evaluating the generalizability of a particular research finding. In any event, the following topic areas are critical parameters in assessing HUD efficacy.

**Contrast interference and visual clutter:** Superimposing symbology on the forward driving scene theoretically will tend to mask external objects via contrast interference. This should become more of a problem as more contour (which correlates with the display of more information) is added to the HUD and when the contrast of the HUD symbology is higher than the contrast of the external targets. Okabayashi, Sakata and Hatada (1991) measured the effect of visual clutter and HUD contrast on the identification of Snellen E figures. They manipulated clutter by varying the percent of pixels that were turned on in a simulated HUD (fill factor). The location of pixels that were on was determined randomly. Thus, a HUD display with a fill factor of 50% represents a worst-case for visual clutter. With a HUD luminance contrast set at 1.3, percent correct recognition dropped from 80 % correct at 0% fill factor to 70% correct recognition at 50% fill factor. When HUD contrast was increased to 3.0, percent correct

recognition at 50% fill factor dropped to 10%. This finding is noteworthy because the nighttime recommended HUD contrast is 4.0 (Weintraub and Ensing, 1992; Rogers, Spiker and Cicinelli, 1986). This represents a potential exception to this recommendation. If fill factor approaches 50% (even for localized areas of the display) and HUD contrast is set to 4.0, there may be a large potential for masking of external targets. This is especially true for low contrast targets typically encountered during nighttime driving. This issue is only important for low ambient light levels since contrasts of 4.0 cannot be obtained with existing HUDs at high ambient light levels. Furthermore, the visual clutter issue applies only when symbology is superimposed on the forward scene; as discussed below, symbology superimposition is not always used in some alternative HUD designs and interfaces.

Okabayashi et al. (1991) also assessed the effects of relative motion between the HUD symbology and external targets. The experiment was designed to simulate the effect of relative motion between HUDs and the external driving scene when negotiating turns. Depending on where the driver is fixating, this relative motion can degrade retinal image contrast of either the HUD symbology (i.e., driver fixates external scene) or the driving scene (i.e., driver fixates HUD). In the experiment, subjects were instructed to fixate the Snellen E targets. This would tend to reduce the retinal image contrast of the HUD and thus reduce the negative impact of visual clutter. In the worst-case condition for visual clutter mentioned previously (50% fill factor and luminance contrast of 3.0), percent recognition increased from 10% correct recognition to an asymptote of 50% correct recognition. This should be compared to baseline performance in which percent correct recognition was 80%. Thus, although relative motion will tend to reduce the negative effect of visual clutter when fixating the external driving scene, clutter will still degrade visual recognition performance when the HUD contrast is high. It should therefore also be of interest to investigate the effects of cognitive capture under conditions of relative motion. This could be used to obtain an objective measure of what observers are attending to (via eye movement behavior) as well as a stronger hypothesized cognitive capture effect when there is relative motion between external scenes and HUDs.

The visual clutter manipulation in the Okabayashi et al. (1991) study limits the extent to which the results can be applied to performance with HUDs. The clutter manipulation involved turning on a certain percent of the pixels in the simulated HUD. However, because recognizable characters or icons were not displayed, this precluded the researchers from measuring performance for information displayed on the HUD (e.g., percent correct identification of a vehicle status indicator). Also, it may have been an artificially demanding task since the subjects in the study could not segment the HUD display into meaningful units. This is important since information in the external environment can interfere with information acquisition from the HUD and vice versa. Regardless of these shortcomings, the fill factor may be a useful means of objectively quantifying visual clutter in displays as well as external road scenes.

The authors are not aware of any study of the effects of visually cluttered HUDs on information acquisition from the HUD. However, Kurokawa and Wierwille (1991) assessed the effect of visual clutter on a simulated instrument panel task. To some extent, the results of this experiment are believed to generalize to any in-vehicle display. Information acquisition from an in-vehicle display was assessed using a simulated instrument panel task. Kurokawa and Wierwille (1991) assessed the effects of display clutter by manipulating the number of cells in the panel (i.e., temperature, radio, navigation and cassette), the number of buttons within each cell (1, 2x2).

or 3x3 and abbreviated vs. unabbreviated messages, This panel was mounted in a simulator dashboard. The dependent measures were hands-off-wheel time, number and average length of glances to the instrument panel and total completion time. As predicted, as the number of control buttons and cells increased, responses were slower on all dependent measures. The largest increases were observed for the additional control buttons (termed microclutter). The mean number of glances to the instrument panel increased from about 1.2 for the single control button conditions to 2.6 for the 3x3 matrix of buttons. The average length of glances increased from about .75 seconds with 1 control button to 1.1 seconds with 3x3 control buttons.

The implication of the Kurokawa and Wierwille results for HUD use is that as the number of information elements increases, drivers may spend more time acquiring the information from the display. The unresolved question related to this research finding is whether performance is worse head-up than head-down with visual clutter. Neither of the two studies investigating visual clutter effects used both HUD and HDD conditions. Although visual clutter can certainly produce contrast interference which leads to missed targets, missed targets can also result from spending more time using the in-vehicle display, either head-up or headdown. In other words, even though a cluttered display would be expected to increase the time attending to and/or glancing at the in-vehicle display, this is expected to be more deleterious for the HDD because the external targets are further away from the fovea and thus less visible. Alternatively, if the clutter is within the forward scene and the primary task involves acquiring information from an uncluttered in-vehicle display, there may be a HUD **disadvantage** due to contrast interference from the forward scene. Without further research it is impossible to determine how these effects tradeoff, namely, are the HUD benefits attributable to eyes-on-theroad time so pronounced that the HUD advantage exists even in the presence of (1) cluttered forward scenes, (2) cluttered in-vehicle displays and (3) a combination of both types of clutter.

Once these tradeoffs are assessed, the results can then be used to determine performancebased safety criteria. As an example, Zwahlen, Adams and DeBald (1988) developed a guideline for determining what displays are unsafe based on the probability of lane exceedance measurements. The results for the Kurokawa and Wierwille study would be considered acceptable based on these guidelines. However, these guidelines may not take into account that drivers can orient with their peripheral vision. What the visual system is not good at in the periphery is detecting and recognizing spatially localized targets.

Although the approach used by Zwahlen et al. (1988) is valid and useful, it seems that the safety criteria for HUDs need to be based on the time to detect, recognize and respond to external targets. For example, when plotting average glance duration on the y-axis and total number of looks to acquire information on the x-axis (as in Zwahlen et al., 1988), acceptable/unacceptable criteria could be based on probability of detection of external targets. However, a more stringent criterion would be the probability that the driver would respond in time to avoid a pre-defined imminent collision scenario; namely, an external target comes into view during the time that the driver is acquiring information from the HUD. Aside from the safety implications, this performance-based safety analysis could also be used to quantify the HUD advantage relative to HDDs on several dimensions within a single graph. One unique approach to eliminating visual clutter is to take advantage of parallel processing on auditory channels. As an alternative to collision avoidance systems based on visual presentation, it may be possible to take advantage of auditory spatial localization (Sorkin, Wightman, Kistler and Elvers, 1989). More recently, Begault (1993) demonstrated that visual search time can be significantly reduced (2.2 second faster search time) with the aid of a 3-dimensional auditory cue, when compared to a search with a monaural warning.

**Virtual image distance:** Surprisingly little research has addressed the issue of an appropriate virtual image distance. Although most studies compare performance for at least two different distances (HUD vs. HDD), many of the studies do not use actual HUDs in their experiments. Instead, many researchers use "simulated HUDs" in which the HUD symbology is digitally (as opposed to optically) superimposed on the graphics image for the forward scene. Simulated HUDs control for accommodation effects when addressing issues such as attentional tunnelling, cognitive switching and other more central limitations to information processing. The choice of virtual image distance for automotive HUDs is a critical design issue because: (1) normal reductions in accommodative range with age will limit the range of virtual image distances that older drivers can use efficiently and (2) the driver population is aging.

Two studies (Inuzuka, Osumi and Shinkai, 1991; Kato, Ito, Shima, Imaizumi and Shibata, 1992) assessed age effects on recognition time at virtual image distances from 1 to 5 meters. Although recognition times were always higher for older drivers, recognition times began to increase at virtual image distances closer than 2.5 m. Virtual image distances greater than 2.5 meters appeared to meet the needs of older drivers. Although not measured, this effect is attributed to the increased latency to make accommodative adjustments.

Almost all of the HUDs designed for automotive use are not collimated (see Appendix B). Unfortunately, the rationale for this is unknown. If it is true, as Weintraub and Ensing (1992) suggest, that automotive HUDs will always be used as a secondary information source, then HUD symbology should not be centered in the driver's forward field of view. Consequently, the HUD symbology should appear at a virtual image distance corresponding roughly to the distance to the background upon which it is superimposed (roughly 2 m). In other words, it is possible that the design virtual image distance is restricted by the choice of spatial location (azimuth and elevation) of the image. Thus, the rationale behind the choice of virtual image distance may be determined by the rationale behind the choice of spatial location of the HUD imagery.

The rationale behind the choice for image location will be discussed in more detail later. One factor that determines image location is driver preference. The placement of HUD symbology outside of central vision is preferred by most drivers (Inuzuka, Osumi and Shinkai, 1991; Weihrauch, Meloeny and Goesch, 1989). Although peripherally-located HUD symbology is acceptable for display of certain types of information (such as speed, gas gauge or vehicle indicator icons), it is not the optimal location for the display of conformal symbology. The benefits of conformal symbology (discussed in detail below) are maximized when: (1) the imagery is collimated (Weintraub and Ensing, 1992) and (2) the symbology is perceived as a single field of visual information (Naish, 1964). Contrary to studies demonstrating conformal symbology enhances operator performance (Long and Wickens, 1994), two studies investigating automotive applications of conformal symbology (specifically, vision enhancement systems or

VES) reported either no change or poorer performance. Bossi, Ward and Parkes (1994) showed that detection of peripheral targets was poorer in the presence of a simulated VES. The detection was particularly disrupted at eccentricities closer to the VES. Ward, Stapleton and Parkes (1994) also found no benefits of VES on (1) RT to detect a pedestrian, (2) mental workload or (3) speed variability. These results support an explanation based on attentional tunneling in which the focus of attention is reduced (Ward & Parkes, 1994).

The research findings to-date do not support the notion that the forward line of sight is the optimal location for HUD imagery. This is based on preference data as well as visual performance with wnformal symbology. 'Assuming these results to be veridical, this constrains the virtual image distance. Until further results support the location of HUD imagery in the forward line of sight as optimal, automotive HUDs should not be collimated. Instead, virtual image distances should be located closer than optical infinity (i.e., less than 6 m). Combining this with the findings from accommodation research, virtual image distances of automotive HUDs should be in the range of 2.5 to 4 meters. This range of distances is expected to meet the needs of all drivers, particularly older drivers.

**Misaccommodation/misconvergence effects: The** "Mandelbaum effect" occurs when trying to view distant objects through nearer objects or surfaces. When interposed surfaces are located at different distances, the surface located closer to the observer's resting focus tends to dominate the accommodative response (Owens, 1979). The implication is that the edges of the HUD combiner will tend to draw accommodation (termed "convergence-accommodation traps" by Weintraub and Ensing, 1992, p. 98). This, in turn, would reduce resolution for both HUD imagery (since the virtual image is in focus beyond the distance of the combiner) and the external scene. Combiner edges can be eliminated by using the windshield as the combiner. Even in the absence of combiner edges, however, the potential for automotive HUDs to "trap" accommodation may exist because the virtual image distances are typically closer to the mean resting position of accommodation (or 1.5 diopters which corresponds to 67 cm) measured by Leibowitz and Owens (1975). The authors are unaware of any research that demonstrates the extent to which the Mandelbaum effect is a factor when resolving HUD symbology.

Another effect that misaccommodation and misconvergence can have is on size perception. Size constancy is the ability to perceive objects as being the same size even though retinal image size changes dramatically with distance. Size constancy is maintained by the visual system using various depth cues, including cues derived from accommodation and vergence responses. If these cues are disrupted, size constancy is not maintained. This, in turn, would have negative consequences for speed and distance perception while driving. Roscoe (1982; 1987) and others have asserted that HUDs produce misaccommodation which in turn leads to misperceptions of size (the 'misaccommodation hypothesis'). Specifically, it is believed that HUDs induce a positive misaccommodation (i.e., observer focused to a distance nearer than optical infinity) which shrinks the apparent size of objects. Benel (1980) demonstrated that increases in accommodation (focus nearer) due to an interposed mesh screen were associated with decreases in perceived size (r = -.76). The implication is that if HUDs induce positive misaccommodation then size constancy will be disrupted. What is at issue here is the extent to which HUDs induce misaccommodation. Using an actual refractive HUD from a military aircraft (A-4) and an objective measure of accommodation, Sheehy and Gish (1991) were unable to demonstrate any misaccommodation attributable to viewing HUD symbology. Even if HUDs

do induce some misaccommodation, it is generally believed that any disruption of size constancy that results from this misaccommodation is negligible (Weintraub, 1987; Weintraub and Ensing, 1992; Biberman and Alluisi, 1992).

Size perception is also affected by vergence responses. It has been hypothesized that the edges of the combiner can cause misconvergence (or proximal vergence) as well as misaccommodation (Weintraub and Ensing, 1992). To demonstrate the extent to which accommodation-induced convergence affects size constancy, Jones and Good (1986) measured relative size changes after partially paralyzing accommodation of one eye (i.e., cycloplegia) using a drug called mydriacyl. Since only one eye was cyclopleged, a measure of relative size change was obtained by comparing the perceived size of a target (two dot separation) between the cyclopleged and non-cyclopleged eye. Accommodative convergence (i.e., accommodationinduced convergence in the absence of binocular disparity cues) was measured as well as relative size changes over time. As predicted, the perceived relative size decreased in the cyclopleged eve. This was accompanied by an increase in convergence induced by increased effort to accommodate the target. The important implication for viewing HUDs is that accommodative convergence only accounted for about 10% of the change required to completely account for size constancy. In short, if HUDs cause misconvergence and/or misaccommodation, the effects on size perception will be minimal even under worst case conditions; namely, under degraded stimulus conditions (low contrast, low ambient light level) or under extreme oculomotor fatigue.

**Binocular misalignment:** Binocular misalignment can negatively impact drivers in a number of ways. This occurs when a single object in the HUD image cannot be lined up on the retina with appropriate fixation due to distortions in the image. Although horizontal disparities up to 1 milliradian (or 3.4 minutes of arc) can be tolerated by the visual system, vertical disparities of this magnitude produce visual discomfort and diplopia (Gibson, 1980). This is because the visual system cannot make vertical vergence eye movements to fuse vertical disparities. Other visual affects that can result from binocular misalignment include visual/oculomotor fatigue, binocular rivalry (see Glossary) and headaches. There are also large individual differences in the tolerance for binocular disparities.

Certain HUD designs are more susceptible to binocular misalignment problems. Iino, Otsuka and Suzuki (1988) discuss the design of a HUD that uses the windshield as the combiner. Although this approach has the advantage of maximizing transmittance of the forward driving scene, one significant disadvantage is that it can introduce vertical and horizontal disparities due to the curvature of the windshield. Iino et al. (1988) designed a special prism to correct for disparities. To implement this design in other vehicles, the prism would have to be specially designed for each type of windshield. Even for the same vehicle, the prism would need to be modified (or at least mounted in the HUD differently) for cars manufactured with left-mounted steering wheels.

**Luminance contrast requirements:** Backgrounds for automotive HUDs are very dynamic which increases the probability that contrast interference will occur. Superimposing HUD imagery on the hood tends to reduce these effects. However, Inuzuka et al. (1991) point out that even the hood is a dynamic background. They observed problems viewing HUD imagery against different hood colors and in the presence of reflections off of the hood (especially when

the hood was wet). Also, some cars have hood lines that are very low in the visual field (i.e., lower than 10 degrees). Thus, the background of HUD imagery in these vehicles is likely to be the road surface. In any event, the luminance contrast requirements of HUDs is complicated by the fact that there is a large range of backgrounds onto which HUD symbology will be superimposed.

Rogers, Spiker and Cicinelli (1986) assessed contrast requirements for a range of ambient light levels using two different legibility criteria: threshold legibility (just detectable gap in Landolt Cs) and comfort legibility (clearly detectable gap). At a background luminance of 13.7  $cd/m^2$  (4 ftL), neither measure of legibility revealed a significant difference when comparing 4: 1 and 8:1 contrast ratios. At the moderate ambient light levels (96 to 418  $cd/m^2$ ), asymptotic performance was reached at a contrast of around 1.2 to 1.5. It was also noted that stroke symbology was highly superior to raster-scan symbols (no explanation for this effect was given). The authors conclude that lower luminance contrasts (1.5: 1 at 96  $cd/m^2$  background luminance versus 4: 1 at 13.7  $cd/m^2$  background luminance) produce asymptotic legibility performance as background luminance increases. Study 3 of this report investigated the effect of adaptation mismatch. This is analogous to what would happen at night while trying to view HUD symbology against oncoming headlights. The conclusion from Study 3 is that if the display and adapting luminances do not differ by more than a factor of 100 (2 orders of magnitude) then recovery is almost immediate.

**HUD contrast and cognitive capture:** There are no studies that have assessed the relationship between the contrast of HUD symbology and the potential for cognitive capture. However, there are studies of visual warning signals that may have implications for cognitive capture. In general, a visual warning signal is effective if it has the following attributes (from Guidelines in the Engineering Data Compendium, 1988):

- 1) At least 2 times brighter than surrounding signals.
- 2) Less than 15 degrees eccentricity for high-priority signals.
- 3) Must subtend at least 1 degree of visual angle.
- 4) Flashing against a steady background.
- 5) High-priority signals should be colored red.

It is clear that the guidelines described above were intended for display panels in which the "signals" are other indicators. It is not clear how to relate this recommendation to HUDs since salience of warning signals must be defined relative to external as well as HUD signals. Thus, there are two contrasts that influence the salience of warning signals: (1) Warning signal brightness relative to other HUD symbology and (2) Warning signal brightness relative to external road scene. Although HUD-to-road contrast should be high (roughly 3: 1) for warning signals, it is not desirable to use high contrast for lower priority symbology. One recommendation might be to use the range of acceptable contrasts at a particular ambient light level for different types of symbology.

The guidelines also recommend that high-priority alerting signals be coupled with an auditory warning signal. This may be particularly useful when HUDs are viewed against bright backgrounds because it may be impossible to present a visual warning signal that is twice the luminance of the background (i.e., a luminance contrast of 3: 1). For example, assuming a

maximum HUD luminance of 5139 cd/m<sup>2</sup> (this is the specification for the DataVision HUD), then the maximum background luminance upon which a contrast of 3:1 can be presented to an observer is 2570 cd/m<sup>2</sup>.

**Spatial location:** Iino, Otsuka and Suzuki (1988) measured reading times for a conventional HDIP and 3 HUD positions: centered in forward field of view, 10 degrees left and 20 degrees left. The other independent variable was vehicle speed. For vehicle speeds below 70 km/h, reading times did not vary among the 4 different displays. Above 70 km/h, two trends appear noteworthy: (1) reading times were always slower for the HDIP and (2) the central HUD reading times were always shorter and the difference was more pronounced at higher speeds. There were no pronounced differences for the 10 versus 20 degree HUDs They also measured observations of the front HUD for an alert driver and a drowsy driver. For one 30-second sample of external road scene vs. HUD observations, the drowsy driver spent twice as long (6.6 seconds) looking at the HUD compared to an alert driver (3.3 seconds). Although details about their methodology were not specified, their findings support the notion that cognitive capture due to HUDs is more likely for drowsy drivers.

Weihrauch, Meloeny and Goesch (1989) concluded that the optimal display location is centered in the forward field of view and 8 degrees below the line of sight based on subjective preference data only. To further assess the utility of HUDs, objective measures (steering variability and obstacle detection) were used to compare HDD vs. HUD performance. There was a 90 msec HUD advantage for obstacle detection and a 1.2 inch reduction in steering variability when viewing the HUD (steering variability was 1.3 feet with the HUD and 1.4 feet with HDD). Although statistically significant, these HUD advantages are of questionable operational significance.

Similar to the Iino et al. (1988) study, Inzuka, Osumi and Shinkai (1991) assessed optimal location using subjective ratings of 6 males. They determined the area within which drivers assessed the HUD imagery as "annoying". Based on these results they recommend that HUD imagery be located between 6 to 10 degrees down and between 8 degrees left to 5 degrees right. As a validation of this recommendation, in Study 5 they assess the HUD advantage (located 8.5 degrees left, 6.5 degrees below and 2 m viewing distance) compared to a conventional HDD (center, 18 degrees below and .8 m viewing distance). The subjects were young (three aged 24-32 years) and middle-aged (three aged 48-59 years). The dependent measure, recognition time, was the time to acquire digital speed information. There was roughly a 100 msec HUD advantage for all conditions of vehicle speed (40, 70 and 100 km/h) for both subject age groups. Age did not have a significant effect on recognition times for the limited age range included in this study.

Isomura, Kamiya and Hamatani (1993) manipulated the peripheral location of a task. They demonstrated that information processing among central and peripheral tasks is traded off. At peripheral viewing angles of 10 to 40 degrees the central task degrades performance on the peripheral task when: 1) the central task is more demanding and 2) the peripheral task is more than about 30 degrees from the foveal task.

Fukano, Okabayashi and Sakata (1994) evaluated angles of depression for a HUD from 10 to 40 degrees down and two lateral positions, i.e., center of driver forward view and center

of car (no angles were reported for lateral position). They used a dual-task paradigm in which the primary task was a recognition task (detect and respond only to black 20 mrad diameter circles and ignore 20 mrad x 20 mrad black squares) and the secondary task was a tracking task (simulated radio tuning task). Data were obtained for only two subjects. Data at two HUD locations were presented: 10 and 40 degrees below forward field of view. The results show performance tradeoffs primarily when the HUD was located 40 degrees down. Specifically, performance on the secondary radio-tracking task was degraded more when presented at the 40 degree down location. The primary task performance did not change significantly. Fukano et al. are recommending HUDs be located no further than 10 degrees from the fovea when looking straight ahead.

Foyle, McCann, Sanford and Schwirzke (1993) varied the location of a graphic HUD (i.e., HUD task generated graphically) in relation to a pictorial path following task which simulated flying. Although the primary application of this study is to pilots, the results have implications for automotive HUD locations. The graphic HUD information was displaced from the forward line of sight by 0 degrees (roughly overlapping the path task), 8.14 degrees and 16.28 degrees (displacement was diagonally upward on the display). The dependent measures were RMSE for altitude and path. The graphic HUD contained an altitude indicator. As predicted, the presence of the graphic HUD altitude reduced RMSE for altitude at all locations compared to absence of HUD. Interestingly, path performance was poorer when the graphic HUD was at the lower (0 degree separation) position. The alternative explanation for this effect based on masking was ruled out in a second experiment where irrelevant information (dynamic digital compass or static 2 digit display) presented in the same location produced no RMSE path increase. The findings were attributed to attentional tunneling which is a failure to switch attention between separate objects. Regardless of the underlying mechanism(s), the results do demonstrate interference with the primary path tracking task when the HUD information was located close to the primary task. The results cannot be completely explained based on an altitude/path performance tradeoff since path performance was unaffected in the first experiment for the 2 most displaced HUD locations. To determine if the attentional tunneling hypothesis is correct, eye movements would need to be monitored. As the authors suggest, subjects may have been fixating and/or attending to the graphic HUD more often when it was closer. It would also be of interest to manipulate workload. Under high path (higher frequency and amplitude of simulated wind disturbances) workload, subjects might exert more effort to perform the path tracking and therefore ignore the graphic HUD regardless of its spatial location.

The Foyle et al. (1993) study is unique in that it is the only study among those cited in this section demonstrating a performance-based HUD disadvantage for centrally-located (0 degree azimuth and elevation) symbology. Weihrauch et al. (1989) and Inzuka et al. (1991) obtained subjective preference data to support this conclusion. Based on the studies cited, it appears that 6 to 10 degrees below the line of sight is the range of optimal HUD locations. HUD symbology located less than 6 degrees from the line of sight may provide some benefit to drivers under certain conditions (Iino et al., 1988); however, the research does not provide a systematic basis for predicting the conditions under which centrally-located HUDs benefit drivers.

**Cognitive capture and HUDs:** Neisser and Becklen (1975) and Becklen and Cervone (1983) demonstrated that optically superimposed video sources cannot be processed in parallel. Specifically, subjects in these studies did not notice critical, unexpected events in the unattended video even though they were spatially superimposed and the subjects were well-practiced on the task. The findings from these studies demonstrate the phenomenon of cognitive capture which is operationally defined as the inefficiency or absence of passive or active cognitive switching. The mechanisms that underlie cognitive capture will be discussed in the following section (titled *"Attention, mental workload and cognitive capture"*). What follows is a review of research on the nature of cognitive capture when using HUDs.

Early evidence for cognitive capture was found in a NASA-Ames study (Fischer, Haines and Price, 1980). Responses to an unexpected event (a wide-body airplane taxiing into the runway) took longer to detect when using a HUD (mean RT = 4.13 sec) than when using a conventional HDIP (mean RT = 1.75 sec). In fact, 2 out of 8 pilots did not detect the airplane in the runway at all (their RTs were 6 secs, which was the exposure time of the plane). Weintraub, Haines and Randle (1985) replicated this finding using a similar unexpected event; namely, 6 out of 8 pilots did not notice the jetliner taxiing onto the runway on the last trial. As further evidence in support of the cognitive capture hypothesis, Larish & Wickens (1991) report an interaction of workload (simulated levels of turbulence) with HUD vs. HDD. Attention to HUDs resulted in a 7 second longer RT (compared to HDD) in responding to an unexpected event during high workload. Wickens, Martin-Emerson and Larish (1993) repeated this study using a high-fidelity simulation environment. In this experiment, workload had no significant effect. Overall, there was a HUD advantage on lateral tracking performance and airspeed error. Although Wickens et al. (1993) found the same tendency for longer RTs to an unexpected event when attending to a HUD (6.2 seconds longer for HUD than HDD), the location effect (i.e., HUD vs. HDD) was not statistically significant.

Wickens, et al. (1993) attributed their failure to replicate previous findings of cognitive capture with HUDs to the existence of higher visual realism in their study compared to earlier studies in which static images were used. However, careful examination of the RTs from Larish & Wickens (1991) and Wickens et al. (1993) suggests an alternative hypothesis. The results of the two studies were compared for RTs to the unexpected far target at the HDD and HUD locations. The largest RT difference between the studies is for the HDD location: 16.25 seconds for Wickens et al. versus 13.1 seconds for Larish & Wickens). This is consistent with the fact that the HDD in Wickens et al. was placed 8.5 degrees down whereas the HDD in Larish and Wickens was 24.7 degrees down. In other words, the HDD in Wickens et al. (1993) may have been more susceptible to cognitive capture due to the smaller spatial separation and thereby minimizing the RT difference HU vs. HD. Research on the effect of spatial location/separation on cognitive capture is needed to resolve this apparent discrepancy.

Sojourner and Antin (1990) did not find any evidence of cognitive capture. They assessed performance in a simulated driving task in which subjects monitored a digital speedometer (head-up or head-down), detected peripheral targets and detected navigation errors along a route memorized prior to a trial. Observers performed equally well on the speed monitoring and navigation tasks regardless of display location. However, for salient cue detection, RTs were 440 msec faster head-up than head-down. Note that the temporal uncertainty (how accurately subjects can guess when targets will occur) of the peripheral cues

in this study was not nearly as high as in experiments presenting single trial, unexpected events (Fischer, Haines and Price, 1980; Weintraub, Haines and Randle, 1985; Larish and Wickens, 1991). Another finding from this study is that salient cue RT was faster when located closer to the HUD speedometer. This is contrary to predictions based on data from Foyle, McCann, Sanford and Schwirzke (1993) in which RMSE path was higher when the graphic HUD altitude display was closer to the central tracking task. This apparent discrepancy could have been due to differences in workload characteristics of the primary (i.e., speed tracking in Sojourner and Antin study vs. path tracking in Foyle et al. study) and secondary (i.e., salient cue detection with relatively low spatial/temporal uncertainty in Sojourner and Antin study vs. altitude tracking with graphic HUD information in Foyle et al. study) tasks. Also, subjects may have been using different resource allocation strategies. In the Sojourner and Antin study, speed monitoring performance was perfect in the HU condition and nearly perfect in the HD condition (82 out of 90 speed violations detected). In comparison, Foyle et al. demonstrated task variability on both primary and secondary tasks.

Some overall conclusions can be drawn from this research. First, HUDs are likely to only capture attention from an external target under high workload and high temporal uncertainty (i.e., low expectation of an event). Secondly, the causes of cognitive capture need to be investigated. There is some suggestion that HUD-induced cognitive capture will be manifested under high temporal uncertainty which was not systematically manipulated in any of the studies. The following studies investigate possible causes and means to eliminate cognitive capture.

A number of studies from researchers at NASA-Ames have investigated the potential for attention problems when using HUDs. It is believed that cognitive capture results because observers develop inefficient attentional switching strategies in the presence of HUDs. Assuming that an attentional switch is required to acquire information from the 'far domain' (i.e., the forward driving scene) after attending to the 'near domain' (i.e., the HUD), cognitive capture of HUDs occurs when performance on the 'far' task (i.e., missed targets, slower RT) is degraded in the presence of HUDs.

Evidence for cognitive switching in an aviation HUD study was obtained by McCann, Foyle and Johnston (1993), who measured RT to cued targets. The targets were either a stop sign (indicating it is unsafe to land) or a diamond (indicating it is safe to land). They varied the cue location (HUD or runway) and relevant target location (HUD or runway). On WITHIN trials (i.e., cue and target were presented in the same domain: either both HUD or both runway), RT was shorter (average for RTs on WITHIN trials was about 1250 msec) than on BETWEEN trials (cue and target presented in different domains). For BETWEEN trials, median RT for cue on HUD/target on runway was 1400 msec and median RT for cue on runway/target on HUD was about 1340 msec. The 150 msec switching cost (HUD to runway switch; i.e., 1400 minus 1250) demonstrated in this experiment is not meant to be interpreted as an absolute measure of performance outside the laboratory. In a driving situation, after all, there are no cues to tell drivers when to switch their attention. The purpose of this experiment was to demonstrate a cost of attentional switching.

Attention switching appears be one mechanism underlying attentional limits when using HBIDS. Once the switch takes place, McCann et al. (1993) also determined what happens to the information in the unattended domain. This was assessed by presenting a congruent (distractor

and target associated with same response) or an incongruent (distractor and target signal associated with different responses) distractor target. If information in the unattended domain is processed, RTs with congruent distractors should be faster than with incongruent distractors. Alternatively, if information in the unattended domain is not processed, no interference will result and the congruency effect is eliminated. As predicted, there was no congruency effect for distractors presented in the other domain on WITHIN trials. In other words, information on the unattended channel was not processed. This study suggests that three possible mechanisms underlie cognitive capture with HUDs (1) HUD information is not processed in parallel with external scenes, (2) there is a consequent RT cost associated with switching attention across information sources; and (3) the unattended domain (either 'far' or 'near') does not appear to be processed.

McCann et al. (1993) also found some support for an asymmetry in switching cost: RTs were slower switching from HUD-to-runway than runway-to-HUD. Support for this asymmetry was obtained in an experiment by McCann, Lynch, Foyle and Johnston, 1993. They measured performance on WITHIN and BETWEEN trials in the presence or absence of differential motion cues from the runway scene. In the presence of motion cues, they obtained the same interaction noted earlier (i.e., WITHIN trials faster than BETWEEN). Without motion cues to segregate 'near' (HUD) from 'far' (runway) domains, the BETWEEN trial increase in RT was present only for HUD-to-runway trials. This asymmetry suggests that the HUD is a more efficient attention-getting stimulus than the runway without motion cues.

The cognitive switching hypothesis suggests a possible basis for eliminating cognitive capture effects attributable to HUDs. If the HUD symbology can be perceived as conforming to the outside scene, then there is no longer a need to switch attention from far to near tasks. Conformal symbology does seem to reduce HUD-induced performance degradations on far domain tasks. Naish (1964) demonstrated that conformal (also called contact analogue) symbology leads to benefits in terms of training time and performance on concurrent tasks typical of flying. More recently, Foyle, Sanford and McCann (1991) and McCann and Foyle (1994) measured performance enhancements on a simulated flying task. In the experiments, altitude and path RMSE were measured with and without a simulated HUD. The symbology on the HUD consisted of either high pictorial (altitude cues from scene-linked, virtual buildings) or low pictorial (fewer altitude. Interestingly, the RMSE for path with high pictorial cues was not degraded. The implication is that if HUD symbology can be made to produce scene-linked cues, information can be processed in parallel with no attentional deficits.

There have been a few exceptions to the benefit of conformal symbology. Comparing traditional symbology (e.g., glideslope and localizer are relative to an aircraft symbol, which is partially conformal) with conformal (fully conformal, i.e., symbolic runway is referenced to world) symbology, Martin-Emerson and Wickens (1993) found that lateral tracking was much worse with conformal symbology. After careful consideration of the two display types, it was hypothesized that the poorer conformal performance was due to the fact that lateral alignment with the conformal symbology can only be achieved when vertical errors are small. This hypothesis is currently under investigation.

Long and Wickens (1994) suggest that conformal symbology may only benefit drivers in the absence of visual clutter. In fact, visual clutter was shown to produce poorer performance head-up than head-down. To reduce the impact of visual clutter on the processing of HUD information, HUDs can be viewed peripherally with minimal performance decrements. Research by Martin-Emerson and Wickens (1992) indicates that if displays are located within 6.4 degrees of the fovea there will be no significant performance decrements due to increased scanning. Therefore, to maximize the benefits of conformal symbology and minimize the effects of visual clutter, some types of conformal symbology can be placed peripherally but should be located no further than 6.4 degrees from fixation.

The applications of conformal symbology to automobile HUDs was studied by Ward, Stapleton and Parkes, 1994. This study showed either no benefits (RT to detect a pedestrian; mental workload) or even performance decrements (speed variability) attributable to a contact analogue visual enhancement system for night driving. To some extent, this may have been due to insensitivity of the dependent measures. In retrospect, the authors suggest alternative measures that might have been more useful such as lanekeeping variability, speed and distance judgements. Even so, there were consistent performance decrements that were not explained. These decrements may be related to the use of near infrared image intensifiers to generate their VES imagery which are inherently noisy (due primarily to photon noise), low-resolution images. Another problem with using infrared image intensifiers to enhance the driving scene is that the driver has to relearn fundamental perceptual processes; for example, assumptions about target distance based on contrast and size are sometimes reversed in intensified imagery. For this particular experiment, more practice should have been given to observers on the road and in the laboratory. In the laboratory, terrain boards are used to efficiently demonstrate how depth perception is disrupted when viewing infrared intensified images. Even if the observers had been adequately trained, the practical implication of a necessity to train drivers is that it will significantly limit the acceptance/utility of this type of technology to a small, specialized subset of the driving population.

An alternative approach for displaying route guidance information would be to take advantage of global positioning system (GPS) technology to produce conformal symbology overlays. As GPS applications become more widespread, it may be possible to use this technology to present the driver with conformal symbology such as turn arrows embedded within the driving scene, highlighting of landmarks, or even the overlay of lane markings. In addition, McCann and Foyle (1994) recommend the use of 'virtual billboards' to display speed, current location and other relevant traffic information. This would require the GPS system to locate blank, black backgrounds onto which HUD symbology would be overlaid. This would eliminate visual clutter and eliminate the propensity for cognitive capture since it would be perceived as part of the external scene. There are clear advantages to this approach but there remain a number of technological and cost issues.

**Attention, mental workload, and cognitive capture: The** operational definition of cognitive capture provided in the Glossary does not identify any underlying attention mechanisms. This is due largely to the assumption that cognitive capture, whether attributable to inefficiency of "early" or "late" attention switching, has the same consequences for drivers; namely, degraded performance on primary driving tasks. Poorer performance is not limited to any particular dependent measure. Essentially, cognitive capture is manifested **whenever** 

switching between the secondary task (i.e., HUD or other in-vehicle display) and the primary task (i.e., scanning the external road scene) is less efficient **or** does not occur. For example, a longer RT for HUD-to-external-target transitions compared to an appropriate baseline RT (i.e., HDD-to-external-target transitions) **or** missed external targets are both manifestations of cognitive capture. Thus, it is not assumed that cognitive capture is either a "passive" or an "active" orienting of attention, even though the word "capture" might imply a passive process. Research on the allocation of attention is discussed below to better understand the conditions under which cognitive capture can occur. Of particular interest are studies investigating age-related effects on the efficiency of attention switching.

To identify the causes of cognitive capture, a distinction needs to be made between the allocation of attention and mental workload. Cognitive capture is typically viewed as a limitation of attentional allocation. However, an alternative hypothesis based on changes in mental workload can often be used to make the same predictions. The distinction is important because of the implications for HUD design. For example, assume that a study used only one "high" workload condition for both HUD and HDD displays, that the only difference between the displays was their spatial location, and that single-task performance was the same for both displays. Since workload was not varied, a dual-task decrement for the HUD can be attributed to inefficiency at any level in the information processing task. If a low workload condition had been included and a dual-task HUD decrement existed even under low workload, then "early" interference is the most likely cause (perhaps attributable to contrast interference). Since the low workload condition was not included, the latter possibility cannot be assessed. Unfortunately, the recommendations that are made based on the study findings depend upon the level of interference. As an example, "central" processing inefficiency might have implications for the amount and format of information displayed on HUDs whereas "early" processing inefficiency might have implications for the **spatial location and luminance contrast** of HUDs The three primary levels of interference that need to be identified in HUD studies are described below.

Three information processing stages are identified in the following discussion: (1) Encoding (E-level); (2) Cognitive (C-level); and (3) Response (R-level). Each level has many subdivisions; however, the level of specificity is adequate for understanding the interference effects that are expected from the current study. These levels can be identified using methodologies that allow inferences about the structure of underlying attention mechanisms involved in specific information processing tasks. One such method, the additive factors method (AFM), has been used (Stemberg, 1969; Sanders, 1980) to identify information processing stages by determining the relationship among various independent variables. One assumption of the AFM is that if two variables are additive in an ANOVA (i.e., main effects of each variable are significant and the interaction of the variables is not significant), then they are presumed to affect different processing stages. Specifically, if one variable increases the latency at one stage of the information processing task and another variable increases the latency at another level, then the latency increase should be additive. On the other hand, if two variables interact, then they are presumed to affect at least one processing stage in common. In other words, the effects of the two variables are multiplicative (i.e., overadditive interaction effect) since they are both increasing the latency of at least one common processing stage. If the processing stages overlap in time (i.e., stage 2 begins before stage 1 has completed), then underadditive effects can occur. The latter case presents difficulties for the AFM since various amounts of overlap can mask additive and overadditive effects. Although this limits the

usefulness of the AFM as a tool for uncovering the underlying structure of an information processing task, it does provide a convenient shorthand for conceptualizing the effects of independent variables on information processing.

At each processing stage, there is potential for interference. Whenever there are multiple sources of input and/or output for a particular stage, an internal mechanism is required to select among the alternatives for further processing. In many instances the internal mechanism is under conscious control. However, there are instances in which unattended information enters consciousness (e.g., the cocktail party phenomenon). This process of selecting inputs for processing and rejecting others is one type of attention allocation. The two main types of attention allocation of interest for the current study are described below and in the Glossary. In defining these attention strategies, an "input" can be either a sensory modality (e.g., visual or auditory), a mental operation (e.g., counting backwards in threes or mental rotation) or a feature within a sensory channel (e.g., a spatial location). Also, inputs are typically presented simultaneously:

(1) Selective attention: attending to some inputs while ignoring others.

(2) Divided attention: attending to two or more inputs that are active simultaneously.

Sustained attention (or vigilance) is considered a meta-category since it refers to the timespan of attention allocation (i.e., time-on-task) and can be either a divided or selective attention allocation. This process of selecting relevant information and rejecting irrelevant information involves a 'switching' mechanism, the efficiency of which is manifested in performance measures such as latency, accuracy and detection measures in a dual-task paradigm. The primary stages are described below along with the variables that have influences at each level of processing.

The first stage in the process is the encoding level (E-level). This stage is responsible for transduction and preprocessing of stimuli for all sense modalities. A few of the independent variables that affect the efficiency of this stage include:

- (1) stimulus features (e.g., luminance, contrast, exposure duration, color and size);
- (2) spatial location (e.g., central or peripheral)
- (3) sensory modality (e.g., visual, auditory, tactile)

The outputs of the E-level are pre-conscious representations of stimuli that can be selected for further processing or rejected. E-level interference can occur when any or all of the following conditions apply: (1) multiple inputs are attended; (2) targets are near threshold detection; (3) targets are embedded within "noisy" backgrounds. The interference is a result of optical (i.e., pre-retinal) or neural factors. For example, attending to an in-vehicle display (HUD) whose symbology spatially overlaps external targets while driving presents potential E-level interference in that targets that are spatially superimposed (i.e., contrast interference) or adjacent (spatial masking) tend to reduce the efficiency with which either stimulus is encoded. This interference can be somewhat reduced if the inputs are separated along one or more stimulus dimensions (i.e., spatial location and/or color) or presented in different sensory modalities (i.e., auditory).
Although auditory signals may reduce interference at the encoding stage, this does not preclude interference at other levels of processing. Suppose that an auditory signal is designed to indicate that 1 of 5 in-dash vehicle status indicators exceeds some critical level. In this situation, the driver would need to scan the in-dash displays to identify the problem. In essence, the auditory signal has modified the driver's visual search strategy from a driver-controlled (active or non-cued) to a vehicle-controlled (passive or cued) process. Although this may tend to reduce overall workload by reducing the number of visual scans to the in-dash displays, the resultant safety benefits, if any, are unclear. In general, it is somewhat risky to change driver behavior from active to passive since this creates a driver-dependency on hardware that may perform poorly or even fail. In the worst-case scenario, auditory signals may actually "waste" processing resources. For instance, in some collision avoidance systems a small percentage of auditory signals are false alarms. Although false alarms can be reduced, there is an inevitable tradeoff between false alarms and misses. Another human factors issue related to the use of auditory signals is the use of multiple auditory signals. Although research suggests that auditory signals can reduce driver workload relative to visual signals (Popp and Faerber, 1993), auditory signals are susceptible to interference when multiple auditory signals are presented simultaneously to drivers. Thus, E-level interference can be reduced by using separate sensory modalities but within each modality there is the potential for interference. Even if E-level interference is eliminated, interference can still occur in successive processing levels. Once the level of interference is isolated, countermeasures that eliminate or minimize the interference can be designed.

Following encoding, the cognitive level (C-level) selects inputs and represents the information at a conscious level. It is only through C-level processing that E-level representations of stimulus features can be selected for further processing and, in turn, be grouped into identifiable objects. C-level interference is manifested when targets are embedded in a scene containing multiple targets/distractors that cannot be distinguished automatically based on stimulus features alone (such as contrast, color or size). The following list includes independent variables that contribute to C-level interference in the current study:

- (1) number of targets and distractors (correlates with display and/or scene clutter)
- (2) stimulus uncertainty (e.g., unpredictable *what target* will appear)
- (3) temporal uncertainty (e.g., unpredictable **when target** will appear)
- (4) spatial uncertainty (e.g., unpredictable **where target** will appear)
- (5) discriminability of targets and distractors (e.g., "pop out" of highly salient stimuli)
- (6) relative event rate for far (i.e., road scene) and near (i.e., HUD) domains

All of these independent variables influence the efficiency with which relevant information can be acquired from various inputs. Therefore, it is believed that any laboratory manifestation of cognitive capture needs to incorporate a wide range of levels along one or more of these dimensions. To illustrate various situations in which cognitive capture would be expected, assume that a driver is viewing a HUD whose symbology spatially overlaps and is superimposed upon external road features. With conventional in-dash displays, the driver develops a search strategy which involves timing an overt eye/head movement away from the road scene to invehicle displays (Wierwille, 1993). With HUDs, the requirement for eye/head movements is reduced (or eliminated) but it **is** necessary to reallocate attention. This is a different type of search that can be characterized as a covert attention reallocation in the absence of an overt eye/head movements. The reallocation is based on higher-level representations than those that are available following E-level processing. C-level processing is required to separate far (road scene) and near (HUD) domains. Research suggests that switching between domains is necessary since it is impossible to process both simultaneously (Neisser and Becklen, 1975).

Anecdotal evidence for serial processing of superimposed stimuli can be obtained by observing ambiguous figures. These are figures that give rise to more than one perception. When viewing such a figure, each interpretation can be perceived but never simultaneously. The "switch" between interpretations is internal and is not guided by stimulus features alone. Interestingly, the "switch" is under conscious control and the efficiency of this "switch" increases with exposure. However, if a feature is added to the figure that eliminates the ambiguity, the alternative interpretation becomes more difficult to achieve (hysteresis effect). In effect, we have 'cognitively captured' one of the alternative interpretations. In a similar way, the efficiency of attention switching when viewing HUDs against road scenes depends on a number of stimulus parameters within far and near domains. For example, high event rates on the HUD, low discriminability of HUD messages and high uncertainty (temporal, spatial and stimulus) about external events would all be expected to increase the likelihood of cognitive capture. The largest demonstrations of cognitive capture have occurred under high workload and high temporal uncertainty.

The response level (R-level) in the information processing sequence involves: (1) the selection of the appropriate response from among a number of possible responses; (2) prioritizing multiple responses; and (3) response execution. The following variables influence the degree of interference at this level:

- (1) number of response alternatives
- (2) response uncertainty (e.g., unpredictable *what response* will be required)
- (3) temporal overlap of appropriate responses
- (4) stimulus-response mapping consistency

These variables represent conditions that pertain to typical driving conditions. Appropriate responses must be selected that often overlap temporally (i.e., braking and steering at a turn) and require immediate action (i.e., braking to avoid collision with lead vehicle). Stimulus-response mapping consistency is unique in that it applies to situations involving a change in the driver-vehicle interface. Inconsistent mapping is a potential problem with HUDs if the symbology of different HUDs is not designed to a consistent standard. Non-standardized HUD symbology design can lead to a reduced transfer of training (i.e., some relearning is required). An even more deleterious effect of inconsistent mapping is if well-learned responses have to be inhibited. Unfortunately, response inhibition of automatic responses is one aspect of skill acquisition that becomes more difficult with age (Korteling, 1994).

Although the 3 stages discussed above are described as sequential, the underlying processing is not assumed to be strictly serial. Not only do processing stages overlap in time (partial or even complete parallelism), there are instances in which the C- and/or R-level processing precede E-level processing. This occurs whenever a decision is made to fixate a different location of a visual scene. In this instance, the R-level (eye/head movement) precedes the E-level processing. Another way in which the stages are not serial is that most tasks provide

feedback. This feedback, in turn, can be used to evaluate performance and make appropriate response adjustments to meet task demands. As an example, negotiating a sharp curve involves comparing a response (steering wheel adjustments) against some objective safety criterion (staying in lane) and making appropriate steering and/or speed adjustments.

## Effect of HUDs on Driving Speed

Some opposition to automotive applications of HUDs has been based on the assertion that they will lead to drivers becoming overconfident which could lead to risky behaviors. This criticism is particularly relevant for vision enhancement systems (VES). VESs are supposed to extend visual performance beyond what would normally be possible while driving at night or through fog. One criticism of this technology is that any safety benefit will be offset by the fact that drivers feel safer and therefore drive faster. Ward et al. (1994) evaluated naturalistic speed choices with and without a night VES. Contrary to the concern that drivers would drive faster with VES, speed adjustments were actually lower with VES than without. Although there was a trend for speeds to increase on successive runs, on any given run mean speed with VES was always about 6 km/h slower than mean speed without VES. However, the speed variability was higher with VES than without VES along the same curved sections of the route .

Rutley (1975) reports data that suggest a safety benefit of HUDs; namely, the increased awareness of speed via a HUD speedometer is believed to have caused drivers to adhere to posted speed limits. Two more recent field studies did not find any difference in speed responses when using head-up versus head-down displays. Kiefer (1991) obtained this finding in spite of the fact that older (64-69 years) and younger (19-22 years) subjects glanced more frequently at the head-up display (indicating higher awareness and/or novelty) and spent more total time glancing at the HUD. However, when sampling vehicle speed, subjects spent 100 to 200 milliseconds less time in scanning the head-up than head-down digital speedometer. Older subjects took longer to look at both types of displays but there was no added benefit for older drivers. This may be related to the subjective questionnaire data in which 7 of the 8 subjects in the study preferred a head-up over a head-down digital speedometer. The reason they preferred the HUD speedometer was that it made it easier to maintain a desired speed. In agreement with the Kiefer results, Briziarelli and Allan (1989) showed no effect of a head-up speedometer on the mean speed of subjects. They also measured speed responses with and without speed adaptation (i.e., 25 miles of highway driving followed by .85 miles on a residential road) and on two different road types (residential and highway). The HUD had no effect on speed responses.

The overall conclusion from these studies is that if HUD speedometers do have an effect on the speed choices of drivers, the impact is small. Still, the HUD advantage in terms of time saved in acquiring information has been demonstrated by various researchers and may translate into larger advantages in an actual driving scenario where targets may be unexpected and the range of workload conditions is larger. Of course, a driver's need and/or willingness to monitor speed under 'extremely high' workload conditions is open to question. Future research needs to focus on better controls for overall workload and the timing of time-critical responses in studies of HUDs and speed choice.

### Implementation Issues for Automotive HUDs

Will automotive HUDs ever gain widespread acceptance? Perhaps the biggest impetus for automotive HUD development is the advent of ITS technology. Navigation instructions; motorist advisories for road conditions and accidents; vehicle status; weather and other types of information have been proposed for future ITS applications of HUDs. If this information is not presented in a well-designed HUD interface, driver information overload (DIO) will result. Conformal symbology is one means of minimizing DIO. For example, Fukano, Okabayashi, Sakata and Hatada (1994) have tested an "on-the-scene" HUD for navigation. In their display, the HUD overlays a directional arrow on the image of the road surface. Visual clutter of the driver's view of the driving scene is minimized because the HUD symbology conforms to the contour of the road surface. Arguably, ITS information that cannot be displayed in conformal format should be displayed head-down or on a second HUD that does not overlap the forward driving scene (such as the DUET display discussed previously). Conformal symbology has also been tested for enhancing safety under low visibility conditions (such as driving at night or in fog) using radar and infrared image intensification.

The research reviewed in this report demonstrates a number of advantages of conformal symbology for pilots as well as drivers, but it has yet to be demonstrated whether it is necessary or feasible to implement conformal symbology for automotive HUDs. Swift and Freeman (1986) point out that the cost of implementing HUDs even without contact analogue displays may be enough to limit the widespread use of automotive HUDs In their view, it may not be necessary to optically superimpose the HUD virtual image on the forward driving scene, much less to display navigational information using a conformal format. In fact, none of the navigational systems currently in existence use conformal symbology, yet the majority are reported to be effective for practiced users. Other issues that need to take precedence aside from cost are size and ease-of-use (i.e., optical alignments that are necessary to compensate for the range of eye heights and eye-to-combiner distances of drivers). To maximize the benefits of HUDs due to eves-on-the-road time and accommodation time. Swift and Freeman propose a collimated display whose images are located just above the dashboard. Their proposed design, termed the Instrument Head Level Infinity Display (IHLID), incorporates separate collimated units (each with 5 by 5 degree fields-of-view) located side-by-side on top of the dashboard with a large combined horizontal field-of-view.

Prior to widespread implementation, it will be necessary to evaluate various display formats. Zaidel (1991) has proposed the use of HUDs as "an alternative temporary display". The main idea is that information should not be displayed continuously. The driver should be able to display information only when he/she judges it safe to do so. For example, the HUD would normally be blank until the driver presses a button, or perhaps gives a verbal command, to display information. For warning information which does not require a request from the user, an auditory cue can be used to alert the driver. This approach has the added advantage that it minimizes visual clutter, thereby mitigating the need for contact analogue symbology.

### Summary and Critique of Current Findings and Recommendations

In general, there does not appear to be a large, robust HUD advantage, either for aviators or for drivers. The results are somewhat mixed as to whether, how much and when HUD

advantages are manifested. However, this is not altogether bad news for HUD proponents since this also suggests that there are no significant disadvantages of using HUDs. One possible exception is the propensity for cognitive capture when using HUDs, especially under high workload conditions and high temporal uncertainty for external events. Regardless of whether cognitive capture will manifest under actual driving conditions, various design recommendations have been suggested to minimize the potential for cognitive capture. A critical overview of this literature review is presented below, with a following discussion of implications for the design and testing of automotive HUDs:

- Virtual image distances should be between 2.5 to 4 meters from drivers' eyes. This is based on results suggesting that: (1) HUD symbology placed below the horizon will be superimposed on backgrounds in the range of 2 to 4 m and (2) recognition time (time to transition from 10 m to HUD distance and read digital speed) increases for older drivers when HUD imagery was located nearer than about 2.5 meters, which was attributed to presbyopia.
- For young observers. reaccommodation time-saved by presenting symbols head-up (i.e., optical infinity) versus head-down (i.e., optical distance of 1.33 D) is not statistically significant. In the Weintraub et al. (1985) study, subjects aged 19 to 27 made decisions about runway closure **prior to** reaching full reaccommodation which tended to minimize any performance benefit in terms of reaccommodation time-saved. Although depth-offocus (DOF) and resolution requirements were not assessed, these factors might account for their finding. DOF, which is related to pupil size, increases the range of focus errors over which targets are in focus on the retina. Related to DOF is the criterion used to judge image sharpness. In other, words, big targets require less accurate focus adjustments (i.e., higher DOF) than small targets (i.e., lower DOF). Since the targets used in the Weintraub et al. study did not place high demands on resolution, their results may be attributed to a high DOF for detecting critical features in the symbology used (see earlier discussion for details). Another shortcoming of this study is that older subjects were not tested. In short, reaccommodation time-saved with HUDs is presumed to benefit drivers (particularly older drivers) but the studies measuring accommodation to-date do not support this contention.
- <u>Eyes-on-the-road time is higher with HUD</u>s. Typically, effects for this measure are small (50 to 200 msec) and the magnitude of the HUD advantage has been shown to depend on factors such (1) static HUD location, (2) dynamic HUD location relative to fixation (such as driving on a straight versus a curved road) and (3) type of dependent measure (i.e., direct measure of eye movement scanning or recognition time). For direct eye movement measurements, the results are mixed as to whether there is a HUD advantage. If the dependent measure is mean time spent in a scan (i.e., roadway to HUD and back to roadway), head-up is better than head-down. However, if the measure is glance frequency (glances per minute to speedometer), head-down has a slight edge. The higher scans per minute head-up than head-down may be attributable to a novelty effect, since successive test sessions showed negligible differences HUD vs. HDD. Some caution should be used in interpreting these findings because eye movement data alone cannot determine what information a driver is actually processing (i.e., fixation location does not necessarily correspond with the focus of attention).

- Unlike HUDs currently in use by aviators, it is unlikely that automotive HUDs will be centered in the driver's field of view. Research suggests that drivers prefer to locate HUD symbology below the horizon and left or right (depends somewhat on whether HUD is designed for left- or right-mounted steering wheels) of straight ahead. This is also confirmed by the typical HUD locations in Appendix B. However, although peripherally-located HUDs are a consistent preference among drivers, two criticisms of these findings need to be addressed in future research. First, these findings consist of subjective preference data. Although user preferences are certainly important, they may not correlate with objective measures of performance **and/or with** actual use among experienced drivers. Secondly, the preferences were obtained for non-conformal, digital speed symbology. Thus, it is difficult to determine the extent to which subjective preferences are based on (1) low precedence for speed monitoring, (2) low tolerance for visual clutter and/or (3) perceived safety loss due to contrast interference.
- Even low levels of visual clutter can negatively impact performance. This finding appears to hold true for responses to information acquired from the HUD display and for responses to targets within the external scene. Conformal symbology for navigation information (Fukano et al., 1994) has been proposed as a means of reducing visual clutter since: (1) fewer HUD display elements (or pixels) would have to be illuminated to convey the same navigation information to drivers and (2) there is minimal contrast interference between the conformal symbology and critical detail in the forward road scene. In the Fukano et al. study, a directional arrow indicating where to turn was superimposed **in perspective** on the image of the road without occluding roadside features.
- Cognitive capture with HUDs is well-documented. but not inevitable. When performance is measured under high workload conditions **and** there is a high degree of temporal uncertainty (i.e., external target is unexpected), cognitive capture by a HUD is likely to occur. A number of design recommendations have been made to minimize the potential for cognitive capture under such conditions. For example, conformal symbology can potentially be used to reduce interference because it 'fuses' with the external scene. In other words, observers are effectively attending to one domain (called the far domain) because conformal symbology merges with the external scene. However, it should be noted that all of the studies that demonstrate a benefit of conformal symbology to-date have used graphic HUDs Ward, et al. (1994) were unable to demonstrate a benefit of conformal symbology (even conformal symbology) should be spatially separated from the forward driving scene. This would require refixation, but the amount of shift would be minimal. The extreme position is that there should be no overlap between HUD symbology and external scenes, as in the IHLID design.

The general conclusion from the review of the HUD literature is that the safety benefits of HUDs are generally small and in some instances HUDs produce poorer performance. Fortunately, almost all of the disadvantages found with HUDs can be attributed to inappropriate design of the HUD optics, symbology and/or the driver interface. The driver interface must allow the driver to have some executive control over the information content, location, rate and

onset. For example, it has been suggested that drivers be allowed to turn various information sources on/off independently. Because of the unique design issues associated with automotive HUD design and the relatively short time that they have been developed and tested, it is possible that future HUD designs will manifest larger and more robust benefits to drivers.

Rationale for peformance measurement: One justification for using a particular dependent measure is that it has implications for driver safety. Once it is determined that a particular measure of performance is safety-relevant, it is then necessary to establish a criterion that discriminates "safe" from "unsafe" performance. Similar to establishing a criterion for statistical significance, safety significance involves a priori determination of an objective criterion that divides "safe" from "unsafe" levels of performance, Although this clearly depends on operational conditions, the criterion may be established relative to a reasonable worst-case scenario. This safety criterion has not been addressed in any of the studies included in the review. Some studies of HUDs reporting statistically significant results may be of questionable safety relevance due to small effect sixes. RT differences between HUD and HDD conditions less than half a second may be statistically significant but may not be significant from a safety standpoint. On the other hand, a half second difference in a laboratory study may translate into a much larger, safety-relevant difference for a less vigilant driver. The latter possibility suggests that the laboratory-based findings are not generalizable to an actual driving situation. In any event, if it can be assumed that the magnitude of the effect is (1) statistically significant, (2) replicable and (3) ecologically valid, a subsequent analysis is needed to evaluate the safety implications of the study findings.

Based on an evaluation of studies investigating HUDs, the following hypotheses were generated to explain effects that were of questionable safety relevance:

- (1) <u>Automatic processing of sub-tasks</u>: one or both tasks in a dual-task paradigm are processed automatically.
- (2) <u>Insensitive denendent measures</u>: the dependent measure is not sensitive to dual-task decrements.
- (3) <u>Restricted range of independent variable</u>: levels of independent variable do not approach a range of test conditions (e.g., reasonable best-case to reasonable worst-case) defined with respect to the operational scenario to which the results are to be generalized.
- (4) <u>Low overlap of information processing demands</u>: single tasks place demands on information processing stages that do not overlap.

There are a few notable exceptions to the small effect size studies. Most notably, the Fisher et al. (1980), Larish and Wickens (1991) and Wickens et al. (1993) studies all report large RT increases for detecting unexpected events when processing HUD information during high workload conditions. It is important to note that these studies were conducted with aviation applications in mind. Thus, the extent to which the findings generalize to automobile applications of HUDs is unknown. As mentioned previously, there are many differences between the two types of HUDs. For example, aircraft HUDs display information to aviators

that may be monitored continuously and may even be considered primary sources of information. In contrast, there are fewer sources of information (e.g., perhaps heading and conformal symbology) that need to be presented to drivers continuously via HUDs. This has direct implications for investigating cognitive capture in automotive HUDs. Specifically, a "good" automotive HUD design does not present information to drivers continuously nor does it assume that the HUD is a primary information source.

Does this imply that cognitive capture when using HUDs is not a high priority safety issue for drivers? The research to-date does not provide a definitive answer to this question. Even so, there is reason to believe that cognitive capture when using **HUDs** is **likely** when high HUD workload is combined with high external target uncertainty (i.e., what to look for) and high external temporal uncertainty (i.e., when to look for target). Although these effects have not been investigated with older drivers, the propensity for cognitive capture would presumably be larger among older drivers. Korteling (1994) demonstrated that older drivers are particularly susceptible to dual-task interference when one of the tasks is new and involves the inhibition of well-learned, automatic responses. In the Korteling study, gas pedal polarity was either normal or reversed. Although the younger subjects showed no dual-task cost in the reversed gas pedal polarity condition, the older subjects exhibited significant dual-task costs. This was true even though subjects were given practice with all single- and dual-task conditions. These results support and extend previous findings of age-related declines in attention allocation among subtasks in dual-task situations. These findings suggest that older subjects may be more susceptible to cognitive capture via HUDs due to their novelty and potential interference at all levels of information processing. For younger observers, cognitive capture may be a relatively rare occurrence, especially within a laboratory experiment. However, the Korteling study includes extreme levels of uncertainty and workload that meet or exceed those of previous researchers demonstrating cognitive capture among well-trained, younger observers.

**Critique of laboratory studies using experimental-use-only HUDs:** A number of different experimental-use-only HUD designs have been used to study performance with HUDs in the laboratory. The common types are described below (and in the Glossary) as well as some of the significant advantages and disadvantages of each:

- (1) <u>Graphic HUD</u>: A real image of the HUD symbology is electronically superimposed on the external scene. Thus, the two images are displayed at the same distance because they are generated using a single CRT display. Advantages: (1) controls for accommodation/vergence effects; (2) low or no cost (depending on software/hardware used to display external scenes). Disadvantages: (1) cannot assess interactions among oculomotor mechanisms and attentional allocation; (2) limited generalizability to actual HUD use.
- (2) <u>Projected HUD</u>: HUD symbology is optically superimposed via a direct projection onto the surface displaying the external scene. Similar to the graphic HUD in that the external scene and the HUD symbology are at identical distances. Same advantages and disadvantages as for graphic HUD.
- (3) <u>Binocular mirrored HUD</u>: Similar to a fully-functional HUD except that there are no optics between the image source and the combiner (a large piece of plate

glass). Thus, the virtual image distance is equivalent to the source-to-eye distance. To obtain a minimum virtual image distance of 2.5 m, the image source would need to be located outside of the simulator cab. Advantages: (1) complete binocular overlap of HUD symbology; (2) low cost. Disadvantages: (1) bulky hardware setup; (2) virtual image distance not easily manipulated as an independent variable.

- (4) <u>Partial overlap mirrored HUD</u>: Similar to the binocular mirrored HUD except that the combiner is too small to allow maximum binocular overlap. Specifically, the right eye views the left half of the HUD symbology and the left eye views the right half of the HUD symbology. The amount of overlap depends on mirror width, interpupillary distance and distance to the mirror. Advantage: low cost. Disadvantage: depending on the amount of overlap, may produce binocular rivalry and/or fatigue symptoms.
- (5) <u>Monocular mirrored HUD</u>: HUD symbology is optically superimposed using a mirror positioned so that one eye can view the HUD symbology. Advantages:
  (1) low cost; (2) standard 100% reflecting mirrors can be used. Disadvantages:
  (1) due to monocular presentation, HUD symbology could become invisible intermittently due to binocular rivalry; (2) monocular viewing can cause headaches; (3) complex interactions of HUD brightness, external scene brightness and time course of binocular rivalry; (4) lower tolerance for misalignment.

All of these HUD designs share the common disadvantage that they bypass one or more design challenges that must be confronted in the design of any fully-functional automotive HUD. This is a serious limitation for any study in which safety is a high priority issue because there are optical design challenges that directly impact safety such as combiner transmittance and reflectance. Combiner reflectance can be increased to allow better visibility of HUD imagery during bright daylight but the visibility of external targets through the combiner will be degraded. Thus, the findings of studies that do not use a combiner (graphic and projected HUDs) may tend to overestimate the safety benefit of HUDs. In any event, the generalizability of the study findings is specious.

Safety-relevant laboratory studies must also consider tolerance for misalignment. Because of the limited FOV and small eye-box of most fielded HUDs, their tolerance for HUD/combiner misalignment is low. Misalignments can reduce binocular overlap, image quality and contrast of HUD symbology. Realizing the optimal alignment in practice is particularly difficult when considering the wide range of interpupillary distances and eye-heights among users. Some adjustments are required of all the HUDs described above (e.g., eye height). However, 3 of the 5 designs described above have **unrealistically high tolerances** for misalignment relative to fielded HUDs (namely, the graphic HUD, projected HUD and binocular mirrored HUD). Again, the implication is that the results of studies using one of the above designs will tend to overestimate any safety benefit of HUDs that can be realized by actual drivers using automotive HUDs.

Another practical constraint of fully-functional *HUDs* that has *indirect* safety implications is that the HUD must be compact in order to fit within the cab of a standard passenger car.

Compact size is accomplished by minimizing the optical path length using mirror and/or lens combinations. It is the addition of these optical elements that impacts safety by reducing image quality (i.e., contrast, background "glow", distortion and sharpness). To minimize reductions in image quality, most automotive HUD designers use reflective rather than refractive optics (cf. Glossary for these terms). Another implication of the compactness requirement is that the display itself must be small which places a limit on the type of display that can be used as well as the resolution of the display. Resolution, in turn, limits the minimum size of the text or graphics that can be displayed on the HUD.

When safety is a priority issue for laboratory studies of HUDs, the HUD must meet the following minimum requirements: (1) Optical superimposition: HUD symbology must be optically superimposed onto external scenes (or images used for a primary task) using a combiner that is spatially separate from external scene display; (2) See-through combiner: a combiner must be used that allows the user to see through it; (3) Compact: HUD must be capable of being configured within the cab of most automobiles; (4) Virtual image distance: minimum virtual image distance of 2.5 m; and (5) Binocular overlap there must be complete or partial overlap between the left and right eye views of the HUD symbology (i.e., not monocular). If these requirements are met then the study findings would be expected to have high external validity.

### Methodological Issues in Future HUD Research

Reliable assessment of HUD efficacy requires the development of a test methodology that predicts performance under reasonable worst-case conditions for HUDs; namely, (1) sample including older drivers with both visual limitations (20/40 acuity; presbyopia) and cognitive limitations (i.e., cognitive switching); (2) night driving test scenarios (i.e., low contrast external targets, perhaps with a drowsiness condition), (3) high mental workload conditions (such as when driving in an unfamiliar city in moderate to dense traffic); and (4) exposure to unexpected events that require a time-critical response (avoiding a roadway hazard or responding to a peripheral threat). Demonstrating an overall HUD advantage relative to a HDD control condition under these circumstances would provide compelling evidence for predicting a safety benefit from specified HUD applications. To maximize the sensitivity and generalizability of a laboratory-based HUD test protocol, the following requirements for the experimental setup are warranted:

- (1) <u>High Visual Realism</u>: If these tests are to be carried out in a laboratory setting for greater control and feasibility, the simulated driving scenario should have a high degree of visual realism. As an example of the importance of high fidelity imaging systems, Wickens, Martin-Emerson and Larish (1993) demonstrated larger HUD advantages than a previous study (Larish and Wickens, 1991) from the same lab. This was attributed to the higher visual realism provided in the simulation in the more recent study.
- (2) External (or Ecological) Validity of Dependent Measures: Test methodologies must assess a wide range of visual information processing tasks if laboratory results are to reliably predict actual driving performance. Standard acuity measures can be used to predict when a target can be detected under ideal

circumstances (i.e., if drivers know when a stimulus will occur, where it will be located spatially, and what the stimulus will be). However, an externally valid test methodology must incorporate variables that are sensitive to the higher-level cognitive abilities as well as the low-level sensory processes that are both important for overall driver performance.

- (3) <u>Variations in Workload</u>: As indicated previously, research suggests that cognitive capture may be manifested primarily under high workload conditions. Workload should be manipulated at multiple stages of information processing (i.e., sensory-to cognitive- to response-level workloads). Workload manipulations also should involve performance of multiple tasks performed concurrently by drivers.
- (4) <u>Assessment of Oculomotor Adjustments</u>: Various parameters of intraocular (i.e., accommodation) and extraocular (i.e., eye movements) adjustments have been assessed in HUD studies. Use of these measures which reflect the unobtrusive sampling of drivers' visual behavior, allows the development of operational definitions for workload, oculomotor fatigue, cognitive tunneling and various other phenomena related to visual information acquisition from HUDs.
- (5) <u>Links to Performance-Based Safety Criteria</u>: Automotive HUD research requires measuring performance on tasks that have definite safety implications for drivers. Acuity measures have inferred safety implications since a given acuity can be translated into a detectability distance for high contrast targets. This is different from a direct determination of the , minimum acuity required to drive safely which is not as straightforward. Potentially more useful is a measure of the safety of in-vehicle displays based on the relationship between glance duration/frequency to the display and the probability of lane exceedance (Zwahlen, Adams and DeBald, 1988). The lane exceedance criterion used by Zwahlen et al. has clear safety implications for drivers. This approach could be readily adapted using other safety criteria such as detectability.
- (6) <u>Practice/Skill/Training Issues</u>: One of the least recognized threats to external validity is inadequate preparation and training of subjects prior to the first experimental measurement. Although all subjects are experienced drivers, this does not guarantee transfer of training to a laboratory simulator. This is particularly important with respect to human factors issues with HUDs since most subjects have never used, or even seen, a HUD. Kiefer (1991) demonstrated asymptotic performance with HUDs only after the third of four experimental sessions.
- (7) <u>Selection Criteria for Experimental HUD</u>: One potential limitation of laboratorybased studies relates to the design of the HUD used in the experiment. A number of different configurations have been used among the cited laboratory studies. The appropriateness of a particular HUD design depends on the specific research questions that are of primary interest. For example, if the experimenter wishes to control for accommodative effects in order to investigate attention mechanisms,

the graphic HUD (defined in the Glossary) is an appropriate choice. If the ultimate goal is to address safety issues for HUD use then the following minimal requirements must be met (see detailed descriptions in previous section): (1) optical superimposition, (2) see-through combiner, (3) compact, (4) 2.5 m virtual image distance, (5) complete or partial binocular overlap.

To accomplish these methodological goals: (1) response times should be assessed for all tasks, (2) tasks should be chosen that are representative of the range of workloads that occur in driving scenarios, (3) eye movements should be assessed unobtrusively during the performance of all tasks, (4) all subjects should be practiced to asymptotic performance levels, and (5) a HUD meeting the criteria stated above should be used in the study. What follows are recommended methodological tools and the types of conclusions that can be drawn using these tools.

**Signal detection analysis and forced-choice paradigms:** Analyses based on signal detection theory (SDT) are used to separate sensitivity changes from criterion shifts. In some psychophysical methods, observers set a criterion in making decisions about the presence/absence of a particular stimulus. SDT assumes that these decisions are also made in the presence of internal noise. When a stimulus is presented, the internal noise and the signal are assumed to be additive. Near threshold, the noise distribution (N) and the signal + noise distributions (S+N) overlap. When there is overlap between N and S+N, changes in criterion produce both a change in the proportion of correct detection of signals (saying a stimulus is present when it is) and a concurrent change in the proportion of false alarms (saying a stimulus is present when in it is not), To separate sensitivity from criterion, a measure d' (or detectability index) is calculated which is the z-score for hits minus the z-score for false alarms.

In many cases, it is possible to use psychophysical methods that do not involve the observer setting a criterion. For example, in two-alternative forced choice the observer has to decide which of two target areas presented simultaneously (or sequentially) contain a target. They are forced to respond (for example, left or right) based on an external comparison of two or more target areas. Depending on the number of response alternatives, chance performance is defined as 1/n where n = the number of response alternatives. This test method makes it possible for observers to compare two external stimuli and does not require them to base their responses on an internal criterion.

**Assessing dual-task resource allocation:** Analogous to the way that SDT separates sensitivity from criterion shifts using receiver operator characteristic functions (ROCs) and d' analyses, dual-task performance and differences in resource allocation can be assessed using performance operating characteristics (POCs). This is calculated by taking the difference between single task performance on each task and the diagonal to the POC function.

Although none of the HUD studies included in this review have performed formal POC analyses, a number of studies have used dual-task methods. Typically, the results are not reported in such a way that resource allocation issues can be assessed. Thus, it is often difficult to determine the extent to which changes in performance are due to changes in resource allocation between the central/primary task and the HUD/secondary task. One exception to this is the study by Isomura et al. (1993) in which they plot primary task performance along the x-

axis and secondary task performance along the y-axis. These functions are plotted for 3 different eccentricities of the secondary task. Although there is clearly a decrease in dual-task efficiency at larger eccentricities, they do not perform any analyses to determine the concurrent cost.

**Objective measures of gaze direction:** Gaze must be assessed in order to answer questions such as when, how often, and how long subjects look at the HUD or the forward driving scene. For the most part, it can further be assumed that observers are attending to whatever it is they are looking at. However, if the HUD symbology happens to be in the same spatial location (depth, azimuth and elevation) as external targets, measures of gaze direction alone cannot be used to suggest what observers are attending to. Typically, other dependent measures are used to determine what information is being selected for processing. Still, eye movement measures will remain useful to determine the eyes-on-the-road time and for correlation with differences in performance measures for HDDs versus HUD conditions.

Eye movements have also been used to develop operational definitions of workload. Galley (1993) used eye movement measurements (electrooculogram or EOG) to assess workload while using a HUD. Workload was operationally defined as: (1) an increase in duration of inspection, (2) decrease in blink interval (time between blinks), (3) increase in the number of high amplitude saccades and (4) an increase in the saccadic velocity when looking away from a display. Based on these criteria, the HUD placed lower demands on subjects when compared to performance on a conventional HDD. A similar application of eye tracking data in future HUD research should be valuable.

# **Bibliography**

- Avolio, B., Kroeck, K. and Panek, P. (1985) Individual differences in information-processing ability as a predictor of motor vehicle accidents. <u>Human Factors</u>, 27(5), 577-587.
- Ayres, J. (1993) Multiple gauge analog projection heads-up display (SAE Special Publication SP-93/964; Paper 930549), Warrendale, PA: Society of Automotive Engineers, pp. 71-75.
- Barrow, K. (1991) Human Factors issues surrounding the implementation of in-vehicle navigation and information systems. (SAE Technical Paper Series No. 910870). Warrendale, PA: Society of Automotive Engineers, pp. 1243-1257.
- Becklen, R. & Cervone, D. (1983) Selective looking and the noticing of unexpected events. <u>Memory</u> <u>& Cognition</u>, 11, 601-608.
- Begault, D. (1993) Head-up auditory displays for traffic collision avoidance system advisories: a preliminary investigation. <u>Human Factors</u>, 35(4), 707-717.
- \* Benel, R. A. (1980) Vision through interposed surfaces: Implications for vehicle control. <u>Human</u> <u>factors in transport research</u>, 328-336.
- Biberman, L., and Alluisi, E. (1992) Pilot errors involving head-up displays (HUDs), helmet-mounted displays (HMDs), and night-vision goggles (NVGs). (IDA Technical Report P-2638). Alexandria, VA: Institute for Defense Analyses.
- \* Bossi, L., Ward, N., and Parkes, A. (1994) The effect of simulated vision enhancement systems on driver peripheral target detection and identification. <u>Ergonomics and Design</u>, 4, 192-195.
- \* Briziarelli, G., and Allan, R.W. (1989) The effect of a head-up speedometer on speeding behavior. <u>Perceptual and Motor Skills</u>, 69, 1171-1176.
- Burg, A. (1967) The relationship between vision test scores and driving record: General findings. Report 67-24. Department of Engineering, University of California, Los Angeles.
- Enderby, C.M. and Wood, S.T. (1992) Head-up display in automotive/aircraft applications. (SAE Technical Paper Series No. 920740).
- Engineering Data Compendium: Human Perception and Performance, edited by K. Boff and J. Lincoln (New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1988). Volumes I, II and III.
- \* Fisher, E. (1979) The role of cognitive switching in head-up displays (NASA Contractor Report 3137). NASA Ames Research Center.

<sup>\*</sup> Citation is included in Appendix A because it contains original experimental data with implications for automotive HUDs.

- \* Fisher, E., Haines, R., & Price, T. (1980) Cognitive issues in head-up displays (NASA Technical Paper 1711). Moffett Field, CA: NASA Ames Research Center.
- Flannagan, M., and Harrison, A. (1994) The effects of automobile head-up display location for younger and older drivers. Report No. UMTRI-94-22. Ann Arbor: The University of Michigan Transportation Research Institute.
- \* Foyle, D.C., Sanford, B.D. and McCann, R.S. (1991). Attentional issues in superimposed flight symbology. In R.S. Jensen (Ed.), <u>Proceedings of the Sixth International Symposium on Aviation</u> <u>Psychology</u>, 577-582. Columbus: Ohio State University.
- \* Foyle, D.C., McCann, R.S., Sanford, B.D. and Schwirzke, M.F.J. (1993). Attentional effects with superimposed symbology: Implications for head-up displays (HUD). *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society 37th Annual Meeting*, 1340-1344.
- \* Fukano, J., Okabayashi, S., Sakata, M., & Hatada, T. (1994) Automotive head-up displays for navigation use. *Proceedings of 14th International Technical Conference on Enhanced Safety of Vehicles,* Paper No. 94-S2-O-02.
- Galley, N. (1993) The evaluation of the electrooculogram as a psychophysical measuring instrument in the driver study of driver behaviour. Ergonomics, 36(9), 1063-1070.
- Gibson, C. (1980) Binocular disparity and head-up displays. Human Factors, 22(4), 435-444.
- \* Haines, R., Fischer, E, and Price, T. (1980) Head-up transition behavior of pilots with and without head-up display in simulated low-visibility approaches. (NASA Technical Paper 1720). Moffett Field, CA: NASA Ames Research Center.
- Hancock, P., Parasuraman, R. (1992) Human factors and safety in the design of Intelligent Vehicle-Highway Systems (IVHS). Journal of Safety Research, 23, 181-198.
- \* Iino, T., Otsuka, T., Suzuki, Y. (1988) Development of heads-up display for motor vehicle. <u>Automotive Electronic Displays and Information</u>, 15-23.
- \* Inzuka, Y., Osumi, Y., and Shinkai, H. (1991). Visibility of head up display for automobiles. **Proceedings of the 35th Annual Meeting of the Human Factors Society, 1574-1578.**
- \* Isomura, A., Kamiya, K., Hamatani, K. (1993) Driver's cognition in peripheral field of view. (SAE Technical Paper Series No. 93 1876). Warrendale, PA: Society of Automotive Engineers.
- Jones, R., and Good, G. (1986) Accommodative convergence micropsia: the effect of cycloplegia. <u>Binocular Vision</u>, 1(3), 135-140.

<sup>\*</sup> Citation is included in Appendix A because it contains original experimental data with implications for automotive HUDs.

- Kantowitz, B., & Weldon, M. (1985) On scaling performance operating characteristics: caveat emptor. <u>Human Factors</u>, 27(5), 53 1-547.
- Kaptein, N. (1994) Benefits of in-car head-up displays. TNO Human Factors Research Institute (TNO Report No.: TNO-TM 1994 B-20).
- \* Kato, H., Ito, H., Shima, J., Imaizumi, M. & Shibata, H. (1992) Development of hologram head-up display (SAE Technical Report Paper No. 920600). Warrendale, PA: Society of Automotive Engineers.
- \* Kiefer, R. (1991) Effect of a head-up versus head-down digital speedometer on visual sampling behavior and speed control performance during daytime automobile driving (SAE Technical Report Paper No. 910111). New York: Society of Automotive Engineers.
- Kiefer, R. & Angell, L. (1993) A comparison of the effects of an analog versus digital speedometer on driver performance in a task environment similar to driving. In A.G. Gale, I. Brown, C. Haselgrave, H. Kruysse and S. Taylor (Eds.), <u>Vision in Vehicles - TV</u> (pp. 283-290). Amsterdam: North-Holland.
- Korteling, J. (1994) Effects of aging, skill modification, and demand alternation on multiple-task performance. <u>Human Factors</u>, 36(1), 27-43.
- \* Kurokawa, K. & Wierwille, W. (1991) Effects of instrument panel clutter and control on visual demand and task *performance. Society for Information Display International Symposium Digest of Technical Papers*, XXII, 99- 102.
- \* Iarish, I., & Wickens, C. (1991) Attention and HUDs Flying in the dark? Society for Information Display international Symposium Digest of Technical Papers, XXII, 461-464.
- Leibowitz, H. and Owens, D. (1975) Night myopia and the intermediate dark focus of accommodation. Journal of the Optical Society of America. 65, 1125-28.
- \* Lloyd, C. & Reinhart, W. (1993) Daylight HUD raster image modulation requirements. INSIGHT: The Visual Performance Technical Group Newsletter of Human Factors Society, 15(3), 1-4.
- \* Long, J., and Wickens, C. (1994) Conformal versus non-conformal symbology and the head-up display. *Proceedings of the 1994 International Society for Optical Engineering Conference*. Bellingham, WA: SPIE (Preprint).
- Luce, R.D. (1986) <u>Response times: their role in inferring elementary mental organization</u>. New York: Oxford University Press.
- \* Marin-Lamellet, C., Dejeammes, M., Kerihuel, H. (1994) Comparison of two methods of on-board information display (HUD and LCD screen) with respect to driver age. Drive Project II V2031. Deliverable No. 17, Work Package No. 6 ACT 02.

<sup>\*</sup> Citation is included in Appendix A because it contains original experimental data with implications for automotive HUDs.

- \* Martin-Emerson, R. and Wickens, C.D. (1993). Conformal symbology and the head-up display. *SW International Symposium Digest of Technical Papers*, XXV, 191-194.
- \* Martin-Emerson, R. and Wickens, C.D. (1992). The vertical visual field and implications for the head-up display. *Proceedings of the Human Factors Society 36th Annual Meeting*, 1408-1412.
- Massie, D., and Campbell, K. (1993) Analysis of accident rates by age, gender, and time of day based on the 1990 nationwide personal transportation survey. Report No. UMTRI-93-7. Ann Arbor: The University of Michigan Transportation Research Institute.
- \* McCann, R.S., and Foyle, D.C. Superimposed symbology: Attentional problems and design solutions. Paper to appear in the Proceedings of SAE Aerotech '94, Long Beach, CA, October, 1994.
- \* McCann, R.S., Lynch, J.M., Foyle, D.C. and Johnston, J.C. (1993). Modeling attentional effects with head-up displays. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society 37th Annual Meeting*, 1345-1349.
- \* McCann, R.S., Foyle, D.C. and Johnston, J.C. (1993). Attentional limitations with head-up displays. In R.S. Jensen (Ed.), Proceedings of the Seventh International Symposium on Aviation Psychology, 70-75. Columbus: Ohio State University.
- \* McCann, R.S. and Foyle, D.C. (1994). Superimposed symbology: Attentional problems and design solutions. Paper to appear in the Proceedings of SAE Aerotech '94, Long Beach, CA, October, 1994.
- Miura, T. Coping with situational demands: a study of eye movements and peripheral vision performance. <u>Vision in vehicles</u>, pp. 205-216, 1986.
- Mullen, B. (1989) Advanced BASIC Meta-Analysis. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Mullen, B. and Rosenthal, R. (1985) <u>BASIC Meta-Analysis Procedures and Programs</u>. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- \* Naish, J.M. (1964) Combination of information in superimposed visual fields. <u>Nature</u>, vol. 202, 641-646.
- Neisser, U. & Becklen, R. (1975) Selective looking: Attention to visually specified events. <u>Cognitive</u> <u>Psychology</u>, 7, 480-494.
- Newman, R. (1987) Responses to Roscoe, The trouble with HUDs and HMDs. <u>Human Factors Society</u> <u>Bulletin</u>, 30(10), 3-5.

<sup>\*</sup> Citation is included in Appendix A because it contains original experimental data wilh implications for automotive HUDs.

- \* Okabayashi, S., Sakata, M., & Hatada, T. (1991) Driver's ability to recognize objects in the forward view with superimposition of head-up display images. *Proceedings of the 1991 Society of Information Displays, 465-468.*
- \* Okabayashi, S., Sakata, M., Fukano, J., Daidoji, S., Hashimoto, C., & Ishikawa, T. (1989) Development of practical heads-up display for production vehicle application (SAE Technical Paper No. 890559). New York: Society of Automotive Engineers.
- Owens, D.A. (1979) The Mandelbaum effect: Evidence for an accommodative bias toward intermediate viewing distances. Journal of the Optical Society of America, 69, 646-652.
- Parasuraman, R. and Nestor., P. (199 1) Attention and driving skills in aging and Alzheimer's disease <u>Human Factors</u>, 33(5), 539-557.
- Peacock, B. & Wierwille, W. (1988) Human Factors Technology. <u>Automotive Engineering</u>, 96, 96 101.
- Popp, M., and Faerber, B. (1993) Feedback modality for nontransparent driver control actions: why not visually? In Vision in Vehicles IV, A. Gale, et al. (Eds.), pp. 263-270.
- \* Rogers, S., Spiker, V., & Cincinelli, J. (1986) Luminance and luminance contrast requirements for legibility of self-luminous displays in aircraft cockpits. <u>Applied Ergonomics</u>, 17(4), 271-277.
- Roscoe, S. (1982) Landing airplanes, detecting traffic, and the dark focus. <u>Aviation. Space and</u> <u>Environmental Medicine</u>, 53(10), 970-976.
- Roscoe, S. (1987) The trouble with HUDs and HMDs. Human Factors Society Bulletin, N(7), 1-3.
- Rutley, K. (1975) Control of drivers' speed by means other than enforcement. Ergonomics, 18, 89-100.
- \* Sakata, M., Okabayashi, S., Fukano, J., Hirose, S. and Ozone, M. (1987) Contribution of head-up displays (HUDs) to safe driving. *Eleventh International Technical Conference on Experimental Safety Vehicles.* Washington, D.C.: NHTSA.
- Sanders, A.F. (1980) Stage analysis of reaction processes. In: <u>Tutorials in Motor Behavior</u>, Stelmach, G., and Requin, J. (Eds.), 331-354.
- \* Sanford, B.D., Foyle, D.C., McCann, R.S. and Jordan, K. (1993). Head-up displays: Effect of information location on the processing of superimposed symbology. In R.S. Jensen (Ed.), *Proceedings of the Seventh international Symposium on Aviation Psychology*, 81-87. Columbus: Ohio State University.
- \* Sheehy, J. and Gish, K. (1991) Virtual image displays: is redesign really necessary? **Society for** Information Display International Symposium Digest of Technical Papers, XXII, 308-312.

<sup>\*</sup> Citation is included in Appendix A because it contains original experimental data with implications for automotive HUDs.

- \* Sojourner, R. & J. Antin (1990) The effects of a simulated head-up display speedometer on perceptual task performance. <u>Human Factors</u>, 32(3), 329-339.
- Sorkin, R., Wightmar.. F., Kistler, D., and Elvers, G. (1989). An exploratory study of the use of movement-correlated cues in an auditory head-up display. <u>Human Factors</u>, 31(2), 161-166.
- Sprenger, A. (1993) In-vehicle displays: head-up display field tests. In A.G. Gale, I. Brown, C. Haselgrave, H. Kruysse and S. Taylor (Eds.), <u>Vision in Vehicles IV</u> (pp. 301-309). Amsterdam: North-Holland.
- \* Stapleton, L. (1994) Attentional allocation effects of contact analogue automotive head up displays. <u>Ergonomics and Design</u>, 4, 196-198.
- Sternberg, S. (1969a) The discovery of processing stages: Extensions of Donders' method. In: W.G. Koster (Ed.) Attention and Performance II, <u>Acta Psychologica</u>, 30, 276-315.
- Stokes, A., Wickens, C., Kite, K;, (1990) Display Technology, SAE Inc. Chapter 8, pp. 87-98.
- Sugita, M., & Suzuki, M. (1992) Head-up display using a hologram as an optical element. Electronic Display Technology and Information Systems, 49-56. Warrendale, Pennsylvania: Society of AutomotiveEngineers.
- Swift, D. and Freeman, M. (1985) The application of head-up displays to cars. In A.G. Gale, M.H. Freeman, CM. Haslegrave, P. Smith and S.P. Taylor (Eds.), <u>Vision in Vehicles</u> (pp. 249-255). Amsterdam: North-Holland.
- Ward, N., & Parkes, A. (1994) Head-up displays and their automotive application: an overview of human factors issues affecting safety. <u>Accident. Analysis and Prevention</u>, 6: 703-717.
- \* Ward, N., Stapleton, L., & Parkes, A. (1994) Behavioural and cognitive impact of night-time driving with HUD contact analogue infra-red imaging. *Proceedings of 14th International Technical Conference on Enhanced Safety of Vehicles,* Paper No. 94-S2-O-04.
- Weintraub, D. (1987) HUDs, HMDs, and common sense: polishing virtual images. <u>Human Factors</u> Society **Bulletin**, 30(10), 1-3.
- \* Weintraub, D., R. Haines, & R. Randle (1984) The utility of head-up displays: Eye-focus vs. decision times. *Proceedings of the Human Factors society 28th annual meeting. 529-533.*
- \* Weintraub, D., R. Haines & R. Randle (1985) Head-up display (I-IUD) utility, II: Runway to HUD transitions monitoring eye focus and decision times. *Proceedings of HFS 29th meeting.*
- \* Weihrauch, M., Melocny, G., & Goesch, T. (1989) The first head-up display introduced by General Motors (SAE Technical Paper No. 890228). New York: Society of Automotive Engineers.

<sup>\*</sup> Citation is included in Appendix A because it contains original experimental data with implications for automotive HUDs.

- Westheimer, G., & McKee, S. (1980) Stereoscopic acuity with defocused and spatially filtered retinal images. Journal of the Optical Society of America, 70, 772-778.
- \* Wickens, C.D., Martin-Emerson, R. and Larish, I. (1993). Attentional tunneling and the head-up display. In R.S. Jensen (*Ed.*), *Proceedings of the Seventh International Symposium on Aviation Psychology*, 865-870. Columbus: Ohio State University.
- \* Wickens, C.D. and Long, J. (1994). Conformal vs. non-conformal symbology and the head-up display. *Proceedings of the SHE 1994 Aerospace Sensing Symposium on Aircraft Helmet-Mounted Display Information and Symbology Design Requirements.*
- Wierwille, W. (1993) An initial model of visual sampling of in-car displays and controls. In <u>Vision</u> <u>in Vehicles - IV</u>, A. Gale, et al. (Eds.), pp. 271-280.
- Wierwille, W., J. Antin, T. Dingus & M Hulse. (1988) Visual attentional demand of an in-car navigation display system. In A. Gale, M. Freeman, C. Haslegrave, P. Smith & S. Taylor (Eds.), <u>Vision in Vehicles II</u> (pp. 307-316). Amsterdam: North-Holland.
- Zaidel, D.M. (1991) Specification of a methodology for investigating the human factors of advanced driver information systems (Technical Paper 11199(e)). Ontario, Canada: Toronto University, Dept. of Industrial Engineering.

<sup>\*</sup> Citation is included in Appendix A because it contains original experimental data with implications for automotive HUDs.

### **Appendix A: Summary Table of HUD Research Findings**

This appendix contains a summary table of articles investigating the application of HUDs for automotive use. A number of articles are not included in this table. To be included in the summary table, the reviewed article must: 1) involve laboratory or field experimentation with moderate to high ecological validity, 2) address an issue specifically related to the use of HUDs, 3) describe the experimental setup and test conditions, and 4) report results in graphical and/or table format, with some means of evaluating the statistical significance of the findings.

These criteria exclude a number of articles that are state-of-the-technology or future technology reports. Also excluded are engineering articles geared primarily towards describing the design of a particular HUD. These engineering reports are summarized separately in Appendix B.

The column headings in the research summary table were chosen to conform as closely as possible with common report formats among scientific journals. In some instances the columns are grouped to minimize space requirements. This is typically done for studies in which multiple experiments are described.

Author(s),				Methods		
Year	Colectives	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	Keening & Concitations
Benel, 1980	Investigate the relationship between the Mandelbaum effect and	Experiment 1: 24 observers w Stimuli: 1) H 2) Hi Dependent mea	ith normal near and far acuities (minimum of igh contrast target: 3 x 3 matrix of Snellen Ei gh contrast screen: 7.2 min arc strokes separat uure: Subjects report change in apparent size	20/25) is at 0, 1.25 2.5 and 3.75 diopters (D) ited by 16.8 min arc. Distances:63 to 5.5 ("larger", "smaller" or "no change")	3 D in 1.25 D steps	Exp. 1: 17 of 23 Ss reporting "smaller" judgements had nearer accommodative shift on trials in which they said the target was "smaller"
	apparent size	Experiment 2: 12 observers (r Stimuli: 1) Co	nonocular viewing) illimated "moon"			to of 20 as reporting larger jungentants had more distant accommodative shifts. Exp. 2:
		2) Bi 3) M Dependent mea	ickground: outdoor scene from 5th floor of a esh screen: 75, 1.5, 2.25 and 3.0 D distance sure: Variable diameter transilluminated disc	<ul> <li>building which included trees and buildings</li> <li>building size-matching</li> </ul>		Correlation between accommodation and apparent size: r=56. Thus, apparent size decreased with near accommodation.
		Protocol: 1) F 2) (	ach session began and ended with two accom screen presented twice at each distance (count	modation measurements and size matches to s erbalanced order)	cene and moon without the acreen	Same relationship across screen conditions: r=76
Bossi, Ward and Parkes, 1994	Assess the effects of a simulated vision enhancement system (VES) on the recognition and discrimination of brief, irregularly presented targets at various eccentricities outside the enhanced central	Thirteen subjects: ages 24 to 39 (mean age 31.5) with normal or corrected to normal acuties. All experienced drivers	Driving scenes recorded onto videolape. Semi-rural single and dual lane roads. Speed 50 to 80 Km/H, headway 15-20 m Field of view: 50 degrees horizontal and 33 degrees vertical Eccentricities: 10, 15, 20 and 25 degree eccentricities at 4 different meridians Dark conditions via film post-processing Experimental conditions: 1) DARK 2) DUSK 3) DARK+VES 4) DUSK+VES	Primary tracking task: keep laser pointer within the rear number plate of the lead vehicle Secondary detection task: respond to target presentation (Landolt Cs presented at various eccentricities and orientations) by pressing a brake pedal and identifying orientation verbally.	Practice trials : 5 minutes on tracking alone 15 minutes tracking + detection Experimental trials: 25 minutes for each of the 4 each experimental condition (order of 4 conditions were counterbalanced) Two sessions required to complete the experiment per subject	Detection: - all main effects (VES vs. no VES, eccentricity and light level) significant - consistently poorer performance during DARK conditions with VES. Decrement larger for targets located centrally (i.e., closer to VES). - no significant differences VES vs. no VES when tested under DUSK conditions. Reaction times: - RT - RT - TT - TT - TT - TT - TT - TT
	al ca.					- KIS increase with eccentricity

(continued).
applications
B
вH
omotiv
aut
ng
gati
estij
M
esi
ipn
e st
hos
or tl
s fc
finding
ċh
ear
res
of
table
Summary

4

•

٠

.

Results & Conclusions		No significant main effects or interactionsationalResponses to questions after theexperiment:entionalI) Were you aware of your speed with thehead-up display?13) Were you aware of your speed With thehead-up display?14) No comfortable did you find the HUDasid yesatid yesTH2) How comfortable did you find the HUDas compared to a conventionalspeedometer?14 of 20 replied HUD waseasier to useD andDifferences from Rutley (1975) studythributed to use of analog speedometer?Comments: Highway driving speeds were65 mph which is a typical sverage trafficspeed on highways. No data for individualdrivers who tend to speed (i.e., muchgreater than 65 mph speed choice withoutHUD) was presented.
	Procedure	Group 1: Drive on residential road using conv speedometer WITHOUT speed adapt Group 2: Drive on residential road using conv speedometer WITH speed adaptation Group 3: Drive through residential district WI HUD and WITH speed adaptation Group 4: Drive on residential road WITH HU WITHOUT speed adaptation
Methods	Dependent Variables	Average speed of subjects along the course was monitored by the experimenter in a separate following vehicle. Debritefing followed by subjects answering two questions: 1) Were you more aware of your speed with the head-up display? 2) How comfortable did you find the head- up display as compared to a conventional speedometer?
	Independent Variables	Test vehicle: 1982 front-wheel drive Oldsmobile HUD: Stemco Engler Speedometer (analog display in mph) HUD location: 118.75 cm from bottom of windshield, 3.15 cm above bonnet surface and 21.2 cm in from the car's left side. Highway: 25.95 mile, 2 to 4 lane asphalt road which served as speed adapting part of course. Posted speed = 55 mph Residential road: .85 mile, straight road with one bend. One lane each direction. Posted speed = 25 mph NOTE: All testing conducted during high visibility conditions with low traffic density.
	Subjects	40 Subjects: 17 males 23 females Age range: 18 to 40 with a mean of 24.6 years. All had valid drivers' licenses (mean of 8.2 years of driving experience) NOTE: Ss vears of driving experiencet was about navigation skills
	Objectives	The a HUD was of a HUD was investigated as a means of controlling drivers' speeding behavior on a highway, a residential road, adaptation.
Author(s).	Ycar	Briziarelli 1989 1989

Author(s),				Methods		Beerthe & Conclusions
Year	Colectives	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	errolentation in entheave
Fischer, 1979	Two primary objectives: 1) Assess the interference caused by symbology and of HUD symbology and external scene. 2) leffect of divided attention on extracting HUD and external scene information.	Subjects: 12 Sa Sumuli: Tachistoscope p Exposure times: External scene: scene to simulat HUD symbolog HUD symbolog side to slide. 1 slide to slide. 1 leart A (Exposu 1) Baseline: ex aircraft. 2) Experimental Part B (Exposu 1) Baseline: H1 2) Experimental Part B (Exposu Part A (Exposu 1) Baseline: H1 2) Experimental Same procedure Exposure times	(5 captains, 4 first officers, 3 flight-engineer resentation (7.9 deg x 8.9 deg) of 35 mm slid aerial photographs of runway scenes for 4 air aerial photographs of runway scenes for 4 air c clouds. Y althude, localizer and horizon symbology c jight green filler used to approximate P1 phose dight green filler used to approximate P1 phose is superimpose HUD and scene and ask same re duration: 200 m3): Effects of superimposed ternal scene shown alone and answer question i: superimpose HUD and scene and ask for a i: superimpose HUD and scene and scene questi i: superimpose HUD and scene and scene and ask for a i: superimpose HUD and scene and scene and scene questi i: superimpose HUD and sce	s) 33 to 59 years (z4 external scences and 24 HUD displays). B (8) & accuracy. Ports; 6 of 24 slides had aircraft visible in the orresponded to external scence. Dynamic elem phor. information sources on processing information J about which of 4 airports the scence represents questions. i about which of 4 airports the scence represents questions. i information sources on processing information digideslope. i information sources on processing information in a glideslope. i and one of the HUD questions on each trial ons and one of the HUD questions on each trial e question require half of total time of 225 ms)	: sky. Also, used homogeneous blue-gray nents: slides changed position or value from <i>from the external scene:</i> and whether or not there are any other and whether or not there are any other of	Learning effects: stabilized after 6th trial Exp. 1: Process HUD or External Scene Scene Questions: First 6 experimental trials: 4% accuracy decrease with superimposed HUD ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: performance produced no decrement due to uperimposed HUD. HUD Questions: First 6 experimental trials: 11.5% accuracy decrease with superimposed external scene ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 11.5% accuracy decrease with superimposed external scene ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 11.5% accuracy decrease HUD and external scene external scene ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ). Last 6 experimental trials: 5% decrement ( $p < .01$ ).

-

,

Author(s).				Methods		
Year	Objectives	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	Results & Conclusions
Fischer, Haines & Price, 1980	Determine pilots' ability to perceive and act upon unexpected events in either outside world or in the HUD symbology.	Subjects: 8 Sa (5 Apparatus: Fixe HUD Symbology Environmental Vi E1 = Low visib E2 = Strong her E3 = Moderate E3 = Moderate Cognitive Variabl Vertical boreasigh Lateral instrumed Obstruction on r No offset: symb Performance mea Procedure: 1) Training: get	(Japts. and 3 1st officers) +based 727 simulator : 24 deg horizontally by 21 deg vertically. ariables: ility (cloud ceiling 120 ft., visual range 1600 adwind ahear (25 knots) headwind ahear (25 knots) E1 (cloud ceiling 180 ft., visual range 2000 E1 (cloud ceiling 180 ft., visual range 2000 if offset (UBO): c deg high symbology offset at offset (UBO): c andom 3 deg symbology offset to fiset (UBO): c andom 3 deg symbology offset at offset (UDO): c andom 3 deg symbology offset at offset (USO): wide-body aircraft taxiing into ology was aligned correctly with external sc surces: Eye movements, Head movements, P surces to asymptote; 2) Data runs: Pil	Conformal symbology. ) R., light urbulence, no wind, decision height R., decision height 150 ft ft (relative to external scene); if detected then lar set left or right; if detected then land off runway to right runway ente runway of responds with button press on detecting runw	t 100 ft und short; otherwise, land O.K. ay; otherwise, land on runway. localizer deviations localizer deviations way and then deciding if it's safe to land	VBO: HUD offsets did have an influence on vertical tracking but no statistically significant. Pilots unaware of offsets. LBO: No significant effects. Pilots were aware of the offset but mistakenly attributed the offset to crosswinds. LIO: did not affect lateral performance with or without the HUD. Pilots responded to the offset a little sooner without the HUD. With ILS offset, pilots resorted to using visual guidance only. Runway obstacle: 2 pilots trandet see airphane on runway with HUD (R12 for dust the airplane taxiing onto the runway was visible in the simulator). RTs to detect obstacle higher with HUD than without (4.13 sec va. 1.75 sec).
Foyle, McCann, Sanford and Schwirzke, 1993 INOTE: These results are telso reported in Foyle, Foyle, Jordan, 1993]	Investigate the role that object- based and location-based attention models play in the tradeoff between altitude/path performance. Location-based model predicts better performance on both tasks when distance and path distance between altitude between altitude	Experiment 1 Subjects: 14 Sa, Simulus: Graph Symbology locati Simulated Horizo Experiment 2 Subjects: 10 Sa, Same task as in F Three tesk used y 1) Relevant altitu 2) Irrelevant altitu 2) Irrelevant atta Results and Conc Exp. 1: HUD de bypothesis suppor is in the opposite bypothesis suppor is in the opposite Exp. 1 results. Overall: Results a	Male icial display of superimposed symbology and on: HUD digital altitude located in lower, I ntal and Vertical wind disturbances: root-me Male Male Male icit icit altitude location only: with symbology in lower location only: with symbology in lower location only: with symbology in lower location only: amic: dynamic digital compass values prese de: replicates exp.1 amic: dynamic digital compass values prese icit constant two-digit value presented. Maions icit constant two-digit value presented. Maions icit constant two-digit value presented. Maions icit constant two-digit value presented direction to that predicted by the location and direction to that predicted by the location but direction	"out-the-window" information. middle or upper part of the display can-square error (RMSE) altitude and RMSE pat ated ated increased RMSE for path ONLY when the HU . HUD symbology location (i.e., there is an effe sed hypothesis. . (replicates Exp. 1). Irrelevant dynamic and sta ic (replicates Exp. 1). Irrelevant dynamic and sta ic information produced the same performance fects placed in close proximity in the visual field	ath UD symbology was placed in the lower positi ect of position (which was not predicted by a atic displays produced same RMSE as when at a absence of HUD symbology. This rules a statefore more due to inefficient/abseat at	ion only). Conclusions: Neither attentional the object-based attentional hypothesis) and it HUD absent. For path RMSE, the presence out visual masking as an explanation for entional switching.

				Methods		Results & Conclusions
Author(s), Year	Objectives	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	aniton to built by the second
				Altitude RMSF in feet	Testing time: one 3.5 hour session	Presence of HUD reduced allunce tracking $r_{rest} = r_{rest} = r_{rest} = r_{rest} = r_{rest}$
Foyle, Sanford and	Tested the hypothesis that	Eight male college-age	Flight task simulation: Silicon Uraphics 3130 workstation displayed on 19 inch color	Path RMSE in feet	1) Verbal instructions	error $(r(1, 1) = 5, 3, p < .05)$ increased (F(1, 7) = 6.3, p < .05)
McCann,	the pilots'	subjects with normal or	monitor. Flight controlled via a joyance		2) Practice of flight task (maintain 100 feet   altinde). 16 practice trials for all	High pictorial cues improved altitude
1661	process both	corrected to	Viewing distance: 65 cm		conditions	performance (F(1,1) = 3.3%, P \
	world and HUD information is	vision.	HUD Altitude: present or absent digital		3) Instructed to autom to be an an and flight path tasks.	and the second and the second se
	due to		altitude display. 6.5 cm to the left and 3		4) 10 second pre-trial warm-up before each	frames of reference (or attentionally
	ineffective division of				5) Feedback provided on altitude and path	segregated objects) cannot be processed in 
	attention		Pictorial altitude: virtual buildings		tracking error (RMSE)	common frame of reference (i.e., high
	between the two frames of		change shape with altitude adjustments cassioned altitude of 100 feet).			pictorial and path information) parallel processing without cost is possible
	reference.					Hén I.
		Evneriment	1: Display location and peripheral detection per	rformance under dual-task situations		Plotting primary task performance on the x-
Fukano, Okabavashi.	Invesugate ute benefits	Subjects: 2	subjects (22 and 34) tested. Each had normal s	acuities		axis and secondary task performance on use
Sakata and	attributable to	Forward sce	ne: 	ounding the CRTs.		presence when the HUD display location
Hatada, 1994	HUDs in terms		matrix of $CAM^2$ where $CAM^2$			is degrees below the horizon than when the
	ot case of concration and	3) Viewi	ng distance = 5 meters		pond to circles only	display is 40 degrees below and to the lett.
	legibility.	4) Prima	ry task: discriminate 20 milliradian circle from	Bquare with 20 minute and a minute of the		Hue movement data: Number of eye
	Also,	Secondary (	HUD) hask CRT (80 cm viewing distance).	0 degrees below horizon		movements per minute increases from 0 at
	demonstrate th	e 1) Locat	ions centered on universume of the second with respect to vehicle: 20, 30 as	nd 40 degree depression angles		nearest display position to 25 at farthest
	benefits of HU	1) 2) Locar 3) Secon	dary task: simulated radio-tuning by having su	ubjects adjust position of small circle within lar	rger curcie	display location.
<u></u>	symbology for	Eye movem	nents monitored	Present 5 display positions, 4) Single task con	ntrol measures obtained	NOTE: The graphs are difficult to
	navigation	Procedure:	I) IO IIII. Suspendit, 1) of the second	(1000)		interpret via change in scales of vertical
		Experiment	1 2: Navigation HUD using "on-the-acene" sym	ibology (conformal symeology) fewer pixels turned on to display information)	via presents only conformal arrow indicating	axes across subjects and the axes up tool
		On-the-scel	ne navigation symbology. 10-01 1 10-01 1 10-01 1 10-01 10-01 10-01 10-01 10-01 10-01 10-01 10-01 10-01 10-01 10	•		consistently (i.e., x-axis performance
		Subjects: 3	aced 34, 38 and 38 with normal acuities			improves as numbers increase whereas y-
		Displays:	HUD and forward acene both displayed at 2 me	eter viewing distance. = 1 75. I ocation: centered horizontally and	17 degrees below	axis performance improves as numbers
		HUD: subt	cended 35 x 50 milliradians. Luminiance commended and a second milliradian matruction	as vs. conformal navigation instructions		
		Dependent	i measures: RTs to respond to navigation instruc	ctions (latency to detect correct turn ahead)		Exp. 2: 60% faster RTs for on-the-scene
		Eye move	ments monitored • 1) 10 min adaptation, 2) Press button at detec	ction of correct intersection for turn, 3) Tested	l at two types of intersection	HUD. Frequency of giances 40 % 10% of for the on-the-scene HUD

•

.

.

.

.

Author(s),				Methods			
Ycar	Objectives	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	Results & Conclusions	
lino, Otsuka and Suzuki, 1988	Develop and test a HUD for automotive use that does not produce cognitive does not interfere with viewing external targets.	HUD Designs C         1) LCD Panel a         2) HUD Combi         3) HUD Combi         4) Windshield a         • The 4th design         Problem: Using         Solution: Specia         Solution: Specia         Subjects tested o         Independent varia         1) Vehicle speed         1) Vehicle speed         2) Display ty ppe         3) HUD location         4) *Sleept' drive         2) Display type         3) HUD location         4) *Sleept' drive         2) Display type         3) HUD location         4) *Sleept' drive         2) Eye fixationa         1) Reading time         2) Eye fixationa         3) Experiment 2:         5) Eye fixationa	onsidered: tatached to top of dashboard fattached to top of dashboard fattached to top of dashboard (fat reflect ner adheres to windshield (hologram conform lone used as combiner introduces both hori is windshield as combiner introduces both hori ally designed prism corrects for binocular par lates 10 W incandescent lamp to produce brigh lates 10 W incandescent lamp to produce brigh lables: (60 to 100 Km/h in 10 Km/h increments) (HDIP w. HUD) (HDIP w. HUD) (10 do 100 Km/h in 10 Km/h increments) (HDIP w. HUD) (10 do 100 Km/h in 10 Km/h increments) (HDIP w. HUD) (10 do 100 Km/h in 10 Km/h increments) (HDIP w. HUD) (10 do 100 Km/h in 10 Km/h increments) (HDIP we HUD) (10 do 100 Km/h in 10 Km/h increments) (10 to 100 Km/h increments) (10 to 100 Km/h increments) (10 to 10 to 100 Km/h increments) (10 to 10 to 10 to 10 Km/h increments) (10 to 10 to 10 Km/h increments) (10 to 10 t	on hologram) s to windshickd curvature) le transmittance contal and vertical binocular parallax (or dispar tallax. thesses of 4x10 <sup>4</sup> cd/m <sup>2</sup> (4000 cd/m <sup>2</sup> after comt ted. ted. ted. s not reported) ted.	hiner losses). expressway.	<ul> <li>NOTE: No statistics reported.</li> <li>Experiment 1: Experiment 1: Reading time results:</li> <li>1) No systematic differences HDIP and HUD for slow speeds (60 and 70 Km/h).</li> <li>2) HDIP reading times longer than HUD reading times (all locations) at car speeds of 80, 90 and 100 Km/h.</li> <li>3) At 80 and 90 Km/h. there is a systematic ordering of best to worst reading interval degree is heat, followed by 10 A interval is second segment, the sleepy driver agent 6.56 seconds looking at the HUD vs. 3.33 seconds for the alert driver.</li> <li>Experiment 2: 10 degree left position rated best overall</li> </ul>	

Derrita & Conclusions		. right	on: 10 degrees down, 0 degs horizontal e RT to offset of light.	gible character size riterion not stated)		unger subject only an recognition time significantly different HL	Scenery effect: Dynamic background produced fewer detections on peripheral task (highest is 90% detections at 10 deg eccentricity) and detections decreased to 70% at 40 degs. Central-peripheral task tradeoff: Better performance on central task coupled with peripheral task decrements. Whole visual burden: a measure of the tradeoff at each eccentricity. Larger eccentricities show larger performance tradeoff especially for more difficult central tasks (i.e. speed monitoring).
	Procedure	-mark camera while driving fizations occurred: :: For right-side steering wheel driving) t, 7 deg. right, 8 deg. down and 5 deg. up degs down and between 8 degs left and 5 degs	stances (.8, 1.5, 2, 2.5 and 5 meters). Locatic . To obtain <i>recognition time</i> , subtracted simplion older vs2 sec for younger) at 1 meter.	ent measure: subjective assessment of most leg OTE: Size constancy prediction. However, c	red luminance adjustment	mmodation changed to instrument panel for you year olds and 3 48-59 year olds. Results: Me	a single scene are displayed. Provides a tial locations to the left of the central task. ets can vary in orientation, shape and color. 2) atic driving scene and dynamic driving scene. rgets and speed error (target - vehicle speed)
Methods	Dependent Variables	ark camera in place tion distributions during driving using an eye- e" as a function of display location ed background "stability" at various locations v background "stability" at various locations ities up/down/left/right within which 90% of ities up/down/left/right within which 00% of 11 degrees left and 11 degrees right ymbology within an area bound by 8 deg. left riteria of minimum brightness change is 6-10 orieria of minimum brightness change is 6-10	70 years) subjects participated. arget at 10 meters to speedometer at nearer dia r target offset to onset of reading speedometer. unger (about .28 sec recognition time at 5 m f tonically from .28 sec at 2.5 meters to .4 sec t	distance islance (1.1, 1.3, 1.5, 2 and 2.5 m) Depende om 1.2 degs at 1.1 m to .8 degs at 2.5 m (N	iow-covered road in daylight. At dusk, requir	14 year old accommodation measured. Accon e different driving speeds. Subjects: 3 24-32 y	3 separate screens onto which 3 segments of i ripheral targets. Targets appear in 1 of 5 spat same* successive targets when successive targe the presence of homogeneous background, stu ercent detection srcent correct response to "same" successive ta
	Independent Variables	are location (azimuth and elevation) ale subjects accustomed to driving with eye-measures isures: 1) obtained objective measures of "annoyance 2) subjective measures of "annoyance 3) background surroundings: assesse s: 1) Urban road and 2) Expressway cation distributions obtained and the eccentric Urban: 6 degrees above, 5 degrees below, between annoyance: unacceptable to place si ubjective annoyance: unacceptable to place si ekground stability: best location based on cr	al image distance umger (20 to 29 years) and 10 Okler (50 to 7 ampulation: subjects change fixation from te asure: <i>Reading time</i> was time from 10 meter <i>rerall</i> , okler subjects respond slower than you kler subject recognition times increase monou	racter size preferences as function of viewing iles Independent variable: HUD display di ared visual angle decreased monotonically fr	itness and color: 3000 cd/m² required for sn	w up of study 2 on: Using 3-dimensional optometer, 18 and 5 me: Measured objectively with EOG at three .01). HUD faster by .1 second.	Apparatus: Driving aimulator consisting of combined 40 deg field of view Peripheral task: respond to detection of ° Central tasks: 1) Respond to detection of ° Speed monitoring and control Scenery manipulation: Tasks performed in Dependent measures: 1) Peripheral task: p
	Subjects	Study 1: In-plar Subjects: 2 mai Dependent meas Road conditions Results: 1) Fix b) b) 3) Ba	Study 2: Virtus Subjects: 4 You Independent me Dependent mea Results: 1) Ov Results: 2) Oi	Study 3: Char Subjects: 7 ma Results: Prefe	Study 4: Brigh	Study 5: Follo Accommodatio Recognition tir vs. HDD (p <.	3 aubjects: 2 males (32 and 28) and 1 female (23)
	Objectives	Conducted a series of studies series of studies appropriate values for values for display location, character size, brightness and color					Dual-task paradigm used to determine information processing limitations of concurrent central and peripheral tasks
Author(s)	Year	Inuzuka, Osumi and Shinkai, 1991 **NOTE: **NOTE: data reported in this study also appears in Kato et al., 1992					Isomura, Kamiya and Hamatani, 1993

.

•

Author(8).				Methods		Decults & Conclusions
Ycar	Colectives	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	
Kiefer, 1991	Examine the visual sampling behavior of drivers under naturalistic	4 male and 4 female subjects. Half of the subjects in	Apparatus: Test vehicle instrumented with a digital head-down and head-up speedometer HUD location: 2.4 meter distance, center, 6 Access below horizon	Speed control: percent of time subjects drove above 35 mph and speed variability Video sampling measures: obtained from visual inspection of videotspes. Included: 1) mean time in the needonneer assumpt	<ol> <li>Arrive at test site</li> <li>Questionnaire given (re: subjects health)</li> <li>Informed consent</li> <li>Practice drive on course</li> <li>Experimental run: drive 30 to 35 mph</li> <li>Verhal resnonses: asv "sneed" when</li> </ol>	Speedometer location: effect on mean SSC time (781 msec HU vs. 925 msec HD). Practice effect: Decrease in glance frequency on auccessive sessions.
	cesting conditions with head-up and head-down speedometers	cacn age group young (mean = 20.8 ym.) half were older (mean = 67 yrs)	o ucgrees below nor Loui. Cameras: One for monitoring subjects visual scanning and one directed to forward driving scene. Recording equipment located in back seat.	cycle (or SSC; time from readway to speedometer and back to roadway to speedometer and back to roadway) 2) Glance frequency to the speedometer 3) Percent of total visual sampling time in SSC: divide total time in SSC by total visual sampling time (or driving time).	oo ruun trout ar proton and an article (as a calibration for later scoring) 6 course runs per session (3 head-up and 3 head-down 4 sessions	Speedometer location by session interaction: 1) Mean SSC time: overall less for the HU than HD speedometer. However, the interaction is due to the fact that the difference HU vs. HD tended to increase with sessions. 2) Glance frequency: higher for HU but
<u></u>		NOTE: Subjects were were corculded if corrections required via difficulty in scoring visual scoring behaviors	Test course: 6 mile course un Stony Creek Metropark in Washington, Michigan Head-up conditions: head-down display left on via this is what lat generation HUD- equipped automobiles will have. Counterbalanced HU and HD presentations	,	After last session, Sa filled out a questionnaire.	<ul> <li>to a novely effect)</li> <li>Total time in SSC: higher HU than HD but difference decreased on successive sessions.</li> <li>No significant age effects.</li> <li>No effects on speed performance.</li> <li>Questionnaire data:</li> <li>1) 7 of 8 Sa preferred HUD over HDD</li> <li>2) Preferred via easily in each see eronn</li> </ul>
						preferred HU via allowed attention to both road ahead and vehicle speed. Experimenter acknowledge that initial high glance frequency could be novelty effect but could also be involuntary distraction effect. Also, no age effect may be via low workload conditions.

Author(s),				Methods		Daardia & Canaduationes
Year	Cujativa	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	
Kurokawa and	Investigate effects of	Experiment 1 and 2: 8	Apparatus: moving-base computer- controlled driving simulator in the Vehicle	Three measures use:	No details about procedure given.	Experiment 1: - Number of control cells had a significant
Wierwille,	instrument panel	subjects (4	Analysis and Simulation Laboratory at	1) Task completion time: time from	Subjects prompted to find IP buttons and	effect on task completion time and the
1661	(IP) clutter on	male and 4	Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State	experimenter cue to perform task to	make a response.	number of glances to the IP.
	automotive IP	female)	University.	completion by subject.		
<u>.</u>	task	ranging in				- Label type also had a significant effect on
	performance.	age from 18	Road scene: two-lane simulated roadway	2) Hand-off-wheel time: concurrent manual		task completion time. Buttons labelled with
	Clutter	to 26 years.		demand of a task via time subjects hands		randomly assigned letters took longer to
	manipulated 3	Each	Experiment 1:	were off the wheel.		find than the consecutive numbered buttons.
	ways:	experiment	Four panel types: 1) single cell, 2) triple			
	1)macroclutter:	used a	cell, 3) 2x2 cells and 4) 2x3 cells.	3) Eye movement data: recorded using a		Experiment 2:
	number of	different		videocamera and analyzed manually after		- Significant effect of number of buttons
	instruments or	group of 8	- each cell labeled with common IP labels	experiment. Eye movement measures		within a control cell on all dependent
	control cells, 2)	subjects.	and contained 6 consecutive numbers on left	include: 1) Glances to roadway, 2) Glances		measures.
	microclutter:		and 6 randomly assigned letters on right half	to IP (length and number of glances) and 3)		- Length and number of glances longer for
	number of		of cell.	eye transitions.		3x3 array than 2x2 array of buttons.
	controls within a		- subjects pressed specific button in a cell			However, time to press the buttons in both
-	cell and 3)			Operational definition of task difficulty =		cases about the same as measured via the
	labelling of		Experiment 2:	length of a glance		hands-off-the-wheel time (significant effect
	controls i.e.,		Three control cell formats: 1) single button,			on this measure due to difference between
	full word vs.		2) 2x2 array of buttons and 3) 3x3 array	Operational definition of overall task		1x1 and other conditions).
	abbreviations			complexity = number of glances.		- Single-line abbreviations significantly
			Labelling formats for buttons: 1) single-line	,		shorter task completion times and fewer IP
			abbreviation, 2) double-line abbreviation and			glances
			3) fully spelled label			- Interaction between touch panel
						configuration and label abbreviation on task
						completion time and number of glances to IP I abelling had an effect for 3x3 but not
						2x2 or 1x1.

.

,

.

.

•

44-6	Venils & Coldinations	No significant differences between NO HUD/HUD conditions on flight als then 14 performance. Exception: Better lateral tracking with HUD before landing.           ials 11 and anomaly.         Fig 3: RTs faster for HUD (for both workload) compared to no HUD. High workload produced larger HUD advantage.           t         Fig 3: RTs vs. HUD/no HUD. Advantage.           t         Statule faster for hUD for both workload produced larger HUD advantage.           t         Results for unexpected events (ahear & workload produced larger HUD advantage.           t         Statule faster for high workload but much advantage for low workload but much advantage for low workload High workload produced 7 sec longer RT for HUD compared to no HUD (i.e., head down diaplay).           fig 5: RTs vs HUD/noHUD for plane anomaly. 7 sec longer RTs with HUD under high workload.	<ul> <li>c luminance) - Collapsed rating scale measures across Sunglass conditions via no effects.</li> <li>All rating scales decreased as forward scene luminance increased.</li> <li>All rating scales decreased as forward septoach video via high-contrast runway markings.</li> <li>Visibility and contrast ratings combined.</li> <li>Also, FLIR and water videos combined.</li> <li>Regression equations fit to ratings as a function of inverse modulation of videos.</li> <li>HUD raster image luminance must be on dimense order of 50% of the forward scene luminance if the pilot is to maintain innance order awarenes of general termin using mater innance order awarenes of general termin using mater</li> </ul>
	Procedure	<ul> <li>Trial types:</li> <li>1) First session: 14 practice tri</li> <li>2) Second session: 5 practice tri</li> <li>2) Second session: 5 practice tri</li> <li>3) Second session: 5 practice tri</li> <li>14 were always anomaly-plane)</li> <li>th were always anomaly trials (</li> <li>shear and anomaly-plane)</li> <li>Trial procedure:</li> <li>Trial procedure:</li> <li>1) Breakout of clouds at 1260 ft</li> <li>2) Maintain course using HUD i</li> <li>3) Determine if signal on runwa</li> <li>4) Detect varning signals (unpreinterval) and maintain speed at 5) Feedback on lateral and speed regulation at end RT and speed regulation at end</li> </ul>	280 ftL (optimal for 1000 ftL scen ral denaity) is containing fields, a road, cars, a dam se in front of lamps. 36 ft font of lamps. 30 ftL 31 rated 1) Visibility, 2) Contrast a h HUD image, 4) Randomized lum
Methods	Dependent Variables	Reaction time: onset of runway signal, shear anomaly to time fo she aromaly to the fo Sa to respond to these events.	<ul> <li>10x10 FOV. Peak raster luminance set to see (nonpolarized, 20% transmittance, neuth of low-level helicopter flight over runtl arca pter flight over Arizona descrt, a lake and a noting at a Phoenix airport</li> <li>me in front of forward three windows of coor me in front of forward three windows of coor me in front of forward three undows of coor 00, 1700, 2400, 3500, 4900, 7000 and 1000 unchors (i.e., 75 = acceptable quality). Pilc unchors (i.e., 75 = acceptable quality). Pilc unchors (i.e., 71 = acceptable quality). Pilc unchors (i.e., 75 = acceptable quality).</li> </ul>
	Independent Variables	<ol> <li>Viewing Condition: Head-up va. Head- down (10.7 degrees down from external scene image; between aubjects variable)</li> <li>Workload: High and Low (no more detail on how this was manipulated)</li> <li>Display:</li> <li>Jiedlesslope and horizon with digital attitude, vertical velocity, fast-on-slow speed indicator, speed, heading.</li> <li>Two trials presented uncypected shear warnings and plane warning (plane taxiing into runway)</li> </ol>	HUD: Glare-shield-mounted: split combiner, Combiner located at 16 inches All pilots tested with/without standard sungla. Images: 1) Daylight forward-looking infrared (FJJR) lake. 2) Daylight CCD imagery of low-level helico 3) Daylight CCD imagery of approach and la Cockpit mockup: diffuse white reflective doi 11/umination: 4000 W metal halide arc lamps Forward scene luminance levels: 5, 500, 100 Forward scene luminance levels: 5, 500, 100 Rating scale measure: 1 to 100 with verbal s Rating scale measure: 1 Single 2 hour session (with 5 minutes of adaptation at each of the 5
	Subjects	2 Female 18 Male All instrument rated pilots, 18 to 33 yrs.	Five aircraft pilots: 3 commercial pilots, 1 with private & exterience and 1 private pilot.
Ohiodine	ennolog	Investigate potential for attentional tunneling to both expected events on HUDs and in external scene	Investigate the information transfer to pilots under different flying conditions and estimate the minimum raster image luminance transfer image urmance image image tron tropically, HUD Typically, HUD Typically, HUD Typically, HUD typically, HUD typically, HUD typically much brighter than raster images.
Author(s),	Ycar	Larish & Wickens, 1991	Lloyd and Rcinhart, 1993

Results & Conclusions		mic transformation and elimination ra (4 out of 1180 position ions and 5 out of 1477 airspeed ions) produced normal distributions le variance (homoscodasticity). breaking out of clouds: g head-up better than head-down mbology types) at error lower (i.e., better ance) head-up when guidance tion was conformal gy is non-conformal y is non-conformal r location did not matter for non- al digmbology the advantage remained for al symbology erformance was head-down for error	gnificant differences for latency to unway in sight (p < .08). However, is slightly faster than head-down.  <i>incursion</i> : faster detecting runway in head-down than head-up and rith conformal than non-conformal ogy. Location main effect due to farmal/nead-up being significantly han non-conformal/facad-down nal symbology fuses with far domain tion. No HUD advantage primarily via nal symbology fuses with far domain tion. No HUD advantage when in non-conformal symbology.
		Logaritt of outlik observal observal and stah e. <u>Prior to</u> - trackit - trac	• No si report 1 head-ur Rumwa incursic faster v symbol non-coi non-coi norse t Conclu informi informi displayi
	Procedure	<ul> <li>16 subjects randomly assigned to each level of symbology type.</li> <li>Each subject flew half of trials head-up and half head-down</li> <li>36 approaches, 10 of which were practic in varying simulated weather conditions</li> <li>Cloud ceilings: 340 feet, 285 feet, 220 feet and 50 feet (simulated weather change feet and 50 feet (simulated approaches: if subjects thought it unsafe to land they signaled a missed approach (decision height = 200 feet)</li> <li>Last trial = Boeing 727 taxi onto runwa. Post-experiment questionnaire administered</li> </ul>	
Methods	Dependent Variables	Airspeed tracking error: RMSE for deviation of airspeed Position tracking error: RMSE for deviation in position (vertical and horizontal errors added). Speed of transition from instrument to visual flight references Latency to respond to an unexpected runway incursion	,
	Independent Variables	Simulation: Instrument Landing System (ILS) approach to an airport. Symbology and outside scene projected onto a 3 m by 2.2 m high screen viewed from 3 m. Conformal symbology: localizer course (lateral) guidance via a virtual runway that overlayed and moved in unison with the real runway. Also displayed a velocity vector. Non-conformal display: No velocity vector and used a conventional course deviation indicator (CDI) for lateral guidance Other information present in both symbology sets, some of which was non- conformal, some conformal. The primary difference is the virtual runway.	
	Subjects	32 licensed pilots and 6 females 19 to 44 years	
	Objectives	Experiment designed to predictions of space-based vs. object-based attention models using a simulated instrument Also, attempt to replicate earlier findings that HUDs lead to missed largets in external scene.	
Author(s).	Year	Long and Wickens, 1994	

.

٠

•

.

•

Author(s).				Methods		
Year	Objectives	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	
Marin- Lamellet, Dejeammes and Kerihuel, 1994	Observe whether the diaplay of simple symbolic information using a HUD or LCD screen causes different reactions in young and older drivers.	Subjects: 9 yoi but all older sul Apparatus: RE Electro-oculogr Simulated lane Four messages: Subjects' task: Displays: 1) L Displays: 1) L Data collected: number of glan	ung drivers (25 to 35) and 20 older drivers (66 bjects within normal limits for their age (i.e., i NAULT driving simulator. Operational accele aphy (EOG) and video camera: eye movement closures: obstacle ahead and close one, two o move right, move left, keep straight or stop, drive in center lane at 100 km/h. When mes CD colour screen: 15.23 em diagonal. 20 de CD sclour screen: 15.23 em diagonal. 20 de CD sclour screen: 15.23 em diagonal. 20 de tUD: matrix vacuum fluorescent device. 5 di HUD: matrix vacuum fluorescent device. 5 di tO screen + audiory cue: signalled the ons drive is 3 routes (for each display type) were device. First session: training on simulator for 10 to 1) Overall time to perform a run, 2) RT fron tees at LCD screen, 5) message reading time, d	0.75 yra.). Older subjects significantly poorer as no pathological conditions detected with any tests erator, brake and indicator controls. Engine nois its recorded to determine visual search strategies. Is all three lanes of the road ahead. sage displayed, make appropriate response egrees down and 23 degrees right, 80 cm viewing egrees down and 3 degrees left, 1.7 m viewing d legrees down and 3 degrees left, 1.7 m viewing d clopod. Obstateles along route included throks, c 20 minutes; 2) Practice test run; 3) Experimental n display of message and appropriate response (i 6) duration of glances away from LCD screen	uity, short-term memory and WAIS-R tes ) and 60-70 no different from 70-75. te reproduced as a function of speed Used only for gazes to LCD panel g distance, 94% contrast. ory cue. ory cue. istance ars. road work ars. road work I runs (2 hours): 3 sequences andicator or brake), 3) response accuracy, e	RT data: Age (F(1, 501) = 10.66, p < .0001) and Method of Dipplay (F(2, 501) = 23.25, p < .0001) effects. Shortest RTs were for HUD: 1 (younger) to 1.2 (older) second mean RTh. Longest RTb Screen + Auditory = 1.6 sees for younger to 1.8 for older. [NOTE: Standard deviations highert with HUD.] • Age effect due to difference using screen (older 300 msce slower RT to screen only) <u>Accuracy data</u> : no significant differences <u>Wisnal strategies</u> : 1) Younger Ss: Duration of looks to LCD screen higher when coupled with auditory signal 2) Older Ss: Duration of looks higher with suificontly quicker times for younger Ss (Screen + Sound slowest). Same effect for subjects under 70 only. Edderly aubjects take longer to finish for all screens.
Martin- Emenson and Wickens, 1993	Hypothesis: The extent to which the HUD symbology is conformal will determine the extent to which pilots will be pilots will be pilots will be their attention between the two images	6 subjects. Licensed private pilots 3 pilots trained and trained and trained and symbol configuration symbol configuration	Symbol configurations (between aubjecta): 1) Conformal: flight path guidance via symbol 2) Traditional: localizer and glideslope (partii Display conditions (within subjects variable): Changes in visibility: cycled between minimu Dependent measures: Flight path deviation or Protocol: 1) First session was practice; 2) Sec RESULTS RESULTS RMS Vertical Error: Small in HUD condition than in dual display c Small in HUD condition than in dual display c Autor advantage manifested for this measure a hateral alignment can only be achieved with an hereal alignment can only be achieved with an increased. Thus, conformal symbology fuses	lic runway and flight path symbol. ally conformal) superimposed HUD vs. dual display (includes he superimposed HUD vs. dual display (includes he im and maximum to force pilots to transition betv im and maximum to force pilots to transition betv er RMS lateral and vertical error condition for both symbol configurations. Also, condition for both symbol configurations. Also, well. However, traditional symbol produce mu mall vertical error.	ad-up and head-down display for alphanur ween instrument flight and visual flight rul condition and 9 for HUD condition) conformal symbols produce smaller error uch smaller lateral tracking errors than con attentional switching.	aerics)  for both display conditions. formal symbology. Attributed to the fact tha formal symbology. Attributed to the fact tha

Results & Conclusions		Significant effects for RT Data: Tak: Integration task takes longer than dual-task (F(1,22) = 13.55, $p < =.001$ ). Workload (F(1,22) = 7.52, $p < .01$ ) Position: Longer at greater separations (F(1,22) = 10.98, $p < .001$ ) Task x Workload: RT constant across workload (F(1,22) = 7.87, $p < .01$ ). Task x Position: Cost of separation higher for integration task (F(11,22) = 2.96, p < .04). Effects for RMSE Data: Workload: higher workload increased (F(1,22) = 2.96, p < .04). Effects for RMSE Data: Workload: higher workload (F(1,22) = 216.97, $p < .001$ ). Task x Position: greater error as separation increased (F(1,12) = 9.85, $p < .001$ ). Task x Position: F(11,12) = 2.84, $p < .001$ . Task x Position: F(11,12) = 2.84, $p < .001$ . Task x Position: greater error as separation increased (F(1,12) = 9.85, $p < .001$ ). Task x Position: F(11,12) = 2.84, $p < .001$ . Task x Position: F(11,12) = 2.84, $p < .001$ . Task x Position: F(11,12) = 2.84, $p < .001$ . Task x Position: F(11,12) = 2.84, $p < .001$ . Task r position: greater error as separation increased (F(1,12) = 9.85, $p < .001$ ). Task r position: for both task. Accomponent: equivalent from 9.6 to 22.5 degrees. Third: >22.5 degrees
	Procedure	Prior to each block: 2 minute practice period (primary tracking only) Four blocks of 12 trials (each trial represents a different display separation): 2 blocks = low workload, 2 blocks = high workload Within a trial: subjects respond to 12 1 second presentations of the discrete stimulus for the secondary task. Random interstimulus interval of 2 to 10 seconds. Workload was counterbalanced
Methods	Dependent Variables	RMS tracking error: recorded during the one-second presentation of the discrete etimulus for the secondary task and for one second immediately following stimulus offset Response time: for discrete task Response identity: correct, late correct (i.e., respond after 1 second), incorrect or omission. For the integration task, correct response when correct button pressed during the time that cursor was within the tracking target. Auditory feedback provided for correct responses.
	Independent Variables	Primary task: compensatory tracking task within a window at the top of a Silicon Graphics color monitor Secondary task: small circle appearing in 1 of 12 positions below tracking symbols. Separations: 0 to 35.3 degrees head-down (3.2 degree separations). Subjects respond with either right or left response orresponding to the directional arrow displayed within the circle "I Integration: respond to secondary task only when tracking cursor was within target symbol 2) Dual-task: respond to secondary task regardless of position of cursor for primary task. Workload: High and Low varied by changing the bandwidth of the cursor movement
	Subjects	24 student observen, 12 in integration task and 12 in dual-task incentive pay structure to reward performance
	samplan	Establish the cost function of vertical separation between two displays in a dual-task paradigm. Namely, does the display of "head-up" "head-up" "head-up" "head-up" "head-up" "head-up" "normation performance decrements relative to superimposed information
Author(s),	Year	Martin- Einerson and Vickens, 1992

60

,

٠

•

Author(s),				Methods		
Year	Objectives	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	Reaults & Conclusions
McCann and Foyle, 1994 (NOTE: This paper provides a good review of research on cognitive effects.)	Replicate previous findings of altitude/path RMSE tradeoff in the presence of digital altitude on HUD altitude on HUD altitude of "virtual" buildings as a possible solution	14 subjects	Four flight conditions: 1) No HUD control condition 2) Digital HUD 3) Scene-linked HUD: virtual buildings with an assigned height of 100 feet with an assigned height of 100 feet and scene-linked HUD information provided to subjects simultaneously.	RMSE Altitude: the error, in feet, in tracking the altitude. RMSE Path: error, in feet, for ataying on a path indicated in the display.	<ul> <li>Subjects flew 12 flights in each of 4 condition practice trials).</li> <li>Practice trials).</li> <li>RMSE Altitude:</li> <li>Digital altitude improved altitude performat</li> <li>Virtual buildings also reduced RMSE altitus</li> <li>Combined digital/virtual altitude HUDs pro</li> <li>Combined digital/virtual altitude HUDs pro</li> <li>Graphic HUD produced decrement in path performance with virt</li> <li>Graphic HUD produced decrement in path provious studies.</li> <li>Small benefit in path performance with virt</li> <li>Supports contention that scene-linked HUDs problems with standard HUD symbology problems with standard HUD symbology reluture: With GPS, virtual billboards can be Proposed for aircraft but would gratemize to visual augmentation of roadway features can for path guidance as a navigational aid.</li> </ul>	as (total of 48 experimental flights plus some tee te by an amount equal to the graphic HUD. duce slightly smaller RMSE than each alone. performance (higher RMSE) which replicates ual buildings. ual buildings. uneliorate the concurrent processing uneliorate the voncurrent processing be used during low visibility conditions and
McCann, Foyle and Johnston, 1993	Test two hydytheses: 1) HUD and workl are separate perceptual groups; processing HUD excludes workd from processing and vice versa and vice versa and vice versa whether transitioning from HUD to workd requires attention shift.	20 under- graduates graduates subjects. Each had normal or corrected-to- normal vision.	Low fidelity simulated approach to a runway Color segregation: HUD in light blue, runwa IFR vs. VFR: Ss monitored runway or HUD take relevant information from runway and ig and ignore runway. Targets: diamond (indicating runway open) o responses from subjects). These appeared in (displayed in perspective) Attention switching manipulation: Intra-group compared to Inter-group trials (for example, v compared to Inter-group trials (for example, v congruent) response. If there is some proce will decrease RT and incongruency will increa	at night. Viewing distance = 60 cm y in light yellow. I for one of these two cues. VFR cues Ss to more HUD. IFR cues Ss to monitor HUD ror stop sign (runway closed; require different of 4 HUD boxes or 1 of 4 runway boxes 1 of 4 HUD boxes or 1 of 4 runway boxes trials (i.e., IFR displayed on HUD) will be VFR displayed on HUD). i excluded from processing, RT will be equires asme (congruent) or different essing of irrelevant information, congruency ase RT.	4 blocks of 144 trials each. Cue appeared in one of the HUD boxes for first 2 blocks and on the runway in final 2 blocks. Each block contains 36 replicates of target location (HUD vs. runway) and target vs. non-target relationahip (congruent or non-target relationahip (congruent or non-ongruent) All testing performed in sound-attenusted booth. Trial sequence: HUD and runway for 1.5 second, present cue, 250 msec delay, present geometric figure target	No upper limit on RTs so distributions had a large positive skew. Thus, all analyses based on median RTs <u>Effect of trial type</u> : Cue x Target Interaction: When relevant target was on HUD, Sa were 63 msec slower to respond when cue was on the runway. When relevant target was on runway. When relevant target was on runway, Sa were 148 msec slower to respond when cue was on HUD. (F(1,19)=42.2, $p < .001$ ). Also significant on error rates (F(1,19)=9.0, $p < .01$ ). Congruency effects: On intra-group trials, no congruency effect. On intra-group trials, congruent cases were 33 msec faster than incongruent cases.

Author(s).				Methods		Results & Conclusions
Year	Ubjectives	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	
McCann, Lynch, Foyle and 1993 1993	Test attention- sharing va. attention- attention- models by manipulating the cues that lead to segregation of HUD ('near' domain) and runway ('far' domain).	48 students 48 students State Uuiscresity. All were between ages between ages to normal vision vision vision Half of subjects get trever hurb boxes. Remaining Ss, appears on runway.	Runway/world scene: horizon line with persp HUD domain: pitch lines, four small boxes a Color cue: if present then HUD drawn in light HUD and world drawn in light yellow. Congruence effects: If irrelevant domain excl dange when pseudotargets require same or di excluded, RT should increase for pseudotarget for pseudotargets requiring the same response Experimental stimuli: 1) IFR/VFR: abbreviations for instrument flig and visual flight rule (VFR; i.e., respond to r 3) Relevant domain Targets/distractors are idd 4) Irrelevant domain targets/distractors are idd Motion cues: runway simulated pitch and yas was stationary on screen. Dependent cue: reaction time to targets and s	ective runway and an airplane symbol. It blue and world in light yellow. If absent, tuded from processing, than RT should not ifferent response and domain NOT ifferent response and docrease ifferent response and docrease ght rule (IFR; i.e., respond to HUD targets) nuwy targets). ay cloed) or diamond (runway open) ay cloed) or diamond (runway open) accuracy of responso.	Tak: subjects instructed to imagine that they are landing an airphane and that the response indicates intent to land or go- around based on stimuli imbedded in either the HUD or runway. 4 blocks of 144 trials each Each block contained 36 replicates for the combination of mrget domain and target- pseudotarget relation (i.e., congrueant vs. non-congruent). Perceptual conditions were blocked according to four combinations of color cue and motion cue presence/absence.	No upper limit on RTs so distributions had a large positive skew. Thus, all analyses based on median RTs. No effects involving color or congruence were significant in an ANOVA. <u>HUD advantage</u> : F(1,46) = 4.51, $p<.05$ ) <u>HUD advantage</u> : F(1,46) = 4.51, $p<.05$ ) <u>Cue x Target interaction</u> : Cue on HUD, if cue an runway. F(1,46) = 13.23, $p<.001$ . Cue x Target interaction maintains. With motion, cue x target interaction maintains. With motion, cue attenued. Namely, domain effects were attenued. Namely, domains for a advise on WITHIN (cue and larget on HUD or nuway) and faster on BETWEEN (cue and target in different domains). <u>Analysis of errors</u> : mirror of RT analyses <u>Congruency effects</u> : incongruent for runway with that. Also, no WITHIN advantage (i.e., alower on within triabs) when no motion cue present and cue is on runway. Wuen they have to monitor one domain at a time. However, if task requires monitoring both domains, segregation is detrimental. Also, asymmetries suggest HUD acts as an atteruted a "tarp".
.

•

.

	Kesults & Conclusions	Exp. 1A: No significant differences between a, b or c when compared on linear display speed (.47 in/sec to 4.78 in/sec). NOTE: b and c did produce "visual distress" No significant dual task decrements except for azimuth tracking D-mode. Detection task: RTa 1.23 seconds without concurrent tracking. With tracking U-mode RT is .88 vs. 3.86 D-mode. Also, more misses in D-mode Also, more misses in D-mode displays Fexp 5B: 10 to 1 reduction in training time for pictorial display vs. symbolic displays follow-up: no significant differences with HUD Exp 6B: Heading and height tracking errors were minimized with D1, then D2 next best followed by D3. This ordering corresponds to pilot preference rankings.
	Procedure	tances (25 in.): c) peripheral location, near dom interstimulus intervals; 2 and 3.5 minarc) cations varied as in a, b and c above ations varied as in a, b and c above ong subjects 2D, 2U, 1+2U posed) posed) ther pictorial information; geographic reference ferences used in cross-hairs
Methods	Dependent Variables	erent relative positions al: 5-25 ful.; .6797 contrast. 6 to 1 sec ran cods; tracking integrated over 50 seconds; loc g experience th at irregular intervals and random positions ak d elevation of U and D-modes was counterbalanced am ): 1, 2U, 1+2U, 2D, 1+2D OR 1, 2D, 1+2 instrument' approach instrument' approach instrument' approach instrument' approach instrument' approach instrument' approach d elevation convard view with which visual contact is aup ter a pilots; 20 minutes training novice pilots 1 pilots) and Untrained (7 pilots) 1 pilots) and orientation ambiguous; aircraft ref ective and orientation ambiguous; aircraft ref
	Independent Variablea	of relative position of visual fields: bination of simple fields superimposed in diff m) mple tasks: 1) Recognition of numbers: fove mple tasks: 1) Recognition of numbers: fove 2) Tracking task: 5 different sp ilots with at least 50 hours of instrument flyin mplex tasks: 1) Detection of low contrast lig 2) Two-dimensional tracking taster 2) Tracking task error in azimuth at assures: 1) Detection task response time 2) Tracking task error in azimuth at as (use task numbers and U/D as shown above if mation of combination in real flight a essment by pilots th simulator study di study findings. Filots could monitor altitud for any ogroups: Trained using simulator (1 presented information of form of presented information minimation of conformable fields - Ease of learr as 4.25 minutes taning required for experiment dy: Two groups: Trained using simulator (1 presentation within common framework by each as above except no persp D3 = steering demands only D3 = steering demands only
	Subjects	A. Influence         Exp. 1A: Com         Subjects: 11         HUD Condition         distance (25 in         Concurrent sin         Concurrent sin         Concurrent sin         Concurrent sin         Concurrent co         Display modes         Test condition         17 pilots used         Subjective ass         Exp 4A: Flig         Replicated fiel         B. Influence (         Exp 5B: Com         Pictorial displa         Folow-up stud         Exp 6B: GB: Replicated fiel         Pictorial displa         Folow-up stud         Exp 6B: Com
	Colectives	Investigate the effects of position and form of HUD symbology on including (including entangue symbology) on the combination of information by the by the by the by the performance of associated concurrent tasks.
Author(s),	Ycar	Neish, 1964

Yur         Dependent         Dependent Vurieble         Dependent Vurieble         Dependent Vurieble         Decendent           Orbahyukii, Experiment I: Orbanum displuy pontion on the windklet Staton.         5.8 at most 200.03 Strong         5.8 at most 200.03 Strong         5.9 at a low and high y pontion of obstruction/frustration and legibility. Optimal displuy location decrmined as the point where these two relings internect.           Databare, Lin Contrant I: Defauration of displuy faghility for HUD and HDD Experiment 2: Enhancion         5.8 at a low and high y pontion         5.9 at a low and high y pontion           Tababare, Lin Contrant I: Defauration of displuy faghility for HUD and HDD train antonnois         1.9.1.1.1. At a low of a point with a low of the HUD of LID and the self point of a low of the HUD of LID and the self point of a low and high y speed (opendia and the automotion are meaned units an even of the AUD of LID and HDD train extension 1: Defauration of resonant lumbare.         3.9.1.0.4.1.1.1. At a low and high y speed (opendia and the analysis) a ganificant (so tast a low of the HUD of LID and HDD train extension 1: Defauration of resonant units an even of the HUD of LID and the analysis of to a low of the analysis of the analysis of the analysis of the AUD of LID and the analysis of the AUD of LID and the analysis of the AUD of Such and COCO. Define a stat the analysis of the AUD of Such and AUD of AUD analysis trans the display.           Expont	Author(s).				Methods		Results & Conclusions
<ul> <li>Chabyraki, Experiment I: Optimum display position on the windsheld</li> <li>Chabyraki, Experiment I: Statiant (20 to 3) yars)</li> <li>Sakan, weify fai</li> <li>Sokan, Sokan, Sokan, Sokan, Sokan evaluation of charaction frunction and legibily. Optimal display location detarmined as the point where there are all protonal position: a static position of display legibility for HUD and HDD</li> <li>Sakan, Sakan, Sakana (20 to 4) yaran)</li> <li>Sayama (20 to 4) yaran</li> <li>Sayama (20 to</li></ul>	Year	Objectives	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	
<ul> <li>Reaults: Report only error rates. HUD = 27.8 (a.d. = 11.5) vs. HDD = 58.7 (a.d. = 11.5). HUD advantage = 30.9. Stantactary argument to text standards on electron the two of the ground of recognition time between HUD and HDD during actual driving.</li> <li>Experiment 3: Evaluation of recognition time between HUD and HDD during actual driving.</li> <li>So 4 males (21 to 38 years)</li> <li>Recognition time: measured using an eye-mark camera (EMC). Defined as the time that the subjects fixate the diaplay</li> <li>Verbal response: St read of the speed indicated on either the HUD or the HDD.</li> <li>Driving conditions: Stringth road at 0.7 0 and 100 Km/h and Correat read at 40 (30-30 meer radius) and 70 Km/h (30 to 150 meer radius).</li> <li>Driving conditions: Stringth road at 0.7 0 and 100 Km/h and Correat read at 40 (30-30 meer radius) and 70 Km/h (30 to 150 meer radius).</li> <li>Driving conditions: Stringth road at 0.7 0 and 100 Km/h and Correat read at 40 (30-30 meer radius) and 70 Km/h (30 to 150 meer radius).</li> <li>Driving conditions: Stringth road at 0.7 0 and 100 Km/h and Correat radia driving conditions. However, HUD advantage first are contrast at driving conditions. However, HUD advantage first are the diaplay of the stringth road at than cur of fraction away from HUD on enror of one 1400 km/h and correases as vehicle speed increases (attributed to a hilf of attention/fration to forward line of aight fracts.</li> <li>Dres are dout-lask scarp as in experiment 2.</li> <li>Use same dual-lask scarp as in experiment 2.</li> <li>Error rates docreased 30% to about 5% as virtual image distances: 1 m to about 11 m.</li> <li>Error rates docreased 30% to about 5% as virtual image distances in the other 11 m.</li> <li>Error rates docreased 30% to about 5% as virtual image distances.</li> <li>Error rates docreased 30% to about 5% as virtual image distances to a stored the effect of ambient information to forward line of scalar to reported.</li> <li>No experimental deals provided. They present a curue for</li></ul>	Okabayaahi, Sakata, Fukano, Daidoji, Hashimoto and Ishikawa, 1989	Experiments conducted to verify the verificitiveness of a HUD designed for automotive use.	Experiment 1: - Sa 8 males (2 - Subjective rat - Horizontal po Experiment 2: - Sa 7 males (2 - HUD: . 8 me - Primary Taak	Optimum display position on the windshield (0 to 38 yeare) itig scale: 5-point evaluation of obstruction/fr itig scale: 5-point evaluation of obstruction/fr asitions: do not report actual horizontal locatio Evaluation of display legibility for HUD and Evaluation of display legibility for HUD and ter distance, 10 degrees left and 8 degrees dov eter distance, 10 degrees left and 8 degrees dov eter distance, 10 degrees left and 8 degrees dov ask: Read two digit random numbers on either	ustration and legibility. Optimal display locatio ans in degrees. However, the two subjective rat HDD M. Luminance: 8 cd/m <sup>2</sup> an = .48 sec) in 4 positions displayed on a forw	on determined as the point where these two r ting scales intersect at "5.5X" at a low and h ward screen.	stings intersect. igh speed (speeds not reported).
<ul> <li>5.84 males (21 to 36 year).</li> <li>5.84 males (21 to 36 year).</li> <li>6.8cognition time: measured using an eye-mark-camera (EMC). Defined as the time that the subjects fixate the display.</li> <li>6. Verbal response: Ss read off the speed indicated on either the HUD or the HDD.</li> <li>7. Driving conditions: Strength road at 40, 70 and 100 Karh and Curved road at 40 (30-80 meter radius) and 70 Km/h (80 to 150 meter radius).</li> <li>7. Driving conditions: Strength road at 40, 70 and 100 Karh and Curved road at 40 (30-80 meter radius) and 70 Km/h (80 to 150 meter radius).</li> <li>7. Bruits: HUD recognition times faster (80 to 180 mec. difference HUD w. HDD) under all driving conditions. However, HUD advantage larger on straight roads than curved fract (80 to 180 mec. difference HUD w. HDD) under all driving conditions. However, HUD advantage larger on straight roads than curved fract (80 to 180 meter and the HUD advantage increases as vehicle speed increases (attributed to shift of attention/fixation to forward line of sight for attention away from HUD on curved roads. Also, HUD advantage increases as vehicle speed increases (attributed to shift of attention/fixation to forward line of sight roads than curved costs of the state schupes in increase.</li> <li>Experiment 4: Effect of legibility distance betwoen driver's eyes and displayed images.</li> <li>Error rates decreased 30% to about 5% as virtual image distances 1 m to about 11 m.</li> <li>Error rates decreased 30% to about 5% as virtual image distance and the state.</li> <li>Error rates decreased 30% to about 5% as virtual image distance and the state.</li> <li>No experiment 3: Optimum HUD and HDD brightness</li> <li>No experiment 4: experiment 5: Optimum HUD advantage increase of atheres.</li> <li>Error rates decreased 30% to about 5% as virtual image of HUD brightness as a function of forward scene brightness. The contrasts were to a 10 meter of a short to a to a dot of 0 dot 0 dot 0 dot 0 dot 0 dot 0 dot</li></ul>			- Results: Rep Experiment 3:	port only error rates. HUD = 2/.8 (s.4.=11 Evaluation of recognition time between HUD	o) vs. HDD = 36.7 (s. d 11.7). FOD attention of HDD during actual driving.		
<ul> <li>Experiment 4: Effect of legibility distance between driver's eyes and displayed images.</li> <li>Use same dual-task schup as in experiment 2.</li> <li>Screen distances: 4 meters or 12 meters. Virtual image distances: 1 m to abcut 11 m.</li> <li>Error rates decreased 30% to about 5% as virtual image distances: 1 m to abcut 11 m.</li> <li>Experiment 5: Optimum HUD and HDD brightness</li> <li>No experimental detail provided. They present a curve for allowable range of HUD brightness as a function of forward scene brightness. The contrasts were not reported; presented it appears that luminance contrast ranged from 2.0 to 6.0. They also measured the effect of ambient illumination on HDD. At high ambient levels (&gt;10<sup>4</sup> hu), it to 100 cd/m<sup>2</sup></li> <li>The remainder of this article detals with HUD design issues. The above results were taken into consideration in the design of the HUD NCTE: Weintraub and Ensing cution against the use of error rates as measured here via they limited viewing time of the Landolt ring which is not ecologically valid.]</li> </ul>			<ul> <li>- Ss 4 mates (.</li> <li>- Recognition 1</li> <li>- Verbal respo</li> <li>- Driving cond</li> <li>- Reaults: HU</li> <li>- Reaults: HU</li> </ul>	21 to 38 years) time: measured using an eye-mark-camera (E) time: measured using an eye-mark-camera (E) ditions: Straight tosd at 40, 70 and 100 Km/h JD recognition times faster (80 to 180 msec dif ion away from HUD on curved roads. Also, H	MC). Defined as the time that the subjects fixat the HUD or the HDD. and Curved road at 40 (30-80 meter radius) an ference HUD vs. HDD) under all driving condi iUD advantage increases as vehicle speed increased	ite the display ad 70 Km/h (80 to 150 meter radius). itions. However, HUD advantage larger on i asse (attributed to shift of attention/fixation to	straight roads than curved. Attributed to shift o forward line of sight)
<ul> <li>Experiment 5: Optimum HUD and HDD brightness</li> <li>No experiment 4: Optimum HUD and HDD brightness</li> <li>No experimental detail provided. They present a curve for allowable range of HUD brightness as a function of forward scene brightness. The contrasts were not reported; presented it appears that luminance contrast ranged from 2.0 to 6.0. They also measured the effect of ambient illumination on HDD. At high ambient levels (&gt;10<sup>4</sup> lux), the to 100 cd/m<sup>2</sup></li> <li>The remainder of this article deals with HUD design issues. The above results were taken into consideration in the design of the HUD</li> <li>NOTE: Weintraub and Ensing caution against the use of error rates as measured here via they limited viewing time of the Landolt ring which is not ecologically valid.]</li> </ul>			Experiment 4: - Use same du - Screen distar - Error rates d	: Effect of legibility distance between driver's e ual-task actup as in experiment 2. nces: 4 meters or 12 meters. Virtual image di decreased 30% to about 5% as virtual image di	eyes and displayed images. istances: 1 m to about 11 m. istance approached screen distance.		
The remainder of this article deals with HUD design issues. The above results were taken into consideration in the design of the HUD NOTE: Weintraub and Ensing caution against the use of error rates as measured here via they limited viewing time of the Landolt ring which is not ecologically valid.]			Experiment 5: - No experime presented it to 100 cd/n	: Optimum HUD and HDD brightness ental detail provided. They present a curve for t appears that luminance contrast ranged from 2 m <sup>2</sup>	r allowable range of HUD brightness as a functi 2.0 to 6.0. They also measured the effect of an	ion of forward scene brightness. The contra mbient illumination on HDD. At high ambien	sts were not reported; however, from the figu it levels (>10 <sup>4</sup> hux), the HDD must be from 1
NOTE: Weintraub and Ensing caution against the use of error rates as measured here via they limited viewing time of the Landolt ring which is not ecologically valid.]			The remainde	er of this article deals with HUD design issues.	The above results were taken into consideration	n in the design of the HUD	
			NOTE: Wein	ntraub and Ensing caution against the use of err	ror rates as measured here via they limited view	wing time of the Landolt ring which is not ec	cologically valid.]

.

•

•

.

Author(s),				Methods		
Ycar	Objectives	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	Kesults & Conclusions
Okabayaahi, Sakata & Hatada, 1991	Investigate the interference resulting from superimposition of HUD images and objects in the forward view.	Subjects: 7 male <u>Forward View S</u> 1) Oricatistion of 2) Varied "bokt Experiment 2 [N Experiment 2 [N] 3) Moving targe about the wavefit about the wavefit image. 4) Periphenal vie 5) Stimulus dura <u>HUD Parameter</u> 1) Fill factor (F) 0, F = no segmet 3) Viewing Dist [NOTE: Althoug image only which cRR (Exp. 1): active tragets we are different ig.	a (20 to 35 years). Visual Acuity 1.0 to 1.5 nellen E acuity targets: E varied tess "(apparently a change in size of Snellen E IOTE: Inconsistent with later procedure write t: angular velocity varied from 0 to 1.8 degr orm of target movement, amplitude or timing wring: foveal and 15 degrees in the periphery tion = .8 sec wing: foveal and 15 degrees in the periphery tion = .8 sec it is needed and 15 degrees in the periphery tion = .8 sec is percent of square segments turned in a matr to on, 50% shalf the segments turned in a matr the on, 50% shalf the segments turned in a matr the on, 50% shalf the segments on (worst case mitnat (R): 1.3 to 3.0 ance (L): .7 m to 5 m ance the interact of simulate the distance to a HDD. Although the same name is used, the paramete anclent.	<ul> <li>E) in Experiment 1 and contrast in sup for Exp. 2]</li> <li>up for Exp. 2]</li> <li>of the onset of the targets relative to HUD of the onset of the targets relative to HUD inage.</li> <li>of the onset of the targets relative to HUD inage.</li> <li>of the onset of the targets relative to HUD inage.</li> <li>of the onset of the targets relative to HUD inage.</li> <li>of the onset of the targets relative to HUD inage.</li> <li>of the onset of the targets relative to HUD inage.</li> <li>of the one of the targets relative to HUD inage.</li> <li>of the one of the targets relative to the second of the Society on it the orientation of the Society it is in the calculation are different. How they</li> </ul>	Experiment 1: 1) Dark adapt (10 mins) and then 100 practice trials without HUD. 2) Foveal viewing of Snellen E. 3) Obtain Snellen E size that yielda CRR of 80%. Snellen Velocity. Experiment 2: 1) Dark adapt (10 mins) and then 100 practice trials without HUD. 2) Fixate a character on center screen and view Snellen E a 15 degrees in the <i>priphery</i> . 3) Snellen E size that yields 80% CRR. 4) Obtain CRRS for changes in F, L, R and Snellen Velocity.	<ol> <li>As fill factor (F) approaches ~50%, CRR decreases. The largest decrease in the HUD contrast is highest (R=3.0).</li> <li>Viewing distance (L) had no effect.</li> <li>Snellen Velocity had a beneficial effect of CRR. At the highest HUD contrast (R=3.0), CRR increased from about 15% at 0 deg/sec to an asymptote of 50% at 1 deg/sec.</li> </ol>

Domined House		7, 14.1 and 82.2 (4, 12 and 24 ftl.) til clearly visible (comfort level). ficantly different from other contrasts. ficantly different from other contrasts. i were used: ance (threshold and comfort distances obtained) 7.5 001) r contrast greater than 1.5 contrast greater than 1.5 contrast greater than 1.5 contrast greater than 2.5 contrast greater than 2.5 contrast greater than 2.5 n contrast greater than 2.5 n contrast greater than 2.5 contrast for an adaptation huminances 0 acc at 1.4 contrast to 30 acc at 3.2. For tighest contrast. n begin to rise at log ratios of 2 (i.e., x100
	Procedure	via a zoom control. Symbol huminances: 13.7 ly see the break (threshold) and to increase un- legibility. Post-hoc analyses reveal 2:1 signif eshold size obtained by changing viewing dist 1.2, 1.4 and 1.5 Stroke = 1.2, 1.5, 3 and 1.2, 1.4 and 1.5 (t=5.255, df=18, p<. 4. Random-scan: no performance benefit for eggeres. Adaptation huminances: 3.4, 34.3, 1 defrees. Adaptation huminances: 3.4, 34.3, 1 defrees. Adaptation huminances: 3.4, 34.3, 1 adaptation huminance) and interactions signifi and luminance of 3.4 cd/m <sup>2</sup> , RT ranged from 7 dis at low contrast and about 4 seconds at the ligh (3.2) and low (1.4) contrasts: function
Methods	Dependent Variables	ition in size from 1.53 to 24.56 minutes of arc v if in size from 1.53 to 24.56 minutes of arc v lifecant result for both threshold and comfort 1 umination urc urc numination on. Illumination on CRT provided by two urc numination com. Illumination on CRT provided by two urc number and background luminances): Raster = much higher legibility at 1.2 (t=6.012, df= nuch higher legibility at 1.2 (t=6.012, df= nuch higher legibility at 1.2 (t=6.012, df= nuch higher legibility at 1.2 (t=6.012, df= numination nututes 2) After cue from experimenter, turn inituits a piece of or at glass subtending 36 di initating a piece of or at glass subtending 36 di the highest adaptation level and background pration luminance to background luminance, ion luminance to background luminance for turce.
	Independent Variables	aninance contrast effects in low ambient illumin aninance contrast effects in low ambient illumin ring symbols viewed from 4.27 meters. Varies and: changed luminance to vary contrast ratio mios: 2:1, 4:1 or 8:1 Using method of adjustment, subjects increased uninance contrast was the only statistically sig non-contrast effects in modernte ambient ill observers. All tested for normal far acuity mance contrast effects in modernte ambient ill observers. All tested for normal far acuity unducted in a moderately illuminated (108 lux) tion at the screen: 29062, 53820 or 107639 l nondes, stimuli and task: natter vs. stroke disj contrast ratios (obtained by changing both syn fiffect of display mode: atroke mode produced fiffect of display mode: atroke mode produced innance contrast effects in high ambient illumi observers. Normal or corrected-to-normal far contrast ratios: 1.4, 1.8, 2.2, 2.7, 3.1 contrast ratios of load-and any RT delays. ound luminance of 34.3 ad/m <sup>3</sup> , the highest add Plotted RT as a function and background luminance bleat contrast and adaptation luminance.
	Subjects	<ul> <li>Study 1: Lurr</li> <li>33 observerat</li> <li>1) Landolt ri</li> <li>2) Backgrouse:</li> <li>3) Contrast i</li> <li>3) Contrast i</li> <li>3) Contrast i</li> <li>3) Contrast i</li> <li>4) Landolt Lurr</li> <li>5) Display i</li> <li>3) Symbol</li> <li>3) Symbol</li> <li>3) Symbol variable ro</li> <li>8) Symbol variable ro</li> <li>10) Task and Pro</li> </ul>
	Objectives	Assess Iuminance and Iuminance contrast requirements for symbol legibility of self-luminous displays in aircraft cockpits
Author(s),	Year	Rogers, Spiker and Cicinelli, 1986

.

.

،

.

.

7

stoury convect notes and note levels to Exp. 4 of Okaba c distance on HUD legibility (Refer to Exp. 4 of Okaba
ay legibility on object recognition in the forward view. (ears) lance, 10 degrees left and 8 degrees below straight ahead.
rection to the full of the ful
iner tinting rears) vard screen and indicate the direction of Landolt rings at
ner transmittance was 30%, 40% and 50% (no combine) ence between error rates for 40%, 50% and control (84 D brightness considering brightness variation of forward
y driving HUD installed vehicle (ease) cate (where $1 = no$ effect, $5 = large effect) subjective ecate (where 1 = no effect, 5 = vou troubled by display glitteforward visibility? 4) Are you troubled by display glittevehicle along a predetermined course at three speeds (2)from 2 to 3.5. No statistics reported. Uncasiness via le$
(D) used. HUD combiner: 40 cm from observer. 102.3 luminance. Varied the position of Air Force bar chart by luminance. Varied the position of Air Force bar chart by level to change collimation. Subjects monitored bar charter required of subjects to maintain high level of resolutivity: Spatial frequency of 2.4 d syrddeg 6.57 ft. mean CFRT (circular grather abstrance data 3.25 degrees in diamet the reached contrast union a distrance mercedure. The orthogenees of the set of the s
In uncentral contrast using a sourcese procedure. In each the firth the HUD or viewed directly. B: The time taken to respond to a grating presentation we get $\frac{1}{1000}$ . Inside of infinity (+.75 diopters), collimated ( $\sqrt{-75}$ diopters). $\sqrt{-75}$ diopters). In measurement: Humphrey <u>Auto Refractor (Model 570</u> on measurement: A "hot" mirror (transmits visions during the experiment. A "hot" mirror transmits visions during the experiment viewing of targets.

Results & Conchisions		Salient cue detection: HUD users missed 3 out of 90 possible cues. HDD users missed 9 of 90 cues (not significantly different). RT effects: 1) Display configuration effect: HUD mean RT was 570 msec and HDD mean RT was 1010 msec (440 msec difference). 2) Cue location effect: aslient cue location had an effect on RT. Order from lowest RT to highest RT: center (.61 scc), right (.83 scc) and left (.93 scc). Speed violations: Ss in HUD condition detected 100 % of speed violations. HDD S missed 7 of 90. Cuestionnaire: Sa were indifferent about utility of HUDs (half resported HUD ineffective as anvigation aid or as an aid in salient cue detection). Would prefer peripheral location.	Speed: VES operation yielded significantly slower speeds across runs. However, mean speed increased as the number of runs increased. Significantly higher speed variability when using VES within the curved section of the route. <u>Mental Workload</u> : <u>Westlond</u> : Sources of the higher workload: "mental effort" and "mental dermand" "mental dermand" Pedestrian detection: No significant effects. However, it should be noted that the compricuty of the target was roughly equal under normal and IR lighting. <u>System failure</u> : Simulatod failure did not produce any significant increases in workload or speed.
	Procedure	Three acsaions: 1) Task familiarization: each task performed on a 5 minute test route. Ss practiced to adequate performance levels 2) Route memorization: verhal instructions and the map depicting the correct route. Also, watch videotape of correct route. Session complete when Sa could indicate the correct route orally. 3) Test session: viewed the test route while performing the three tasks. Session lasted about 24 minutes. Post-experiment questionnaire regarding the study and the desirability of HUDs.	Ist session: I hour familiarization which included description of how to operate the VES unit and a test drive at night with VES. 2nd and 3rd session: I hour assions. Four practice trials followed by field trials with or without VES (order was counter- balanced among subjects). Field trial runs: 20 runs (10 each direction) along course. 4 of the runs had pedestrian targets. Run 17 spontaneous system failure.
Methods	Dependent Variablea	Taska and dependent measures: 1) Speed-monitoring: verbal report whenever speed exceeded posted speed limit by at least 5 mph. Measure: percent correct 2) Navigation task: Subjects memorize schematic of a route and remember appropriate turns. When a wrong turn is made in the video (3 deviations filmed), Sa report this to experimenter. Errons: false alarms (i.e., say wrong turn when was a correct turn) and misses. 3) Salient cue detection: detect a child's green ball that appeared in roadway. Record RT from stimulus onset to button press.	Mean speed on course: computed mean speeds along the course for runs 1, 10 and 20. Speed variability: standard deviation units along the course (3 zones: straight portion of course and 2 areas where there is a bend in the road). <u>NASA TLX-R</u> : Mean composite workload rating scores.
	Independent Variables	Videotaped scene: Filmed on various roads in Durham, NC using VHS videocassette. Digital speedometer: computer graphics image overlayed onto driving scene. Display screen: 1.8 m diagonal projection TV. Average screen luminance: 9 cd/m <sup>2</sup> Display configurations (between subjects variable): HUD or dashboard speedometer (viewing distance of HDD = 50-70 cm). <u>Road type</u> : two-lane rural, four-lane highway and four-lane city. Salient cue location: 570 arcmin left/right of center.	HUD: Contact analogue images produced via output from a near infra-red camera. Scene illuminated with an infra-red source. 5 meter virtual image distance. 13 degree field of view. Driving route: 1 Km rural road with a bend midway along course. Pedestrian silhouettes: 1.7 m high cutout placed along the course at unpredictable locations. Workload assessment: the NASA TLX-R used to assess workloads before 1st run and after runs 5, 10, 15, 17 (system failure run) and 20.
	Subjects	20 subjects participated. Each had a valid driver's corrected far excury of at least 20/40. 51.	Five subjects (3 male, 2 fermale) with median age of 26
Okiani	Culcuns	Compare effects of simulated HUD and conventional speedometer on various perceptual driving tasks in a simulated e nvironment.	Evaluate the effectiveness of a prototype near infra-red vision enhancement system using a contact analogue HUD presentation.
Author(s),	Ycar	Sojourner and Antin, 1990	Ward, Stapleton and Parkes, 1994

	Nouse of Concussions	5 mrad. See. Results: Directly below driver's line of faster obstacle detection RT. HUD image. Optimum louver width 9 mm	<ul> <li>Fig. 2: RT vs. HUD distance for runway decision.</li> <li>No difference runway open vs. closed decision times.</li> <li>Large difference between eyetracker and no eyetneker trials. Attributed to practice effect via last block (eyetneker replication) lower than no eyetneker data.</li> <li>Increase in RT for nearer HUD distances.</li> <li>Fig. 3: RT vs. HUD distance for low/high huminance (all decisions)</li> <li>Luminance effect significant for runway decisions only.</li> <li>Luminance of display location (phaned comparison showed significant HUD distances.</li> <li>Ne finct-asses for nearer HUD distances.</li> <li>Ne finct-asses for nearer HUD distances.</li> <li>Ne finct-asses for nearer HUD distances.</li> <li>Subject of display location (phaned comparison showed significant HUD downlage of 86 ms between 0 diopter/head up and 1.33 diopter/head-down).</li> <li>Lack of display location effect via confounded with symbology contrast (2:1 head up vs. 12:1.10 deg down).</li> <li>Subjects complete. 74 of the tohal accommodative change when they respond.</li> </ul>
	Procedure	is started to occur at 17 mrads. Design goal: for azimuth and elevation of HUD virtual im ; 2) Obstacle detection: HUD about 90 maec f ign goal) this type of trap puts horizontal lines on the J	Blocks of trials (6 practice trials and 72 main trials per block): 1) Blocks 1 to 3: Eyetmeker + RT data 2) Block 14: Replicate eve tracker block at 4 diopters, straight ahead and low luminance. Trial procedure: 1) Simulated Boeing 727 instrument-landing approach to Montercy, CA airport: 1) Initial airspeed 130 knots, altitude 220 ft. against gray background (simulating approach to Montercy, CA airport: 1) Initial airspeed 130 knots, altitude 220 ft. against gray background (simulating (simulating). 2) Blink display so Ss know that a trial is starting (change in airspeed and altitude). 3) Display runway scene. 4) Check airspeed (within 5 knots of 130) and altitude (with 5 feet of 200) and respond fout of limits (airspeed and altitude). 3) Display runway scene. 4) Check airspeed (within 5 knots of 130) and altitude (with 5 feet of 200) and respond fout of limits (airspeed and altitude). 5) If out of bounds, next trial initiated (4 sec delay). Otherwise, runway appeared as either opten (diamod) or runway (runway decision RT). Respond with keypresa after accommodating to runway (runway decision RT).
Methods	Dependent Variables	l as on-the-road tests a of up to 25 milliradians acceptable. Diplopi chicle. Obtained driver subjective preferences a a virtual image distance of 2.4 meters. 1.2 inch lower steering variability than HDD. t requirements as 1.2 (minimum) to 1.5 (desi testgn of a louver-type glare trap. Problem:	Response times: 1) Decision times: time to decide if altitude or airspeed are out of limits and whether runway is open or closed. 2) Eye tracker: track eye movements and changes in accommodation.
	Independent Variables	te using a driver-in-the-loop simulation as well <u>eptable vertical binocular disparity</u> : Disparities <u>m</u> : variable geometry HUD installed in test ve scatters: 1) Steering variability: HUD about <u>ressures</u> : Previous research used to define contras <u>ness</u> : Previous research used to define contras <u>ign</u> : Contrast washout was prevented via the d	<ul> <li>HUD Parameters:</li> <li>1) Display symbology luminance: 87 cd/m<sup>2</sup> or 2.8 cd/m<sup>2</sup></li> <li>2) Display contrast ratio: Head-up = 2:1; Head-down (10 deg) = 12:1.</li> <li>3) Location: Straight ahead or 10 deg down.</li> <li>4) Display optical distance: 0, 1.33 or 4 diopters.</li> </ul>
	Subjects	All studies don <u>Maximum acce</u> Display location sight (0 degree <u>Performance m</u> <u>Display brightn</u> <u>Glare trap desi</u>	18 Male Sa were pilobs), 19 to 28 yrs
	Colectives	Human factors issues addressed in the development of an automotive HUD.	Assess the advantage of HUDs vs. HDDs in terms of virtual image distance and location.
Author(s),	Year	Weihrauch, Melocary and Goeach, 1989	Weintraub, Haince & Randle, 1984

Results & Conclusions		<ul> <li>Fig. 2: RTa va. HUD distance, decision type and systracker/no systracker trials.</li> <li>Small increases in RT for near HUD distances (all decision types except runway closed decision).</li> <li>Difference between systracker/no evetracker trials (all decision types except runway closed). Likely a practice effect.</li> <li>Fig. 3: RTa va. HUD distance, HUD location and decision type Nearer HUD distance, HUD location and decision type except runway closed decision.</li> <li>Nearer HUD distances produced longer RTs for all decisions except runway closed decision.</li> <li>HUD location had no systematic effect.</li> <li>Fig. 4: Accommodative change as a function of time.</li> <li>Sa decide long before accommodation stabilized. [NOTE: No mention of pupil size or estimates of apption of focus.]</li> <li>Some evidence to support the "cognitive clutter hypothesis": runway closed RTs increase as HUD optical distance.</li> <li>Unexpected event on last trial (felliner protruding onto runway) went unnoticed by all but two Sa.</li> </ul>
	Procedure	
Methods	Dependent Variables	diopters. In first THEN airspeed/altitude decision.
	Independent Variables	<ul> <li>HUD parameters:</li> <li>HUD parameters:</li> <li>Display optical distance: 0, 1.33, 2.67 &amp; 4 d</li> <li>Symbology: 2.6 cd/m<sup>3</sup></li> <li>Runway scene 1.0 cd/m<sup>2</sup></li> <li>Background for 10 deg down was black.</li> <li>Dependent Measures:</li> <li>Decision times and eyetracker data</li> <li>Experimental Protocol:</li> <li>Blocks of trials (6 practice and 54 main trials):</li> <li>First 4 blocks with eyetracker</li> <li>First 4 blocks with eyetracker</li> <li>Final block at 4 diopter with eyetracker.</li> <li>Final block at 4 diopter with eyetracker.</li> <li>Same as 1984 study except that runway decisio</li> </ul>
	Subjects	8 Mate Ss, F 19-27 yrs, 2 5 were pilots 2 4 1 1
	Objectives	Same as 1984 study by same authors
Author(s).	Ycar	Weintraub, Randle, 1985

•

.

۷

.

•

.

Author(s),				Methods		Reauths & Conclusions
Ycar	Colectives	Subjects	Independent Variables	Dependent Variables	Procedure	
Wickens, Martin- Emerson and Larish, 1993	Replicated all of the conditions of manipulations of Larish and Wickens (1991) study BUT using a higher difelity display system with a wider field of view and a amalter separation between and HDD.	10 instrument- rated subjects were assigned to either a HUD condition.	Display: Evana and Sutherland SPX500 gruphics display generator. Viewing distance 4 m. Images: simulated airport, runway and surrounding terrain. Instruments: IRIS graphics system used to generate. Projected to superimpose on the runway or 8.5 degrees of visual angle down from the runway. Shear warning and digital warning (expected instrument event) used on some triala. Unexpected event: airplane taxiing onto runway.	Vertical tracking error Lateral tracking error Airspeed error	<ul> <li>lat session: 14 practice trials and 14</li> <li>2nd session: 5 practice trials and 14</li> <li>experimental trials</li> <li>Trials: Alternate low/high turbulence.</li> <li>Anomalies occurred on trial 11. Runway incursion on trial 14.</li> <li>Trial sequence:</li> <li>Trial sequence:</li> <li>Trials begin at 2000 feet</li> <li>First break-out of clouds at 1260 feet</li> <li>Trials break-out of clouds at 1260 feet</li> <li>Determine if signal on left of runway was yellow or red and respond accordingly.</li> <li>4) Detect digital warning (0 or 1) appearing 3 times within a trial.</li> <li>Task: Monitor speed and maintain close to 90 knots.</li> </ul>	Only high workload conditions discussed. HUD advantage for lateral (F(1,18)=12.83; p < .002) and vertical tracking (F(1,18)=3.91, p=.06). HUD supported more rapid detection of the expected instrument events (F(1,14)=11.0; p < .001). No differences in response to environmental events. No effect of display location on responses to unexpected events. This did not events. No effect of display location on responses to unexpected events. This did not events. Since the Larish and Wickens study used a lower HDD (24.7 degrees down), the lack of replication may not be as surprising).

## Appendix B: Current and Proposed Automotive HUD Designs

A typical optical design of a HUD consists of the following main components: 1) a display screen on which symbology is presented (either stroke or raster displays), 2) a relay lens placed close to the display, 3) a folding mirror (folds the optical path 90 degrees or more), 4) a large diameter exit lens and 5) a combiner to both reflect HUD imagery into the observers eye and allow see-through capability of external scenes. The summary table in this appendix describes the design specifications for prototype automotive HUDs in those instances where detail is available. Unique features of some other HUDs are described in more detail below. It is important to note that the Japanese HUDs were typically designed for automobiles with right-sided steering wheel, and display locations should be evaluated with this in mind.

• <u>DataVision HUD (GM Hughes)</u>: This HUD is commercially available and is unique because it uses a CGA video format (input is either CGA or RS-170 video). This is ideal for experimental purposes since it allows flexibility in the design of the instrument display. The use of video sources, as opposed to fixed icons, is desirable for actual automotive applications as well.

One disadvantage of this system is the use of raster display technology. For the same CRT, it is possible to obtain higher contrasts with stroke compared to raster symbology (Weintraub and Ensing, 1992). In any event, DataVision can produce contrasts of 1.3:1 at 5000 ftL ambient illumination (i.e., display luminance of 1500 ftL, or  $3426 \text{ cd/m}^2$ ).

• <u>AutoVision HUD</u>: This is a *monocular* system that accepts standard video signals. As with the DataVision HUD, it uses a combiner mounted on the windshield and the projector is located on the car's roof. The virtual image distance is 15 feet. Because of the small size of the combiner, the HUD imagery can only be viewing with one eye at a time. This has the potential for introducing binocular rivalry since the eyes are receiving different images. In any event, this HUD is being marketed primarily for entertainment purposes.

• <u>Yazaki HUD</u>: Two versions of the Yazaki Corporation HUD are described in two separate studies. The 1988 Yazaki HUD uses a 10 W light source behind a LCD display which is then collimated with a lens (Iino, Otsuka and Suzuki, 1988). The windshield is used as a combiner which maximizes luminous transmittance. To correct for distortions due to the curvature of the windshield, a specially designed binocular parallax correcting prism in placed over the collimating lens. Symbol contrasts were not reported.

In the 1992 Yazaki HUD (Sugita and Suzuki, 1992), the biggest change is the use of a holographic optical element (HOE) that maximizes the brightness of the VFD used in the HUD. VFDs are susceptible to brightness loss as they are exposed to higher heat. Thus, the HOE was designed to reflect visible light (peak reflectance wavelength roughly matches the peak wavelength of the VFD emission spectrum) and transmit infrared light. The HOE also has some optical power (focal length of 300 mm) to reduce the optical path within the HUD which in turn saves space. One disadvantage of the HOE used is that it was produced using dichromated gelatin (DCG). Although DCG produces good optical quality holograms (i.e., minimal haze and ghosting), it is well-established that they are susceptible to moisture. Although the holograms are typically sealed around the edges, the seals can rapidly deteriorate with exposure to

environmental extremes thus exposing the hologram to moisture in the air. It might be preferable to use the relatively new dry-process photopolymers developed since they are much less susceptible to moisture.

7

• <u>Instrument Head Level Infinity Display (IHLID)</u>: This is essentially a head-up display that appears at the top of the instrument panel (Swift and Freeman, 1986). The virtual image does not overlap external scenes because the authors are not convinced that this would have any advantage for drivers. However, because the IHLID is located higher than conventional displays and because the virtual image distance is closer to external scenes, Swift and Freeman believe IHLID optimizes the potential benefit of HUDs for drivers without any negative effects of visual clutter, cognitive capture and contrast interference. Another advantage is the relatively large horizontal FOV due to the use of multiple HUDs placed side by side. IHLID was proposed as a possible optimized HUD design for further consideration by engineers.

• Reflective vs. Refractive Optics and the Design Eye Box: Refractive HUDs have been in use in military aircraft since the 1940s. One of the shortcomings of refractive HUDs is that obtaining the full field of view through the refractive HUD requires precise positioning of the observer's pupil. With reflective optics, the exit pupil of the system is formed close to the pilot's eye and the instantaneous field of view is larger (Enderby & Wood, 1992). This creates a more convenient viewing situation since the eye box is larger and the observer does not have to carefully position their head to obtain the full field of view. Although many of the HUDs use reflective optics, few of the reports provide an eye box specification. The GM Hughes HUD uses folded-reflective optical design and has an eye box of 150 x 65 mm. Thus, once the HUD is aligned for a particular observer, the HUD imagery will not be seen if the observer's pupil moves more than 75 mm left or 75 mm right and 32.5 mm up or 32.5 mm down. However, this is a monocular eye box because it is calculated for movement of one eye's pupil only. For an interpupillary distance of 70 mm, the horizontal eye box for binocular viewing is about 80 mm (i.e., 40 mm left and right). Although this does not seem overly restrictive for an actual driving scenario, it does suggest that binocular viewing may be difficult to maintain especially if the HUD is not optimally aligned.

• <u>Dedicated Space vs. Reconfigurable HUDs</u>: Of the automotive HUDs listed above, most are fixed display, dedicated space HUDs. The DataVision HUD is a reconfigurable HUD since it accepts either CGA or NTSC inputs. Delco Electronics is also developing a version of their EyeCue HUD that will be reconfigurable. There are a number of potential advantages of reconfigurable HUDs including: (1) <u>Flexibility of display elements</u>: a user can adjust various features to best meet their needs such as location, focus, activation (i.e., on/off), display format (text vs. symbols, font, letter height), physical location on the dashboard, etc.; (2) <u>Upgradability</u>: with the emergence of new technologies a reconfigurable HUD is less likely to become obsolete (i.e., upgrading might involve a software change rather than a hardware change); (3) <u>Transportability</u>: the extent to which the HUD can be used with different vehicles; and (4) <u>Multi-functionality</u>: with the ability to input a number of video sources (such as computer graphics or standard NTSC) the HUD can be used for many different tasks. These potential HUD advantages can best be realized with reconfigurable HUDs.

<b></b>	forizontal x /ertical .ocation	Focus Distance	Fickl-of-View	Brightness of Virtual Image	Maximum Source Brightness	Source/Display	Combiner Type and specifications.	Adjustments	Unique features and specifications	Display features and General Comments
.4 degs. up nd feet (2.4 8.1 degs. right to 3.7 n	8 to 12 feet (2.' to 3.7 n		4.9 dege high by 6.7 dege. wide	1500 fL. (5139 cd/m²)	Not stated. Estimated to be 4286 AL (14684 ed/m <sup>2</sup> ) based on reflectance of combiner.	<ol> <li>Roof-mounted projection unit</li> <li>Halogen Lamp and 234x382 pixel</li> <li>LCD matrix.</li> <li>CGA format 16 rows and 40</li> <li>columns</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Windshield- mounted semi- transparent plastic</li> <li>Transmits 60 % of forward scene</li> <li>Reflects 35 % of source</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Optical axis location</li> <li>Focus distance</li> <li>Manual brighmess control</li> </ol>	Input RS-170 video (NTSC) via electronica unit. Accepts serial data input up to 19.2K BPS	ASCII upper- and lower-case character set, special character, and icons and icons
) dega. horiz. x 2.4 2 to 5 dega. metera Jown adjuutable)	2.4 meters		3 x 1.5 degs.	500 AL (1713 cd/m <sup>3</sup> ) max. (adjuutable down to 1 AL with day/night ewitch and dimming potentiometer)	3000 AL (10278 cal/m <sup>3</sup> )	Vacuum Fluorescent Display (VFD). Fixed icons and letters.	Reflected off of standard production windshield. Distortions corrected internally. Reflectance: 25 %	<ol> <li>Two brightness ranges (day/night) selected via headlight switch.</li> <li>Manual control of VFD brightness.</li> <li>Vertical seljustment</li> </ol>	Glare reduction kouver. Distortion compensating prism. Eye box: 150 x 65 mm	Displays digital speed, turn signal arrows, check gauge indicator, fuel, high beam.
7 degrees down 1.1 and 11 degrees meters night (fixed)	1.1 meters		.9 degs. vertical by 1.9 degs. horizontal	2000 cd/m² down to 2.2 cd/m²	8000 cd/m²	VFD with fixed display elements	Windshield coated with a dielectric thin-film to increase reflectance (26%) of VFD light.	<ol> <li>Day/night mode via headlight</li> <li>Manual brightness</li> <li>Enhancement</li> <li>Enhancement</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Glare reduction via curved aperture cover.</li> <li>Nonspherical mirror used to focus.</li> </ol>	Digital speed only Optical path folded to minimize space requirements
8.4 dege left 2 m and 6.7 dega (optical down 800 mm)	2 m (optical path of 800 mm)		Character height: .9 deg Width: 1.4 degrees	3000 cd/m²	30000 cd/m²	Halogen lamp with a LCD matrix display. To reduce heat through LCD, concave dielectric mirror designed that reflects only visible radiation.	Windshield	<ol> <li>Day/night mode</li> <li>Manual dimming</li> <li>Automatic</li> <li>Automatic</li> <li>dimming system via an illumination</li> <li>an illumination</li> <li>ecusor on dashboard</li> <li>Motorized</li> <li>control of optical axis (+- 5 degs elevation).</li> </ol>	Use a holographic lens to perform focusaing (concave mirror), minimize glare from the sun and selectively reflect two colons green (speed) and amber (warning)	Digital speed and a master warning light (alerta driver to vehicle problems).
Tested 0 to 20 Infinity degs. left and 2 to 20 degs down.	Infinity		Not stated. However, dot dimensions are .15 mm x .31 mm	4000 cd/m²	40000 cd/m²	10 Watt incandescent lamp with 84 x 16 pixel LCD panel	Windshield used as combiner without any coatings.	Motorized control of optical axis	<ol> <li>Distortion correcting prism corrects binocular parallax</li> <li>Small size</li> </ol>	Because the display is a matrix of pixels, many types of information can be displayed
10 degs left and 2 m 5 degs. down	2 B		1 x 3 degs	1200 to 6 cd/m²	8000 al/m²	VFD with fixed display elements	Windshiekl used as combiner.	Brightness adjustment via changing duty cycle	Dichromated Gefatin hologram used to maximize brightness of VFD by reflecting only visible light (see text above).	Digital speed only

Summary table of Automotive HUD Specifications

ł